HSBC HOLDINGS PLC Form 6-K November 10, 2008

FORM 6-K

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Report of Foreign Private Issuer

Pursuant to Rule 13a - 16 or 15d - 16 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the month of November, 2008

HSBC Holdings plc

42nd Floor, 8 Canada Square, London E14 5HQ, England

(Indicate by check mark whether the registrant files or will file annual reports under cover of Form 20-F or Form 40-F).

Form 20-F X Form 40-F

(Indicate by check mark whether the registrant by furnishing the information contained in this Form is also thereby furnishing the information to the Commission pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934).

Yes..... No X

(If "Yes" is marked, indicate below the file number assigned to the registrant in connection with Rule 12g3-2(b): 82-...........).

CONFORMED

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)	
(X) QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SEC EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	CTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
For the quarterly period en OR	-
() TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SEC EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	CTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES AND
For the transition period fr	rom to
Commission f	ile number 1-7436
HSBC U	USA Inc.
(Exact name of registrant	as specified in its charter)
Maryland	13-2764867
(State of Incorporation)	(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
452 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York	10018
(Address of principal executive offices)	(Zip Code)
(716) 84	41-2424
(Registrant's telephone nu	imber, including area code)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has fill of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the pre registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has days.	eceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
Yes _ <u>X</u> No	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, flarge accelerated filer", "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting

company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer	Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer $\underline{\ \ }\underline{\ \ }$ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Yes No _X	n Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
At October 31, 2008, there were 708 shares of the registrant's Common Stoc HSBC North America Inc.	k outstanding, all of which are owned by

HSBC USA Inc. Form 10-Q

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

			<u>Page</u>
Item 1.	Financial Statements		
		Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income	3
		Consolidated Balance Sheet	4
		Consolidated Statement of Changes in	5
		Shareholders' Equity	
		Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	6
		Notes to Consolidated Financial	7
		Statements	
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Results of Operations	Analysis of Financial Condition and	
	-	Forward-Looking Statements	40
		Executive Overview	40
]	Basis of Reporting	44
]	Balance Sheet Review	47
	I	Results of Operations	50
		Segment Results - IFRSs Basis	62
		Credit Quality	73
		Fair Value	81
		Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements	89
		Risk Management	94
		Average Balances and Interest Rates	101
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative I	Disclosures About Market Risk	103
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures		103
D4 II - OTI	HED INFORMATION		
Part II OT	HER INFORMATION		
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings		104
Item 1A.	Risk Factors		105
Item 6.	Exhibits		105
Signature			106

HSBC USA Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF (LOSS) INCOME (UNAUDITED)

	Three months ended September 30,			nths ended nber 30,
	2008	2007	2008	2007
(in millions)				
Interest income:				
Loans	\$ 1,423	\$ 1,586	\$ 4,270	\$ 4,505
Securities	313	317	943	870
Trading assets	139	167	435	476
Short-term investments	100	241	323	719
Other	54	60	198	144
Total interest income	2,029	2,371	6,169	6,714
Interest expense:				
Deposits	575	993	1,956	2,841
Short-term borrowings	60	90	227	266
Long-term debt	225	365	766	1,087
Total interest expense	860	1,448	2,949	4,194
Net interest income	1,169	923	3,220	2,520
Provision for credit losses	658	402	1,762	871
Net interest income after provision for	511	521	1,458	1,649
credit losses				
Other revenues:				
Credit card fees	215	220	653	580
Other fees and commissions	189	203	529	542
Trust income	44	26	114	73
Trading (loss) revenue	(122)	28	(947)	477
Securities (loss) gain, net	(178)	59	(128)	96
HSBC affiliate income	33	46	119	136
Residential mortgage	13	6	64	69
banking revenue				
Gain on instruments at fair value and related derivatives	111	-	121	-
Other loss	(30)	(214)	(177)	(188)
Total other revenues	275	374	348	1,785
Operating expenses:	213	377	340	1,703
Salaries and employee	329	337	971	1,016
benefits	32)	331	7/1	1,010
Support services from	300	290	891	858
HSBC affiliates	300	270	071	0.50
Occupancy expense, net	72	63	201	181
Other expenses	273	201	665	557
Total operating expenses	974	891	2,728	2,612
(Loss) income before income tax	(188)	4	(922)	822
expense			, ,	
Income tax (benefit) expense	(52)	(17)	(334)	237

Net (loss) income \$ (136) \$ 21 \$ (588) \$ 585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

HSBC USA Inc. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)

	September 30,	December
	2008	31, 2007
(in millions)		
Assets		
Cash and due from banks	\$ 5,237	\$ 3,567
Interest bearing deposits with banks	3,893	4,741
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to	15,605	13,677
resell		
Trading assets	34,838	37,036
Securities available for sale	20,225	19,962
Securities held to maturity (fair value of \$2,827 million and \$2,945 million at	2,841	2,891
September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively)		
Loans (includes \$1,257 million recorded under fair value option at September 30, 2008)	91,660	95,826
Less - allowance for credit losses	2,059	1,414
Loans, net	89,601	94,412
Properties and equipment, net	568	568
Intangible assets	564	534
Goodwill	2,646	2,701
Other assets	10,565	8,284
Total assets	\$ 186,5 83	\$ 188,373
Liabilities		
Deposits in domestic offices:		
Noninterest bearing	\$17,301	\$ 13,831
Interest bearing (includes \$2,244 million recorded under fair value option	67,854	68,237
at September 30, 2008)		
Deposits in foreign offices:		4.020
Noninterest bearing	1,347	1,030
Interest bearing	35,284 121,786	33,072
Total deposits	121,786	116,170
Trading liabilities Short-term borrowings	16,347 8,784	16,253 11,832
Interest, taxes and other liabilities	6,400	4,613
Long-term debt (includes \$2,748 million recorded under fair value	21,458	28,268
option at	21,430	20,200
September 30, 2008) Total liabilities	174 775	177 126
Shareholders' equity	174,775	177,136
Preferred stock	1,565	1,565
Common shareholder's equity:	1,000	1,505
1 7	_	_

Common stock (\$5 par; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 708 and 706 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively) 9,594 Additional paid-in capital 8,123 Retained earnings 1,366 1,901 Accumulated other comprehensive loss **(717)** (352)Total common shareholder's equity 10,243 9,672 Total shareholders' equity 11,808 11,237 Total liabilities and shareholders' equity \$86,583 \$ 188,373

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

HSBC USA Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

	Nine month Septembe 2008	
(in millions)	2000	2007
Preferred stock		
Balance, January 1 and September 30,	\$ 1,565	\$ 1,690
Common stock		
Balance, January 1 and September 30,	-	-
Additional paid-in capital		
Balance, January 1,	8,123	8,124
Capital contribution from parent	1,460	-
Employee benefit plans and other	11	(1)
Balance, September 30,	9,594	8,123
Retained earnings		
Balance, January 1,	1,901	2,661
Adjustment to initially apply fair value	113	-
measurement and fair value option		
accounting, under FASB Statement Nos.		
157 and 159, net of tax		
Net (loss) income	(588)	585
Cash dividends declared on preferred stock	(60)	(75)
Cash dividends declared on common stock	-	(635)
Balance, September 30,	1,366	2,536
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		
Balance, January 1,	(352)	(214)
Net change in unrealized (losses) gains, net		
of tax on:		
Securities available for sale	(355)	(45)
Derivatives classified as cash flow	(14)	(90)
hedges		
Unrecognized actuarial gains, transition	6	10
obligation and prior service costs		
relating to pension and postretirement		
benefits, net of tax		
Foreign currency translation adjustments,	(2)	3
net of tax		
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax	(365)	(122)
Balance, September 30,	(717)	(336)
Total shareholders' equity, September 30,	\$ 11,808	\$ 12,013

Comprehensive (loss) income

Net (loss) income	\$ (588)	\$ 585
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax	(365)	(122)
Comprehensive (loss) income	\$ (953)	\$ 463

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

HSBC USA Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

	Nine months end 2008	ed September 30, 2007
(in millions)		
Cash flows from operating activities		
Net (loss) income	\$ (588)	\$ 585
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by		
(used in) operating activities:		
Depreciation, amortization and deferred taxes	(290)	69
Provision for credit losses	1,762	871
Other-than-temporarily impaired available for	204	-
sale securities		
Net change in other assets and liabilities	(508)	(4,529)
Net change in loans held for sale	1,736	(1,700)
Net change in loans attributable to tax refund	1,700	(1,700)
anticipation loans program:		
Originations of loans	(12,628)	(17,433)
Sales of loans to HSBC Finance	12,627	17,645
	12,027	17,043
Corporation, including premium		
Net change in trading assets and liabilities	2,991	(52)
Mark-to-market on financial instruments	(507)	(32)
designated at fair value and related derivatives	(307)	_
designated at fair value and related derivatives		
Net change in fair value of derivatives and hedged items	6	642
Net cash provided by (used in)	4,805	(3,902)
operating activities	1,000	(2,702)
Cash flows from investing activities		
Net change in interest bearing deposits with banks	848	(6,205)
Net change in federal funds sold and securities purchased under	(1,928)	2,705
resale agreements	. , ,	,
Net change in securities available for sale:		
Purchases of securities available for sale	(8,273)	(12,947)
Proceeds from sales of securities available for	2,828	3,736
sale		
Proceeds from maturities of securities available	4,415	7,332
for sale		
Net change in securities held to maturity:		
Purchases of securities held to maturity	(383)	(187)
Proceeds from maturities of securities held to	433	213
maturity		-
Net change in loans:		
Originations, net of collections	13,864	15,491
Loans purchased from HSBC Finance	(17,804)	(17,136)
Corporation	` , ,	(, -,
Loans sold to third parties	4,959	-

Net cash used for acquisitions of properties and equipment		(53)	(71)
Other, net		(7)	(123)
Net cash used in investing	(1,	101)	(7,192)
activities			
Cash flows from financing activities			
Net change in deposits	5	5,633	8,662
Net change in short-term borrowings	(3	,048)	4,331
Net change in long-term debt:			
Issuance of long-term debt	3	3,463	5,019
Repayment of long-term debt	(9	,493)	(6,981)
Capital contribution from parent	1	,460	-
Other increases (decreases) in capital surplus		11	(1)
Dividends paid		(60)	(710)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing	(2	,034)	10,320
activities			
Net change in cash and due from banks	1	,670	(774)
Cash and due from banks at beginning of period	3	3,567	3,359
Cash and due from banks at end of period	\$ 5	5,237	\$ 2,585
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information			
Interest paid during the period	3	3,157	4,220
Income taxes (refunded) paid during the period		(84)	196
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities			
Transfer of receivables to real estate owned		87	63
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated finance	ial statemen	ts.	

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

Note 1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

HSBC USA Inc. is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of HSBC North America Holdings Inc. (HNAH), which is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc (HSBC). The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of HSBC USA Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, HUSI), including its principal subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA, National Association (HBUS), have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, as well as in accordance with predominant practices within the banking industry. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods have been made. These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with HUSI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (the 2007 Form 10-K). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to the current period presentation. The accounting and reporting policies of HUSI are consistent, in all material respects, with those used to prepare the 2007 Form 10-K, except for the impact of new accounting pronouncements summarized in Note 18, "New Accounting Pronouncements" of the consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Interim results should not be considered indicative of results in future periods.

Note 2. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities are summarized in the following table.

		September 30, 2008		Dec	ember 31, 2007
(in millions)					
Trading assets:					
	U.S. Treasury	\$	127	\$	460
	U.S. Government agency		194		201
	U.S. Government sponsored enterprises		3,082		2,808
	(1)		ŕ		
	Asset backed securities		2,186		4,162
	Corporate and foreign bonds		4,330		2,483
	Other securities		3,212		3,423
	Precious metals		5,923		8,788
	Fair value of derivatives		15,784		14,711
	Total	\$	34,838	\$	37,036
Trading liabilities:		,	,	·	,
<i>&</i>	Securities sold, not yet purchased	\$	1,912	\$	1,444
	Payables for precious metals	,	1,593	т.	1,523
	Fair value of derivatives		12,842		13,286
	Total	\$	16,347	\$	16,253

(1) Includes mortgage backed securities of \$320 million and \$1,121 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA) and \$2,762 million and \$1,687 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC) at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

At September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets have been reduced by \$2.7 billion and \$3.6 billion, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master netting agreements with derivative counterparties, consistent with the reporting requirements of FASB Staff Position No. FIN 39-1, Amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39 (FSP FIN 39-1).

At September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the fair value of derivatives included in trading liabilities have been reduced by \$6.3 billion and \$5.6 billion, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting agreements with derivative counterparties, consistent with the reporting requirements of FSP FIN 39-1.

Note 3. Securities

At September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, HUSI held no securities of any single issuer (excluding the U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and U.S. Government sponsored enterprises) with a book value that exceeded 10% of shareholders' equity. The amortized cost and fair value of the securities available for sale and securities held to maturity portfolios are summarized in the following tables.

	Amortized Cost	Unreali	ross ized	Unre	Gross alized Losses		'air lue
September 30, 2008							
(in millions)							
Securities available for sale:							
U.S. Treasury	\$ 1	\$	-	\$	-	\$	1
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises (1)	11,576		68		(288)	11,3	356
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed	3,891		15		(47)	3,8	859
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions	696		1		(43)	•	654
Asset backed securities	3,603		-		(560)	3,0	043
Other domestic debt securities	144		-		(14)	1	130
Foreign debt securities	1,126		1		(5)	1,1	122
Equity securities (2)	61		-		(1)		60
Total	\$ 21,098	\$	85	\$	(958)	\$ 20,2	225
Securities held to maturity:							
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises (3)	\$ 1,882	\$	36	\$	(46)	\$ 1,8	872
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed	502		19		(3)	5	518
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions	223		7		(4)	2	226
Asset backed securities	183		-		(23)	1	160
Foreign debt securities	51		_			_	51
Total	\$ 2,841	\$	62	\$	(76)	\$ 2,8	827

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

		Amortized Cos		nreali	oss zed ins	Unre	Gross alized Losses	Fair Value
December 31,	2007							
(in millions)								
Securities avail	able for sale:							
	U.S. Treasury	\$	1	\$	-	\$	-	\$ 1
	U.S. Government sponsored	10,93	1		60		(251)	10,740
	enterprises (1)							
	U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed	3,193	3		13		(34)	3,172
	Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions	668	8		3		(3)	668
	Asset backed securities	4,069	9		13		(97)	3,985
	Other domestic debt securities	14.	3		4		-	147
	Foreign debt securities	1,030			1		(3)	1,034
	Equity securities (2)	233	5		-		(20)	215
	Total	\$ 20,270	6	\$	94	\$	(408)	\$ 19,962
Securities held	to maturity:							
	U.S. Government sponsored enterprises (3)	\$ 1,862	2	\$	42	\$	(22)	\$ 1,882
	U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed	528	8		24		(1)	551
	Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions	253	5		14		-	269
	Asset backed securities	170	6		1		(4)	173
	Foreign debt securities	70			_		-	70
	Total	\$ 2,89		\$	81	\$	(27)	\$ 2,945

(1) Includes securities of \$5.2 billion and \$4.3 billion (see table below) issued or guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA) and \$6.1 billion and \$6.4 billion (see table below) issued or guaranteed by Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC) at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. The amounts reported for U.S. Government sponsored enterprises in the Securities tables in the June 30, 2008 Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the "Second Quarter Form 10-Q") at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007 were correct. However, as a result of an error in sorting system codes, the amounts reported in the footnote to those tables for securities issued or guaranteed by FNMA and FHLMC at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, were incorrect. The impact of this error was not material. The corrected amounts are presented in the following table:

June 30	, 2008	December	r 31, 2007
As	Corrected	As	Corrected
Reported	Amount	Reported	Amount

(in billions)

Securities available for sale:

FNMA	\$ 2.3	\$ 6.4	\$ 2.1	\$ 4.3
FHLMC	2.1	6.2	2.0	6.4

- (2) Includes securities issued by FNMA of \$11 million and \$210 million at September 30, 2008 (balances at September 30, 2008 reflect other than temporary impairment of \$197 million) and December 31, 2007, respectively.
- (3) Includes securities of \$.7 billion issued or guaranteed by FNMA at both September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007 (see table below) and \$1.2 billion issued and guaranteed by FHLMC at both September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007 (see table below). The amounts reported for U.S. Government sponsored enterprises in the Securities tables in the Second Quarter Form 10-Q were correct. However, as a result of an error in sorting system codes, the amounts reported in the footnote to those tables for securities issued or guaranteed by FNMA and FHLMC at June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, were incorrect. The impact of this error was not material. The corrected amounts are presented in the following table:

	June 30, 2008				December 31, 2007				
	As		Corre	Corrected		As		Corrected	
	Repor	ted	Am	ount	Repo	rted	Am	ount	
(in billions)									
Securities held to maturity:									
FNMA	\$.6	\$.7	\$.6	\$.7	
FHLMC		1.2		1.2		1.1		1.2	

Gross unrealized losses and related fair values, classified as to the length of time the losses have existed, are summarized in the following tables.

	One	Ye	ar or I	Less		Greater Than One Year				
	Number		Gross	Agg	regate	Number	(Gross	Agg	regate
	o t Ui	nrea	alized	Fair	Value	ofU	nre	alized	Fair	Value
September 30, 2008	Securities	L	osses		of	Securities	I	osses		of
				Inves	stment				Inves	tment
(\$ in millions)										
Securities available for sale:										
U.S. Government	937	\$	(99)	\$	4,136	148	\$	(189)	\$	3,147
sponsored										
enterprises (1)										
U.S. Government	431		(19)		1,907	184		(28)		684
agency										
issued or guaranteed										
Obligations of U.S.	52		(15)		305	53		(28)		331
states and	32		(13)		303	33		(20)		331
political										
subdivisions										
Asset backed	60		(243)		1,510	105		(317)		1,504
securities	00		(243)		1,510	103		(317)		1,504
Other domestic debt	4		(14)		120	1		_		4
securities	•		(14)		120	1				•
Foreign debt	2		_		505	5		(5)		101
securities	2				202	J		(5)		101
Equity securities	2		(1)		_	_		_		_
Total	1,488	\$		\$	8,483	496	\$	(567)	\$	5,771
Securities held to maturity:	1,100	Ψ	(0)1)	Ψ	0,100	.,,	Ψ	(001)	Ψ	2,
U.S. Government	26	\$	(24)	\$	705	13	\$	(22)	\$	251
sponsored		,	()	•				()	•	
enterprises (1)										
U.S. Government	6		(3)		88	_		-		_
agency issued			(-)							
or guaranteed										
Obligations of U.S.	44		(4)		54	3		-		2
states and			. ,							
political										
subdivisions										
Asset backed	2		(6)		55	10		(17)		99
securities			, ,					•		
Total	78	\$	(37)	\$	902	26	\$	(39)	\$	352
		Yea	ar or I			Greate				
	Number				regate Number Gross Aggre				_	
	o t Un	rea	lized	Fair	Value	ofU	nre	alized	Fair	Value

December 31, 2007

Securities

Losses

Investment

Securities

Losses

Investment

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

(\$ in millions)

(\$ in millions)							
Securities available for sale:							
U.S. Government	48	\$	(57)	\$ 1,581	564	\$ (194)	\$ 5,628
sponsored							
enterprises (1)							
U.S. Government	9		-	13	440	(34)	1,607
agency							
issued or guaranteed							
Obligations of U.S.	43		(2)	256	13	(1)	106
states and			. ,			. ,	
political							
subdivisions							
Asset backed	63		(83)	1,607	63	(14)	841
securities				,		` /	
Other domestic debt	1		_	4	2	_	21
securities							
Foreign debt	5		(1)	71	6	(2)	158
securities							
Equity securities	-		-	-	1	(20)	190
Total	169	\$ (143)	\$ 3,532	1,089	\$ (265)	\$ 8,551
Securities held to maturity:							
U.S. Government	11	\$	(3)	\$ 87	20	\$ (19)	\$ 377
sponsored							
enterprises (1)							
U.S. Government	1		-	15	82	(1)	42
agency issued							
or guaranteed							
Obligations of U.S.	7		-	4	-	-	-
states and							
political							
subdivisions							
Asset backed	3		(1)	41	7	(3)	66
securities							
Total	22	\$	(4)	\$ 147	109	\$ (23)	\$ 485

⁽¹⁾ Included primarily mortgaged backed securities issued or guaranteed by FNMA and FHLMC.

Gross unrealized losses within the available for sale and held to maturity securities portfolios increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 due to the impact of continued widening of credit spreads on asset backed securities (ABS), particularly private label collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs). These are primarily fixed rate securities and a majority of these securities are highly-rated (i.e., AAA or AA). HUSI has the ability and intent to hold these securities until maturity or a market price recovery. As a result, other than the securities described below, they are not considered to be other-than-temporarily impaired.

During the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008, a single asset backed security and the preferred equity securities of FNMA were determined to be other-than-temporarily impaired pursuant to SFAS No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities". As a result, HUSI recorded an other-than-temporary impairment charge of \$180 million during the three months ended September 30, 2008 and \$204 million during the year to date period on these investments, which is recorded as a component of securities (loss) gain in the accompanying consolidated statement of (loss) income.

Note 4. Loans

A distribution of the loan portfolio, including loans held for sale, is summarized in the following table.

	Sept	tember 30, 20	008	December 31, 2007						
	Held	All Other Loans	Total Loans	Loans Held	All Other Loans	Total Loans				
	for Sale			for Sale						
(in millions)										
Commercial loans:										
Construction and other real estate	\$ 6	\$ 8,724	\$ 8,730	\$ 26	\$ 8,428	\$ 8,454				
Other commercial	1,257	32,286	33,543	1,939	28,407	30,346				
	1,263	41,010	42,273	1,965	36,835	38,800				
Consumer loans:										
Sub-prime residential mortgages	1,401	-	1,401	1,869	-	1,869				
Other residential mortgages	664	26,878	27,542	1,018	32,493	33,511				
Credit card receivables	-	18,311	18,311	-	19,243	19,243				
Other consumer	46	2,087	2,133	418	1,985	2,403				
	2,111	47,276	49,387	3,305	53,721	57,026				
Total loans	\$ 3,374	\$ 88,286	\$ 91,660	\$ 5,270	\$ 90,556	\$ 95,826				

Loans pledged as collateral are summarized in Note 14, "Financial Guarantee Arrangements and Pledged Assets" of the consolidated financial statements.

In September 2008, HUSI sold approximately \$1 billion of prime adjustable and fixed rate residential mortgage loans which resulted in a \$4.5 million loss. In May 2008, HUSI sold approximately \$4 billion of prime adjustable rate residential mortgage loans which resulted in a \$13.5 million gain on sale. The gains and losses from the sale of residential mortgage loans is reflected as a component of residential mortgage banking revenue in the accompanying

consolidated statement of (loss) income. HUSI retained the servicing rights in relation to the mortgages upon sale.

Loans Held for Sale

HUSI originates commercial loans in connection with its participation in a number of leveraged acquisition finance syndicates. A substantial majority of these loans were originated with the intent of selling them to unaffiliated third parties and are classified as other commercial loans held for sale at September 30, 2008. Commercial loans held for sale under this program were approximately \$1.3 billion at September 30, 2008, all of which are recorded at fair value. Refer to Note 15, "Fair Value Measurements" of the consolidated financial statements for additional information. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2008, the market value of these loans decreased due to adverse conditions in the corporate credit markets.

Residential mortgage loans held for sale include sub-prime residential mortgage loans acquired from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance Corporation, with the intent of securitizing or selling the loans to third parties. Also included in residential mortgage loans held for sale are first mortgage loans originated and held for sale primarily to various governmental agencies.

Other consumer loans held for sale consist of student loans.

Residential mortgage and other consumer loans held for sale are recorded at the lower of cost or market value. The cost of loans held for sale exceeded market value at September 30, 2008, resulting in an increase to the related valuation allowance. This was primarily a result of adverse conditions in the U.S. residential mortgage markets. The valuation allowance related to loans held for sale is presented in the following table.

	 Three months ended September 30				Nine months ended September 30			
	2008		2007		2008		2007	
(in millions)								
Balance at beginning of period	\$ (610)	\$	(58)	\$	(475)	\$	(29)	
Increase in allowance for net	(86)		(218)		(342)		(299)	
reductions in market value								
Releases of valuation allowance for	8		5		129		57	
loans sold								
Balance at end of period	\$ (688)	\$	(271)	\$	(688)	\$	(271)	

Loans held for sale are subject to credit risk and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market conditions as well as in the interest rate and credit environment. Interest rate risk for the residential mortgage loans held for sale is partially mitigated through an economic hedging program to offset changes in the fair value of the loans held for sale. Trading related revenues associated with this economic hedging program, which are included in net interest income and trading revenues, were \$4 million and \$34 million for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, respectively. For the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2007 there were \$46 million of trading related losses and \$21 million of trading related revenues, respectively, associated with this economic hedging program, which are included in net interest income and trading revenues.

Note 5. Allowance for Credit Losses and Credit Quality Statistics

Changes in the allowance for credit losses are summarized in the following table.

	Th	Three months ended September 30			Nine months ended September 30			
		2008		2007		2008		2007
(in millions)								
Balance at beginning of period	\$	1,796	\$	902	\$	1,414	\$	897
Provision charged to income		658		402		1,762		871
Charge offs		(479)		(305)		(1,324)		(903)
Recoveries		63		59		207		193
Transferred reserve		21		-		-		-
Balance at end of period	\$	2,059	\$	1,058	\$	2,059	\$	1,058

Credit Quality Statistics

Nonaccruing loans are summarized in the following table.

		Septem	Decemb	per 31, 2007	
(in millions)					
Nonaccruing loans					
Commercial:					
	Construction and other real estate	\$	87	\$	34
	Other commercial		139		89
	Total commercial		226		123
Consumer:					
	Residential mortgages		920		640
	Credit card receivables		1		1
	Total consumer loans		921		641
Total nonacc	ruing loans	\$	1,147	\$	764

Interest income on nonaccruing loans is summarized in the following table.

Nine months ended September 30 (in millions)		2008	2007		
Interest income on nonaccruing loans: Amount which would have been recorded had the associated loans been current in accordance with their original terms	\$	57	\$	29	
Amount actually recorded		3		6	

Additional credit quality statistics are summarized in the following table.

Sep	temb	er 31,		
		2008		2007
(in millions)				
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more as to principal or interest:				
Total commercial	\$	33	\$	8
Consumer:				
Residential mortgages		-		-
Credit card receivables		480		432
Other consumer loans		16		16
Total consumer loans		496		448
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more	\$	529	\$	456

Impaired commercial loans:

Balance at end of period Amount with impairment reserve	\$ 226 145	\$ 123 41
Impairment reserve	44	15
Other real estate owned:		
Balance at end of period	\$ 87	\$ 71

Further analysis of credit quality and credit loss reserves are presented in Item 2, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A)" of this Form 10-Q under the caption "Credit Quality."

Note 6. Intangible Assets

The composition of intangible assets is summarized in the following table.

	Septer	nber 30, 2008	Decem	ber 31, 2007
(in millions)				
Mortgage servicing rights	\$	529	\$	494
Other		35		40
Intangible assets	\$	564	\$	534

Mortgage Servicing Rights (MSRs)

A servicing asset is a contract under which estimated future revenues from contractually specified cash flows, such as servicing fees and other ancillary revenues, are expected to exceed the obligation to service the financial assets. HUSI recognizes the right to service mortgage loans as a separate and distinct asset at the time they are acquired or when originated loans are sold.

MSRs are subject to credit, prepayment and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in these economic variables. Interest rate risk is mitigated through an economic hedging program that uses securities and derivatives to offset changes in the fair value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involves trading activity, risk is quantified and managed using a number of risk assessment techniques, which are addressed in more detail in HUSI's 2007 Form 10-K.

Residential Mortgage Servicing Rights

Residential MSRs are initially measured at fair value at the time that the related loans are sold and are remeasured at fair value at each reporting date (the fair value measurement method). Changes in fair value of the asset are reflected in residential mortgage banking revenue in the period in which the changes occur. Fair value is determined based upon the application of valuation models and other inputs. The valuation models incorporate assumptions market participants would use in estimating future cash flows. The reasonableness of these valuation models is periodically validated by reference to external independent broker valuations and industry surveys.

Fair value of residential MSRs is calculated using the following critical assumptions.

	September 30,	December 31,
	2008	2007
Annualized constant prepayment rate (CPR)	23.40 %	21.40 %
Constant discount rate	16.38 %	10.44 %
Weighted average life	5.1 years	4.9 years

Residential MSRs activity is summarized in the following table.

	ree montl Septemb			ne mont Septem		
	2008	2007		2008		2007
(in millions)						
Fair value of MSRs:						
Beginning balance	\$ 546	\$ 548	\$	489	\$	470
Additions related to loan sales	31	28	113		89	
Changes in fair value due to:						
Change in valuation	(39)	(28)		(14)		35
inputs or assumptions						
used in the valuation						
models						
Realization of cash flows	(16)	(14)		(66)		(60)
Ending balance	\$ 522	\$ 534	\$	522	\$	534

Servicing fees collected by HUSI are included in residential mortgage banking revenue and were \$34 million and \$29 million for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and \$96 million and \$85 million for the first nine months of 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Commercial Mortgage Servicing Rights

Commercial MSRs, which are accounted for using the lower of cost or market method, totaled \$7 million and \$3 million for the first nine months of 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Other

Other intangible assets are comprised of favorable lease arrangements of \$25 million and \$28 million at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively, and customer lists in the amount of \$10 million and \$12 million at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

Note 7. Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level in accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets". Goodwill may be tested more frequently if certain conditions are met. During the third quarter of 2008, HUSI completed its annual impairment test of goodwill. At the testing date, HUSI determined that the fair value of each of its reporting units exceeded its carrying value. As a result, no impairment loss was required to be recognized.

As a result of difficult business conditions and the volatility currently prevailing in the market which impacts future cash flows, HUSI performed an interim goodwill impairment test for the Global Banking and Markets business segment and the Residential Mortgage reporting unit within the Personal Financial Services (PFS) business segment as of September 30, 2008. The results of this test showed that the carrying value of the Residential Mortgage reporting unit exceeded its fair value and therefore the goodwill allocated to this reporting unit was considered to be impaired. As a result, HUSI recorded a goodwill impairment charge of approximately \$54 million in the consolidated statement of (loss) income in the third quarter of 2008 representing all of the goodwill allocated to this reporting unit. The fair value of the Global Banking and Markets business segment exceeded the carrying value as of September 30, 2008 and, therefore, no impairment was recorded for this business segment.

Note 8. Income Taxes

The following table presents HUSI's effective tax rates.

	Three months ended September 30		Nine moi	nths ended
			September 30	
	2008	2007	2008	2007
Statutory federal income tax rate	(35.0)%	35.0 %	(35.0)%	35.0 %
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:				
State and local taxes, net of	1.4	66.1	1.4	2.0
federal benefit				
Tax exempt income	(2.0)	(129.6)	(1.2)	(1.9)
Validation of deferred tax	-	-	(.4)	(3.4)
balances				
Tax credits	(5.8)	(256.5)	(4.0)	(3.7)
Effects of foreign operations	4.8	(71.8)	2.3	(.2)
Uncertain tax provision	(.2)	(49.6)	(.4)	1.0

Goodwill impairment charge	10.1	-	2.1	-
Other	(1.0)	(18.6)	(1.0)	-
Effective tax rate	(27.7)%	(425.0)%	(36.2)%	28.8 %

The change in the effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 compared to the same prior year periods is a result of non-deductible goodwill impairment charges and tax benefit adjustments such as tax credits, tax exempt income and deferred tax adjustments applied to pretax loss in 2008 as compared to similar tax benefits, with no goodwill impairment, applied to pretax income in 2007. The effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2007 was significantly impacted by a relatively constant level of tax exempt income and tax credits in relation to lower pre-tax income.

HUSI is currently under audit by the Internal Revenue Service as well as various state and local tax jurisdictions. Although one or more of these audits may be concluded within the next 12 months, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the impact of the results from the audits on HUSI's uncertain tax positions at this time.

Note 9. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt is summarized in the following table.

	September 30, 2008	December 31, 2007
(in millions)		
Senior debt	\$ 12,637	\$ 18,233
Subordinated debt	6,082	5,693
Structured notes	1,853	3,284
All other	886	1,058
Total long-term debt	\$ 21,458	\$ 28,268

The decline in Senior debt from December 31, 2007 is principally the result of the maturity of \$3 billion of Floating Rate FHLB advances, \$1,575 million of Floating Rate Non USD Senior Global Bank Notes, \$1,440 million of Floating Rate Extendible Notes, the early maturity of \$1,360 million of other senior notes, the repayment of \$700 million in private label credit card secured financings and a \$30 million partial redemption of the \$1,950 million 3.875% Fixed Rate Senior Notes due September 15, 2009.

Partially offsetting the decline in Senior debt was the issuance of the following senior notes:

HUSI issued \$1,500 million of Floating Rate Extendible Notes in April 2008. These notes require the holders to decide quarterly whether to extend the maturity date of their notes by three months beyond the initial maturity date of May 15, 2009. The final maturity date cannot go beyond April 15, 2013. On the October 14, 2008 election date, all of the noteholders elected not to extend the maturity date of their notes past October 15, 2009. Interest on these notes is paid quarterly commencing July 14, 2008 and is based on three-month LIBOR, plus the applicable spread for each interest period. The spread for each period ranges from forty basis points for the interest period ending April 14, 2009 to forty eight basis points for the interest period ending April 15, 2013.

In June 2008, HUSI announced the launch of \$250 million of ELEMENTS(SM) exchange-traded notes due June 16, 2023. These securities are senior unsecured obligations of HUSI, whose return is linked to the performance of the S&P Commodity Trends Indicator – Total Return (the "Index"). At September 30, 2008, approximately \$13 million of these securities were outstanding. The Index is a diversified composite of sixteen physical commodity futures, grouped into six sectors. The securities are not principal protected and, consequently, the return of principal at maturity is not guaranteed. The securities do not pay any interest during their term. Instead, investors will receive a

cash payment on the June 16, 2023 maturity date, or upon repurchase by HUSI, that is based on the performance of the Index, less an investor fee.

In August 2008 HUSI issued \$700 million of Floating Rate Notes due August 14, 2009. Interest on these notes will be paid quarterly in February, May, August and November, commencing November 14, 2008 at a floating rate equal to three-month LIBOR plus 0.40%. The notes are not subject to redemption by HUSI prior to maturity.

Also in August 2008 HUSI issued \$250 million of Floating Rate Notes due August 13, 2010. Interest on these notes will be paid quarterly in February, May, August and November of each year, commencing November 13, 2008 at a floating rate equal to three-month LIBOR plus 1.00%. The notes are not subject to redemption by HUSI prior to maturity.

The increase in Subordinated debt from December 31, 2007 reflects the June issuance by HBUS of \$700 million 7% Subordinated Bank Notes due January 15, 2039. These non-callable notes were issued under the \$40 billion Global Bank Note Program. Interest will be paid semi-annually each January 15 and July 15, commencing January 15, 2009.

The decline in structured notes from December 31, 2007 reflects the maturity of approximately \$1 billion of medium term notes.

Subordinated debt includes \$1,420 million and \$1,683 million of debt instruments recorded at fair value at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. Structured notes include \$1,328 million and \$1,760 million of debt instruments recorded at fair value at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. Refer to Note 16, "Fair Value Option" of the consolidated financial statements for further details.

Note 10. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, HUSI conducts transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries (HSBC affiliates). These transactions occur at prevailing market rates and terms. All extensions of credit by HBUS to HSBC affiliates (other than FDIC-insured banks) are legally required to be secured by eligible collateral. Related party balances and the income and expense generated by related party transactions are summarized in the following tables.

	Septen	nber 30, 2008	Decen	nber 31, 2007
(in millions)				
Assets:				
Cash and due from banks	\$	84	\$	97
Interest bearing deposits with banks		186		134
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements		411		356
Trading assets (1)		16,707		11,640
Loans		3,787		2,007
Other		1,987		398
Total assets	\$	23,162	\$	14,632
Liabilities:				
Deposits	\$	11,711	\$	13,050
Trading liabilities (1)		20,151		14,552
Short-term borrowings		522		982
Other		480		876
Total liabilities	\$	32,864	\$	29,460

(1) Trading assets and liabilities exclude the impact of netting in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 39 and FSP FIN 39-1.

	Three months ended September 30			Nine months ended September 30				
	2008 2007		2008			2007		
(in millions)								
Interest income	\$	51	\$	44	\$	159	\$	109
Interest expense		43		108		169		317
Net interest income	\$	8	\$	(64)	\$	(10)	\$	(208)
HSBC affiliate income:								
Fees and commissions:								
HSBC	\$	16	\$	19	\$	60	\$	49
HSBC Finance		5		6		18		17
Corporation								
HSBC Markets (USA) Inc.		4		2		9		8
(HMUS)								
Other HSBC affiliates		3		2		5		6
Gains on sales of refund anticipation	ipation -		-	13 2		23		
loans to								
HSBC Finance Corporation								
Other HSBC affiliates income		5		17		14		33

Total affiliate income	\$	33	\$	46	\$	119	\$	136
Support services expense from HSBC affiliates: HSBC Finance Corporation	\$	116	\$	115	\$	353	\$	347
HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. (HMUS)	φ	54	Ψ	61	φ	166	ψ	192
TISBC Markets (USA) IIIC. (TIMUS)		34		01		100		192
HSBC Technology & Services (USA)		61		63		187		185
Inc.								
(HTSU) for technology services								
Other HSBC affiliates		69		51		185		134
Total support services from HSBC affiliates	\$	300	\$	290	\$	891	\$	858

Transactions Conducted with HSBC Finance Corporation

- Support services from HSBC affiliates includes charges by HSBC Finance Corporation under various service level agreements for loan origination and servicing as well as other operational and administrative support.
- In the second quarter of 2008, HSBC Finance Corporation launched a new program with HBUS to sell loans originated in accordance with the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation's ("Freddie Mac") underwriting criteria to HBUS who then sells them to Freddie Mac under its existing Freddie Mac program. During the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008, \$68 million and \$82 million of real estate secured loans were purchased by HBUS under this program, with a total premium of \$2 million and \$2 million, respectively.
- HUSI purchases receivables generated by private label credit card relationships daily at fair market value, as determined by an independent third party. HUSI purchased \$4,701 million and \$5,000 million for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and \$14,239 million and \$15,090 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, of private label credit card receivables. Premiums paid are amortized to interest income over the estimated life of the receivables purchased. HSBC Finance Corporation continues to service the customer receivables and charge HUSI a servicing fee. Fees paid relating to the servicing of private label credit card receivables for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 totaled \$91 million and \$94 million, respectively and for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 totaled \$278 million and \$284 million, respectively. HSBC Finance Corporation was servicing \$16,320 million and \$16,339 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, of private label credit card receivables.

HUSI purchases receivables generated by MasterCard¹

Nisa 2 credit card relationships daily at fair market value, as determined by an independent third party. HUSI purchased \$1,996 million and \$1,115 million for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and \$3,565 million and \$2,848 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, of MasterCard/Visa receivables. Premiums paid are amortized to interest income over the estimated life of the receivables purchased. HSBC Finance Corporation continues to service the customer receivables and charge HUSI a servicing fee. Fees paid relating to the servicing of MasterCard/Visa receivables for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 totaled \$12 million and \$7 million, respectively and for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 totaled \$35 million and \$16 million, respectively. HSBC Finance Corporation was servicing \$1,991 million and \$1,539 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively of MasterCard/Visa receivables.

- + HSBC Finance Corporation services a portfolio of private label consumer loans and charges HUSI a service fee. Fees paid relating to the servicing of private label consumer loan receivables for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 totaled \$4 million and \$4 million, respectively, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 totaled \$11 million and \$11 million, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, HSBC Finance Corporation was servicing \$993 million and \$1,241 million of private label consumer loan receivables, respectively.
- HUSI services a portfolio of residential mortgage loans owned by HSBC Finance Corporation and receives a servicing fee. Servicing fee income received by HUSI during the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 was \$3 million. Servicing fee income received by HUSI during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 was \$10 million and \$8 million, respectively.
- In 2005, HUSI purchased a portfolio of higher quality nonconforming residential mortgage loans (the HMS portfolio) from HSBC Finance Corporation with the intent of holding these loans. HSBC Finance Corporation continues to service these loans, and charges HUSI a servicing fee. Servicing fees paid by HUSI during the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 were \$1.5 million and \$2.0 million, respectively. Servicing fees paid by HUSI during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 were \$4.9 million and \$6.6 million, respectively.

- HUSI's wholly-owned subsidiaries HBUS and HSBC Trust Company (Delaware), N.A. (HTCD) are the originating lenders for a federal income tax refund anticipation loan program for clients of various third party tax preparers, which are managed by HSBC Finance Corporation. By agreement, HBUS and HTCD process applications, fund and subsequently sell these loans to HSBC Finance Corporation. For the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, HBUS and HTCD originated loans of approximately \$13 billion and \$17 billion, respectively, that were sold to HSBC Finance Corporation. This resulted in gains of \$13 million and \$23 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
- · In 2007, HUSI acquired residential mortgage loans at fair value from HSBC Finance Corporation for the purpose of selling these loans. During the nine months ended September 30, 2007, HUSI acquired \$645 million of loans from HSBC Finance Corporation for a net discount of \$12 million.
- Certain of HUSI's consolidated subsidiaries have secured lines of credit totaling \$1 billion with HSBC Finance Corporation. There were no balances outstanding under any of these lines of credit at September 30, 2008 or December 31, 2007.

Transactions Conducted with HMUS and Subsidiaries

HUSI utilizes HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. (HSI) for broker dealer, debt and preferred stock underwriting, customer referrals, loan syndication and other treasury and traded markets related services, pursuant to service level agreements. Fees charged by HSI for broker dealer, loan syndication services, treasury and traded markets related services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates. Debt underwriting fees charged by HSI are deferred as a reduction of long-term debt and amortized to interest expense over the life of the related debt. Preferred stock issuance costs charged by HSI are recorded as a reduction of capital surplus. Customer referral fees paid to HSI are netted against customer fee income, which is included in other fees and commissions.

HUSI has extended subordinated loans to HSI in the amount of \$1.6 billion, of which \$1.2 billion and \$350 million was outstanding at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. HUSI has also extended affiliate lending to HSBC Capital (USA) Inc. in the amount of \$270 million, of which \$181 million was outstanding at September 30, 2008.

By agreement, HUSI and HBUS have uncommitted lines of credit to HMUS and HSI, the aggregate amount outstanding under which cannot exceed \$1 billion. At September 30, 2008, an aggregate amount of \$198 million was outstanding under these facilities.

Other Transactions with HSBC Affiliates

HUSI had an unused line of credit with HSBC Bank plc, a U.K. based subsidiary (HBEU), of \$2.5 billion at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

HUSI has extended loans and lines of credit to various other HSBC affiliates totaling \$1.7 billion, of which \$701 million and \$225 million was outstanding at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

In 2007, HUSI also provided support to several HSBC affiliate sponsored asset backed commercial paper (ABCP) conduits by purchasing up to \$1.16 billion of A-1/P-1 rated commercial paper issued by them. During the third quarter of 2008, HUSI has continued to provide support to these conduits by purchasing ABCP. As of September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, approximately \$1.7 billion and \$306 million, respectively of ABCP was held by HUSI.

HUSI utilizes other HSBC affiliates primarily for treasury and traded markets services and, to a lesser extent, for global resourcing initiatives. Fees billed to HUSI for these services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates and totaled \$63 million and \$69 million for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and \$192 million and \$212 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

HUSI routinely enters into derivative transactions with HSBC Finance Corporation and other HSBC affiliates as part of a global HSBC strategy to offset interest rate or other market risks associated with debt issues and derivative contracts with unaffiliated third parties. The notional value of derivative receivables related to these contracts was approximately \$1,022 billion and \$996 billion at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. The net credit exposure (defined as the recorded fair value of derivative receivables) related to the contracts was approximately \$17 billion and \$12 billion at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. HUSI, within its Global Banking and Markets business, accounts for these transactions on a mark to market basis, with the change in value of contracts with HSBC affiliates substantially offset by the change in value of related contracts entered into with unaffiliated third parties.

Employees of HUSI participate in a defined benefit pension plan sponsored by HNAH. Additional information regarding pensions is provided in Note 11, "Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits of HUSI and HSBC Finance Corporation" of the consolidated financial statements.

Employees of HUSI participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. HUSI's share of the expense of these plans on a pre-tax basis during the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 was approximately \$16 million and \$20 million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, HUSI's share of the expense of these plans on a pre-tax basis was approximately \$54 million and \$50 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2008, HUSI's share of compensation cost related to nonvested stock compensation plans was approximately \$87 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.5 years. A description of these stock compensation plans begins on page 142 of the 2007 Form 10-K.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2008, there were no common stock dividends declared and paid by HUSI in comparison to \$635 million at the end of the same 2007 period.

Note 11. Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits

The components of net periodic benefit cost reflected in HUSI's Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income are shown in the table below and reflect the portion of net periodic benefit cost of the HNAH defined benefit pension and postretirement benefits other than pension plans which has been allocated to HUSI.

		Pension Benefits		Othe Postretire Benef		iremer	nt		
		2	2008	2	2007	20	800	20	007
(in millions)									
Three mont	ths ended September 30								
Net periodic	benefit cost:								
	Service cost – benefits earned	\$	7	\$	7	\$	-	\$	-
	during the period								
	Interest cost		20		18		1		1
	Expected return on plan assets		(22)		(23)		-		-
	Recognized losses		-		2		-		_
	Transition amount amortization		-		-		1		1
	Net periodic benefit cost	\$	5	\$	4	\$	2	\$	2
Nine month	s ended September 30								
Net periodic	benefit cost:								
-	Service cost – benefits earned	\$	23	\$	23	\$	1	\$	1
	during the period								
	Interest cost		58		53		4		4
	Expected return on plan assets		(67)		(68)		-		-
	Recognized losses		1		5		-		_
	Transition amount amortization		-		-		2		2
	Net periodic benefit cost	\$	15	\$	13	\$	7	\$	7

Note 12. Regulatory Capital

Capital amounts and ratios of HUSI and HBUS, calculated in accordance with banking regulations, are summarized in the following table.

		_	ember 30, 2008 Capitalized(1) Actual			De Capi lal el	Actual											
	I	Amount	Minimum Ratio	Ratio	Amount		Amount		Amount		Amount		Amount		Amount		Minimum Ratio	Ratio
(\$ in millions)																		
Total capital																		
ratio:																		
HUSI	\$	16,723	10.0%	11.89%	\$	15,276	10.00%	11.29%										
HBUS		16,945	10.0	12.25		15,330	10.00	11.40										
Tier 1 capital																		
ratio:																		
HUSI		10,269	6.0	7.30		9,639	6.00	7.12										
HBUS		10,453	6.0	7.55		9,696	6.00	7.21										
Tier 1 leverage																		
ratio:																		
HUSI		10,269	3.0(2)	5.89		9,639	3.00(2)	5.34										
HBUS		10,453	5.0	6.13		9,696	5.00	5.46										
Risk weighted assets:																		
HUSI		140,649				135,339												
HBUS		138,361				134,501												

⁽¹⁾ HUSI and HBUS are categorized as "well-capitalized", as defined by their principal regulators. To be categorized as well-capitalized under regulatory guidelines, a banking institution must have the minimum ratios reflected in the above table, and must not be subject to a directive, order, or written agreement to meet and maintain specific capital levels.

(2) There is no Tier 1 leverage ratio component in the definition of a well-capitalized bank holding company. The ratio shown is the minimum required ratio.

During the first nine months of 2008, HSBC effected capital contributions to HUSI totaling \$1,460 m illion. In the first quarter of 2008, HSBC North America Inc. (HNAI) contributed \$1 billion to HUSI in exchange for one share of HUSI common stock. In the second quarter of 2008, HNAI contributed \$460 million to HUSI in exchange for one share of HUSI was contributed subsequently to HBUS in exchange for one share of HBUS common stock.

On May 1, 2008, an implementation plan related to the final rule regarding Risk-Based Capital Standards, which represents the U.S. adoption of the Basel II Capital Accord, was approved by the HNAH Board of Directors. On September 11, 2008, the HBUS Board of Directors also approved the implementation plan.

Note 13. Variable Interest Entities (VIEs)

In the ordinary course of business, HUSI is involved with entities that are deemed to be VIEs and may hold variable interests in those entities. HUSI consolidates VIEs where it is deemed to be the primary beneficiary.

At September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, HUSI held all or the majority of the debt securities issued by several VIE trusts that were organized by an affiliate of HUSI and third parties to issue structured notes. The consolidated assets of these VIEs were \$181 million and \$213 million at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively and are reported in trading assets. Debt instruments issued by these VIEs and held by third parties were not material to HUSI.

HUSI was also the primary beneficiary of and consolidated certain VIE trusts organized to securitize private label credit cards. At September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the consolidated assets of these trusts were \$1,951 million and \$2,822 million, respectively and were reported in loans. Debt securities issued

by these VIEs are reported as secured financings in long-term debt.

The assets of consolidated VIEs serve as collateral for the obligations of the VIEs. The holders of debt instruments issued by consolidated VIEs have no recourse to the general credit of HUSI.

HUSI also had significant involvement with other VIEs that were not consolidated at September 30, 2008 or December 31, 2007 because HUSI was not the primary beneficiary. The following table presents information on these VIEs.

	September	r 30, 2008	December	December 31, 2007					
	Total Assets	Maximum Exposure to Loss	Total Assets	Maximum Exposure to Loss					
(in millions)									
Asset backed commercial paper conduits	\$ 30,627	\$ 7,983	\$ 32,886	\$ 9,507					
Structured investment vehicles	5,109	50	6,337	50					
Structured note vehicles	7,512	1,407	8,350	1,488					
Low income housing tax partnerships	277	58	705	115					
Total	\$ 43,525	\$ 9,498	\$ 48,278	\$ 11,160					

HUSI is involved with VIEs primarily to facilitate client needs. Information on the types of VIEs with which HUSI is involved and the nature of its involvement and variable interests in those entities is presented below.

Asset Backed Commercial Paper Conduits

HUSI provides liquidity facilities to a number of multi-seller and single-seller asset backed commercial paper conduits (ABCP conduits) sponsored by HSBC affiliates and by third parties. These conduits support the financing needs of customers by facilitating their access to commercial paper markets.

Customers sell financial assets, typically consumer and corporate receivables, to the ABCP conduits, which fund the purchases by issuing short-term highly-rated commercial paper collateralized by the assets acquired. In a multi-seller conduit, any number of companies may be originating and selling assets to the conduit whereas a single-seller conduit acquires assets from a single company. HUSI, along with other financial institutions, provides liquidity facilities to ABCP conduits in the form of lines of credit or asset purchase commitments. Liquidity facilities provided to multi-seller conduits support transactions associated with a specific seller of assets to the conduit and HUSI would only be expected to provide support in the event the multi-seller conduit is unable to issue or rollover maturing commercial paper because of a commercial paper market disruption, or the supported transaction has breached certain triggers. Liquidity facilities provided to single-seller conduits are not identified with specific transactions or assets and HUSI would be required to provide support upon the occurrence of a commercial paper market disruption or the breach of certain triggers that affect the single-seller conduit's ability to issue or rollover maturing commercial paper. HUSI's obligations are generally pari passu with that of other institutions that also provide liquidity support to the same conduit or for the same transactions. HUSI does not provide any program-wide credit enhancements to ABCP conduits.

Each seller of assets to an ABCP conduit typically provides collateral in the form of excess assets and therefore bears the risk of first loss related to the specific assets transferred. HUSI does not transfer its own assets to the conduits. It has no ownership interests in, performs no administrative duties for, and does not service any of the assets held by the conduits. HUSI is not the primary beneficiary and does not consolidate any of the ABCP conduits to which it provides liquidity facilities. Credit risk related to the liquidity facilities provided is managed by subjecting them to HUSI's normal underwriting and risk management processes. The maximum exposure to loss presented in the preceding table represents the maximum amount of loans and asset purchases HUSI could be required to make under the liquidity facilities it provides.

Structured Investment Vehicles

HUSI provides a liquidity facility to a single structured investment vehicle (SIV) sponsored by a third party. This entity, which is deemed to be a VIE, seeks to earn a profit by investing in mostly highly rated longer-dated fixed income instruments and funding those investments by issuing lower cost short-term, highly rated commercial paper and medium term notes. HUSI does not transfer its own assets to the SIV. It has no ownership interests in, performs no administrative duties for, and does not service any of the assets the SIV holds. HUSI is not the primary beneficiary of the SIV and therefore does not consolidate the SIV. Credit risk related to the liquidity facility provided is managed through HUSI's normal underwriting and risk management processes. The maximum exposure to loss presented in the preceding table represents a \$50 million liquidity facility which was fully funded, and is recorded as a loan, as of September 30, 2008. This loan was considered in the determination of HUSI's allowance for loan losses and a specific reserve has been established against this facility in accordance with HUSI's credit policies.

Structured Note Vehicles

In the normal course of business, HUSI enters into derivative transactions with entities organized by HSBC affiliates and by third parties to issue structured notes. These entities, which are deemed to be VIEs, are organized as trusts and issue fixed or floating rate debt instruments backed by the financial assets they hold. They were established to create investments with specific risk profiles for investors.

HUSI's variable interests in these entities include derivative transactions, such as interest rate and currency swaps, and investments in their debt instruments. With respect to several of these VIEs, HUSI also holds variable interests in the form of total return swaps entered into in connection with the transfer of certain assets to the VIEs. In these transactions, HUSI transferred financial assets from its trading portfolio to the VIEs and entered into total return swaps under which it receives the total return on the transferred assets and pays a market rate of return. The transfers of assets in these transactions do not qualify as sales under the applicable accounting literature and are accounted for as secured borrowings. Accordingly, the transferred assets continue to be recognized as trading assets on HUSI's balance sheet and the funds received are recorded as liabilities in long-term debt.

In addition to its variable interests, HUSI holds credit default swaps with these structured note VIEs under which it receives credit protection on specified reference assets in exchange for the payment of a premium. Through these derivatives, the VIEs assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets, which is then passed on to the holders of the debt instruments they issue. Because they create rather than absorb variability, the credit default swaps held by HUSI are not considered variable interests in the entities.

HUSI records all investments in, and derivative contracts with, unconsolidated structured note vehicles at fair value on its balance sheet. HUSI's maximum exposure to loss is limited to the recorded amounts of these instruments.

Securitization Vehicles

HUSI utilizes entities structured as trusts to securitize certain private label credit card receivables where securitization provides an attractive source of funding. HUSI transfers the credit card receivables to the trusts which in turn issue debt instruments collateralized by the transferred receivables. These trusts are considered VIEs and are consolidated by HUSI as the primary beneficiary at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

Low- Income Housing Partnerships

HUSI invests as a limited partner in a number of low-income housing partnerships that operate qualified affordable housing projects and generate tax benefits, including federal low-income housing tax credits, for investors. Some of the partnerships are deemed to be VIEs because they do not have sufficient equity investment at risk or are structured with non-substantive voting rights. HUSI is not the primary beneficiary of these VIEs and does not consolidate them.

HUSI's investments in low-income housing partnerships are recorded using the equity method of accounting and are included in other assets on HUSI's balance sheet. The maximum exposure to loss shown in the table represents the recorded investment net of estimated expected reductions in future tax liabilities and potential recapture of tax credits allowed in prior years.

Note 14. Financial Guarantee Arrangements and Pledged Assets

Financial Guarantee Arrangements

The maximum potential amounts of future payments required by financial guarantee arrangements are summarized in the following table.

	Se	ptember 30, 2008	December 31, 2007			
(in millions) Standby letters of credit, net of participations (1)	\$	9,049	\$	9,021		
Credit derivatives considered guarantees (2) Total	\$	593,137 602,186	\$	650,243 659,264		

- (1) Includes \$766 million and \$598 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.
- (2) Includes \$116,697 million and \$98,250 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

Standby Letters of Credit

A standby letter of credit is issued to a third party for the benefit of a customer and is essentially a guarantee that the customer will perform, or satisfy some obligation, under a contract. It irrevocably obligates HUSI to pay a specified amount to the third party beneficiary when the customer fails to perform some contractual obligation. Two types of standby letters of credit are issued by HUSI: performance and financial. A performance standby letter of credit is issued where the customer is required to perform some nonfinancial contractual obligation, such as the performance of a specific act, whereas a financial standby letter of credit is issued where the customer's contractual obligation is of a financial nature, such as the repayment of a loan or debt instrument. The amount presented in the above table represents the total contractual amount of outstanding standby letters of credit, net of participations of \$9 billion at both September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

The issuance of a standby letter of credit is subject to HUSI's credit approval process and collateral requirements. Fees are charged for issuing letters of credit commensurate with the customer's credit evaluation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other liabilities are deferred fees on standby letters of credit, representing the fair value of the "stand ready obligation to perform" under these guarantees, amounting to \$28 million and \$25 million at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. Also included in other liabilities is an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby letters of credit of \$33 million and \$27 million at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

Credit Derivatives

Some derivative transactions to which HUSI is a party meet the definition of a guarantee under FIN 45. These consist primarily of certain credit derivative contracts, including credit default swaps, total return swaps and credit options, which HUSI enters into to satisfy the needs of its customers and, in certain cases, for its own benefit. Credit derivatives are arrangements that provide for one party (the "protection seller") to pay another party (the "protection buyer") an agreed upon amount if a specified credit event related to a "reference asset" occurs during the term of the contract. In exchange for the credit protection provided, the protection buyer agrees to pay a fee to the protection seller. Credit derivatives effectively transfer the credit risk of the reference asset to the protection seller, which is able to assume that risk without directly purchasing the asset. Where HUSI sells credit protection to a counterparty that holds the subject reference asset, it effectively provides a guarantee with respect to that asset.

HUSI records all derivative contracts at fair value. HUSI's credit derivative agreements do not specify whether or not the counterparty holds the reference asset. The amounts disclosed in the table represent the total notional amount of all credit derivatives in which HUSI is the protection seller, which is the maximum amount that HUSI could be required to pay under those contracts. In accordance with established policies, HUSI offsets most of the risk it assumes in selling credit protection through credit derivatives by entering into offsetting contracts with other counterparties. Because they do not reflect the approximately equal amounts due from third parties under offsetting contracts, HUSI believes the contractual amounts presented are not representative of actual future credit exposure.

Pledged Assets

Pledged assets included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet are summarized in the following table.

	Sep	otember 30, 2008	December 31, 2007			
(in millions)						
Interest bearing deposits with banks	\$	1,164	\$	264		
Trading assets (1)		1,305		2,834		
Securities available for sale (2)		7,188		7,060		
Securities held to maturity		630		172		
Loans (3)		5,160		8,416		
Other assets (4)		3,840		2,889		
Total	\$	19,287	\$	21,635		

- (1) Trading assets are primarily pledged against liabilities associated with consolidated variable interest entities (refer to Note 13, "Variable Interest Entities (VIEs)" of the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding variable interest entities).
- (2) Securities available for sale are primarily pledged against various short-term borrowings.
- (3) Loans are primarily private label credit card receivables pledged against long-term secured borrowings and residential mortgage loans pledged against long-term borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank.
- (4) Other assets represent cash on deposit with non-banks related to derivative collateral support agreements.

Note 15. Fair Value Measurements

HUSI adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" (SFAS 157), on January 1, 2008. SFAS 157 clarifies the definition of fair value as the exit price that will be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and enhances fair value disclosures. The standard establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy based on the transparency of inputs to the fair value measurement of an asset or liability. SFAS 157 nullifies certain guidance in EITF Issue No. 02-3, "Issues Involved in Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management" (EITF 02-3), which prohibited the recognition of gains or losses at the inception of a derivative contract unless the fair value of the derivative contract was determined based on a quoted market price, or other valuation technique that incorporates observable market data. In addition, SFAS 157 eliminates large position discounts for financial instruments held and requires HUSI to consider its own credit risk when measuring the fair value of liabilities. HUSI has delayed the implementation of SFAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis (at least annually) in accordance with FASB Staff Position 157-2, "Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157."

Transition

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 157, HUSI applied the relevant provisions in EITF 02-3 to its derivative portfolio. EITF 02-3 prohibited the recognition of trading gains or losses at the inception of a derivative contract unless the fair value of the derivative contract was determined based on a quoted market price or other valuation technique that incorporated observable market data. HUSI previously recognized deferred profit into earnings over the life of the instruments or when the unobservable significant input became observable. In accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS 157 related to EITF 02-3, HUSI recorded an after-tax cumulative-effect adjustment of approximately \$36 million as an increase to the opening balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 2008 reflecting the release

of deferred profit.

Fair Value Hierarchy

SFAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). If the inputs used to measure an asset or a liability fall to different levels within the hierarchy, the classification of the entire asset or liability will be based on the lowest level input that is significant to the overall fair value measurement of the asset or liability. HUSI categorizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value within the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to the valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market that HUSI has the ability to access at the measurement date. Level 1 measurements include active exchange-traded equity securities, listed derivatives, most U.S. government and certain government agency securities.

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, inputs other than quoted market prices for the asset or liability that are observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term, and inputs to valuation techniques that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data through correlation or other statistical means for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. Level 2 measurements include corporate and municipal bonds, trading commodities, most over-the-counter derivatives and debt issuances elected to be measured at fair value.

Level 3: Inputs to the pricing or valuation techniques that are significant to the overall fair value measurement of the asset or liability are unobservable. Level 3 measurements include mortgage servicing rights, long-dated and exotic derivatives and certain loans, including funded leveraged loans and unfunded commitments, and mortgage whole loans.

In determining the appropriate measurement levels, HUSI performs analyses on the assets and liabilities subject to SFAS 157 at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the observability of significant valuation inputs during the reporting period may result in a reclassification of certain assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy. Reclassifications that affect Level 3 measurements are reported as transfers into or out of Level 3 in the disclosure relating to changes in fair value of Level 3 assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period when the reclassification occurs.

The following table summarizes each of HUSI's fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2008

	Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis as of September 30, 2008										
	Ι	Level 1		Level 2	I	Level 3		Gross	N	etting (1)	Net
								Balance			Balance
(in millions)											
Assets:											
Trading assets, excluding	\$	2,691	\$	14,648	\$	1,715	\$	19,054	\$	-	\$ 19,054
derivatives (2)											
Derivatives (3)		370		92,751		4,375		97,496		(81,399)	16,097
Securities available for sale		271		19,878		76		20,225		-	20,225
Loans (4)		_		989		268		1,257		_	1,257
Intangible assets (5)		-		-		522		522		_	522
Total assets	\$	3,332	\$	128,266	\$	6,956	\$	138,554	\$	(81,399)	\$ 57,155
Liabilities:											
Deposits in domestic offices	\$	-	\$	2,107	\$	137	\$	2,244	\$	-	\$ 2,244
(6)				ŕ				ŕ			ŕ
Trading liabilities,		1,677		1,828		_		3,505		-	3,505
excluding		•		ŕ				ŕ			ŕ
derivatives (2)											
Derivatives (3)		415		96,079		1,803		98,297		(85,028)	13,269
Long-term debt (7)		-		2,688		60		2,748		-	2,748
Total liabilities	\$	2,092	\$	102,702	\$	2,000	\$	106,794	\$	(85,028)	\$ 21,766

⁽¹⁾ Represents counterparty and cash collateral netting permitted under FIN 39, "Offsetting of Amounts Relating to Certain Contracts," as amended by FSP-FIN 39-1.

⁽²⁾ Refer to Note 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities" of the consolidated financial statements for the composition and discussion of trading assets and liabilities.

⁽³⁾ Includes derivatives held as trading assets (\$15,784 million) and trading liabilities (\$12,842 million) as well as derivatives held for hedging and certain commitments accounted for as derivatives.

⁽⁴⁾ Includes leveraged acquisition finance and other commercial loans held for sale or risk-managed on a fair value basis for which HUSI has elected to apply the fair value option. Refer to Note 4, "Loans" of the consolidated financial statements for further information on HUSI's loan portfolio.

⁽⁵⁾ Represents residential mortgage servicing rights. Refer to Note 6, "Intangible Assets" of the consolidated financial statements for further information on residential mortgage servicing rights.

⁽⁶⁾ Represents structured deposits risk-managed on a fair value basis for which HUSI has elected to apply the fair value option.

⁽⁷⁾ Includes structured notes and own debt issuances for which HUSI has elected to measure on a fair value basis. Refer to Note 9, "Long-Term Debt" of the consolidated financial statements for additional information on structured notes.

Rollforward of Level 3 Measurements

(in millions) Assets:

Trading assets,

excluding derivatives

The following tables summarize additional information about changes in fair value of Level 3 assets and liabilities for the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008. The fair value measurement of a Level 3 asset or liability and related changes in fair value may be determined based on observable and unobservable inputs. As a risk management practice, HUSI may risk manage the Level 3 assets and liabilities, in whole or in part, using securities and derivative positions that are classified as Level 1 or Level 2 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. Since those Level 1 and Level 2 risk management positions are not included in the table below, the information provided does not reflect the effect of the risk management activities related to the Level 3 assets and liabilities.

		Gains a		Losses (1))								
•	,Trading							rans	f Sæ pt	em	ber 30	Unre	alized
2008	(Loss)	Reven	ue pr	ehensiv	v e u	rcha	ases,				,		
	Revenue	:		Incon	ne I	ssua	ances and	_	o or Out		2008		osses)
					Set	tlen	nents	of L	evel			Still	Held
									3				
\$ 1,738	\$ (540)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	517	\$	-	\$	1,715	\$	(389)

· ·									
Derivatives, net (2)		1,962	477	(3)	-	94	42	2,572	327
Securities available for sale		97	-	-	3	(24)	-	76	4
Loans (3)		810	_	(11)	-	(531)	_	268	_
Other assets, excluding derivatives		546	-	(55)	-	31	-	522	(29)
(4) Total	\$:	5,153	\$ (63)	\$ (69)	\$ 3	\$ 87	\$ 42	\$ 5,153	\$ (87)
Liabilities:									
Deposits in domestic offices	\$	(131)	\$ 6	\$ -	\$ -	\$ (53)	\$ 41	\$ (137)	\$ 7
Long-term debt		(340)	9	-	-	209	62	(60)	9
Total	\$	(471)	\$ 15	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 156	\$ 103	\$ (197)	\$ 16

Total Gains and (Losses) Included in (1)

			1110	Juucu III							
	Janua	ry 1,	Trading	Other	O	ther		Net	Transfe Se p	tember 30	Unrealized
		2008	(Loss)	Revenue	preher	ısiv₽ı	urcha	ases,		,	
			Revenue		Inc	ome	Issua	ances	Into or	2008	Gains or
								and	Out		(Losses)
						Se	ettlen	nentso	of Level 3		Still Held
(in millions) Assets: Trading assets, excluding derivatives	\$	77	\$ (728)	\$ -	\$	-	\$	994	\$ 1,372	\$ 1,715	\$ (602)

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

Derivatives, net (2)	709		(34)	2	-	157	1,738	2,572	(423)
Securities available	1		-	-	9	(58)	124	76	10
for sale						(40.0)	(=)	•	
Loans (3)	829		-	(75)	-	(484)	(2)	268	(3)
Other assets,	489		-	(80)	-	113	-	522	(4)
excluding									
derivatives (4)									
Total	\$ 2,105	\$	(762)	\$ (153)	\$ 9	\$ 722	\$ 3,232	\$ 5,153	\$ (1,022)
Liabilities:									
Deposits in	\$ (192)) \$	18	\$ -	\$ -	\$ (82)	\$ 119	\$ (137)	\$ 8
domestic offices									
Long-term debt	(63))	26	-	-	42	(65)	(60)	10
Total	\$ (255)) \$	44	\$ -	\$ -	\$ (40)	\$ 54	\$ (197)	\$ 18

⁽¹⁾ Includes realized and unrealized gains and losses.

⁽²⁾ Level 3 net derivatives at September 30, 2008 included derivative assets of \$4,375 million and derivative liabilities of \$1,803 million.

⁽³⁾ Includes Level 3 corporate lending activities risk-managed on a fair value basis for which HUSI has elected the fair value option.

⁽⁴⁾ Represents residential mortgage servicing activities. Refer to Note 6, "Intangible Assets" of the consolidated financial statements for further information on residential mortgage servicing rights.

Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis and therefore, are not included in the tables above. These assets include (a) mortgage loans and loan commitments classified as held for sale reported at the lower of cost or fair value and (b) impaired assets that are written down to fair value based on the valuation of underlying collateral during the period. These instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances (e.g., impairment). The following table presents the fair value hierarchy level within which the fair value of the financial assets has been recorded as of September 30, 2008. The gains (losses) for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008 are also included.

			Mea	asuren	ient	air Values as of 0, 2008	ue		3 m	Gains es) for the nonths	(Loss	Gains ses) for the months ended
	Lev	el 1	Le	evel 2	L	evel 3		Total	Septemb	er 30, S		ber 30,
(in millions) Assets: Loans Residential mortgage loans held for sale (1)	\$	-	\$	182	\$	1,505	\$	1,687	\$	2008	\$	(340)
Impaired loans		-		-		89		89		(7)		(25)
(2) Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring basis	\$	-	\$	182	\$	1,594	\$	1,776	\$	(91)	\$	(365)

⁽¹⁾ As of September 30, 2008, the fair value of the mortgage loans was below cost.

⁽²⁾ Represents impaired commercial loans. HUSI uses the fair value estimate of the underlying collateral to approximate the fair value of the commercial loans.

Note 16. Fair Value Option

HUSI adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities" (SFAS 159), on January 1, 2008. SFAS 159 provides a fair value option that allows HUSI to irrevocably elect fair value, on an instrument-by-instrument basis, as the initial and subsequent measurement attribute for most financial assets, financial liabilities, unrecognized firm commitments and written loan commitments not previously recognized at fair value. The new standard permits HUSI to elect the fair value option at the initial recognition of the asset or liability or upon occurrence of an event that gives rise to a new basis of accounting for that asset or liability. Changes in fair value for assets and liabilities for which elections are made are reported in earnings as incurred.

Transition

In accordance with the transition provisions of SFAS 159, HUSI recorded an after-tax cumulative-effect adjustment of approximately \$77 million as an increase to the opening balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 2008.

	Carrying Value at January 1, 2008 Prior to Adoption	(Gains/ (Losses) to Opening	e E Aft	rrying Value at January 1, 2008 ter Adoption
(in millions)					
Loans (1)	\$ 1,939	\$	-	\$	1,939
Long-term debt					
Own debt issuances (2)	1,721		(120)		1,601
Pre-tax cumulative-effect adjustment			(120)		
Tax effect			43		
Cumulative effect, after tax		\$	(77)		

- (1) Represents commercial leveraged acquisition finance loans designated as held for sale. No transition adjustment was recorded as the loans were already recorded at fair value pursuant to lower of cost or fair value accounting and the fair values of the loans were below cost at January 1, 2008.
- (2) Changes in fair value of own debt issuances resulting from interest rate exposure had been hedged by interest rate derivatives and were qualified fair value hedges in accordance with SFAS 133. As a result, there was no transition adjustment relating to the interest rate exposure. The transition adjustment primarily reflects: (a) the release of deferred costs and (b) the impact of HUSI's own credit risk on the fair value measurement of own debt issuances for which HUSI elected the fair value option.

HSBC complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) for financial reporting purposes. HUSI has elected to apply the fair value option to selected financial instruments under SFAS 159 to achieve the following objectives: (a) to eliminate the accounting effect that arises from the difference between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs, (b) to reduce income volatility caused by the differences in the measurement attributes of selected financial instruments and (c) to simplify the accounting applied to those financial instruments. HUSI has applied the fair value option primarily to leveraged loans, certain hybrid instruments and own debt issuances.

Loans

HUSI has elected to apply the fair value option to commercial leveraged acquisition finance loans and unfunded commitments. HUSI plans to make the same election to such financial instruments going forward. The election allows HUSI to account for those loans and commitments at fair value, which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed.

As of September 30, 2008, leveraged acquisition finance loans and certain commercial loans for which the fair value option was elected had an aggregate unpaid principal balance of \$1,445 million and an aggregate fair value of \$1,257 million which were recorded as loans in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Interest income on these loans is recorded in interest income in the Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income. During the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008, HUSI recorded in other revenue losses of \$94 million and \$197 million respectively, resulting from changes in the fair value of these loans. Because substantially all of the loans elected for the fair value option are floating rate assets, changes in their fair value are primarily attributable to changes in loan-specific credit risk.

As of September 30, 2008, no loans for which the fair value option has been elected are 90 days or more past due or are on non-accrual status.

Long-Term Debt (Own Debt Issuances)

HUSI elected the fair value option for certain fixed rate debt issuances which had been hedged by derivatives that qualified for fair value hedge accounting in accordance with SFAS 133. This election allows HUSI to achieve a similar hedge accounting effect without meeting the rigorous SFAS 133 hedging requirements. HUSI measures the fair value of the debt issuances based on inputs observed in the secondary market. Changes in fair value of these instruments are attributed to changes in HUSI's own credit risk as well as changes in interest rates.

The debt issuances for which HUSI elected the fair value option had an aggregate principal balance of \$1,750 million and an aggregate fair value of \$1,420 million as of September 30, 2008. Interest paid on these instruments was recorded as interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income. During the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, HUSI recorded in other revenue, a gain of \$118 million and \$181 million, respectively, resulting from changes in the fair value of these instruments. The credit risk of HUSI accounted for a decrease of \$176 million and \$256 million in the fair value of the debt issuances for the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, respectively. The credit risk effect was partially offset by an increase of \$58 million and \$75 million in change in fair value attributable to changes in the interest rate benchmark for the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, respectively.

Hybrid Instruments

HUSI adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 155, "Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments" (SFAS 155), effective January 1, 2006. HUSI elected to measure all structured notes and structured deposits which contained embedded derivatives and were issued after January 1, 2006 at fair value. Such election has eliminated the differences in measurement attributes between IFRSs and U.S. GAAP. SFAS 159 has incorporated accounting requirements similar to SFAS 155 and because SFAS 159 has a broader application than SFAS 155, HUSI decided to elect the fair value option available under SFAS 159 to all hybrid financial instruments issued after January 1, 2008. Consequently, there was no cumulative effect adjustment for this item reflected in the preceding table.

As of September 30, 2008, the structured deposits for which HUSI elected fair value treatment under SFAS 155 or SFAS 159 had an aggregate fair value of \$2,244 million and an aggregate unpaid principal of \$2,285 million. HUSI also recorded an aggregate fair value of \$1,328 million and an aggregate unpaid principal of \$1,539 million for the structured notes that were chosen for the fair value option as of September 30, 2008. The structured deposits for which the fair value option was elected were classified as interest bearing deposits in domestic offices in the Consolidated Balance Sheet while the structured notes elected for the fair value option were classified in long-term debt. Interest paid was recorded as interest expense. During the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008, HUSI recorded in other revenue a gain of \$124 million and \$335 million, respectively, as a result of remeasuring structured deposits and structured notes at fair value. Changes in HUSI's credit risk accounted for a \$1 million increase and a \$26 million decrease in the fair value of the hybrid instruments for the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, respectively.

Differences Between Aggregate Fair Value and Aggregate Unpaid Principal Balances

The following table summarizes the differences between the aggregate fair value and the aggregate unpaid balances of loans, interest bearing deposits in domestic offices and long-term debt instruments for which HUSI elected the fair value option as of September 30, 2008. These differences are as of a point in time and do not reflect the total net impact on profit or loss associated with HUSI's fair value elections for either the three or nine month periods ended September 30, 2008.

	Sep	, 2008		
	Aggregate Unpaid Principal Balance	Fair Value	Abo	Fair Value ve (Below) Principal Balance
(in millions)				
Loans elected for the fair value option	\$ 1,445	\$ 1,257	\$	(188)
Interest bearing deposits in domestic offices elected for the	\$ 2,285	\$ 2,244	\$	(41)
fair		•		
value option (1)				
Long-term debt				
Own debt issuances	\$ 1,750	\$ 1,420	\$	(330)
Structured notes (1)	1,539	1,328		(211)
Total long-term debt elected for the fair value option	\$ 3,289	\$ 2,748	\$	(541)

⁽¹⁾ Includes structured deposits and structured notes elected for fair value treatment pursuant to SFAS 155.

Note 17. Business Segments

HUSI has five distinct segments that it utilizes for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are generally based upon customer groupings, as well as products and services offered. There have been no changes in the basis of segmentation or measurement of segment profits as compared with the presentation in the 2007 Form 10-K.

HUSI reports results to HSBC in accordance with its reporting basis, International Financial Reporting Standards, "IFRSs". Segment results are presented on an IFRSs basis (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about allocating resources such as employees are made almost exclusively on an IFRSs basis. However, HUSI continues to monitor capital adequacy, establish dividend policy, and report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis.

Further information related to the below financial results are presented in Item 2, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A)" of this Form 10-Q under the caption "Segment Results".

Reconciliation of IFRSs basis segment results to the U.S. GAAP consolidated totals are as follows:

				IFR	SsC	Consolidate	ed Amoun	ıts				(4)	(5)
	PFS		CF	CM	В	Global Banking and Markets				nenta l venue	Tota A d	IFRS s justr Recta ssi	IFRSGonso
(in millions) Three months ended September 30 , 2008 Net interest	\$ 201	\$	327	\$ 1	95 :	\$ 334	\$ 48	\$	\$	(43) \$	1,062	\$ (56) \$	163 \$
income (loss) (1) Other operating income (loss)													
(Total other	105		80		94	(72)	36		181	43	467	(146)	(46)
revenues) Total revenues (loss)	306		407	2	89	262	84	' .	181	-	1,529	(202)	117
Loan impairment charges (Provision for credit losses)	104		439		71	30	4		-	-	648	6	4
(3) Operating	202		(32)	2	18	232	80		181	-	881	(208)	113
expenses (Total operating expenses) (2)	417		11	1	55	201	70	ı	-	-	854	7	113
Profit (loss) before income tax expense	(215))	(43)		63	31	10		181	-	27	(215)	-
	(57))	(16)		28	7	5		57	-	24	(76)	-

			_	_									
Income tax expense (benefit)													
Net income (loss) Balances at end of period:	\$	(158)	\$ (27)	\$ 35	\$ 24	\$ 5	\$ 124\$	-	\$ 3	\$ (139)	\$	\$	
Total assets	\$		\$	\$	\$ 193,243	\$ -	\$ 403\$	-	\$ 276,315	\$			1
Total loans		25,817	19,103	19,221	38,662	5,089	-	-	107,892	(743)	(15,489))	
Goodwill		876	-	368	497	326	-	-	2,067	579	-		
Total deposits		44,810	32	20,962	39,801	11,893	2	-	117,500	(2,661)	6,947		1
Three months ended September 30, 200 7 Net interest	,	276	\$ 296	\$ 208	\$ 62	\$ 50	\$ (4\$)	(126)	\$ 762	\$ 9	\$ 152	\$	
income (loss)							()	,					
(1)													
Other operating income (loss)													
(Total		157	86	67	(139)	66	150	126	513	(127)	(12)		
other		137	80	07	(139)	00	130	120	313	(127)	(12)		
revenues)		422	202	27.5	(77)	116	1.16		1 255	(110)	1.40		
Total revenues (loss)		433	382	275	(77)	116	146	-	1,275	(118)	140		
Loan													
impairment													
charges (Provision for credit losses)		35	305	35	17	(1)	-	-	391	14	(3)		
(3)		398	77	240	(94)	117	146	_	884	(132)	143		
Operating													
expenses (Total operating expenses) (2)		313	8	137	197	87	4	-	746	2	143		
Profit (loss) before income tax expense		85	69	103	(291)	30	142	-	138	(134)	-		
Income tax expense (benefit)		26	24	27	(97)	8	51	-	39	(56)	-		
	\$	59	\$ 45	\$ 76	\$ (194)	\$ 22	\$ 9\$	-	\$ 99	\$ (78)	\$ -	\$	

Net income

(loss)

Balances at

end of

period:

Total assets	\$ 36,005	\$ 21,747	\$ 19,940	\$ 152,029	\$ 5,210	\$ 236\$	-	\$ 235,167	\$ (49,746) \$	- \$
Total loans	31,260	20,574	18,089	21,781	4,376	-	-	96,080	(248)	(3,166)
Goodwill	924	-	368	497	337	-	-	2,126	590	-
Total deposits	42,254	37	17,296	41,325	10,965	2	-	111,879	(3,865)	2,733

			II	FRS	S s C	on	solida	te	d Am	ou	ınts				(4)		(5)	C	U.S. SAAP
					T		Global aking		Ι	nte	ersegi	menta l		II	FRS s	H	F KS n		idated
(in millions)		PFS	CF	CN	ИB		and rkets		PB	0	th R e	venue	T Atchj u	Rt	clens si	ica	tions	Т	otals
Nine months ended September 30 , 2008 Net interest income (loss) (1) Other operating	\$	685	\$ 926	\$	575	\$	650	\$	144	\$	(3\$)	(204)	\$ 2,773	\$	(65)	\$	512	\$	3,220
income (loss) (Total other		405	242		236		(862)		126		261	204	612		(110)		(154)		348
revenues) Total revenues (loss)	-	1,090	1,168	;	811		(212)		270		258	-	3,385		(175)		358		3,568
Loan impairment charges (Provision for credit losses)		349	1,188		178		87		5		-	-	1,807		5		(50)		1,762
(3)		741	(20)		633		(299)		265		258	-	1,578		(180)		408		1,806
Operating expenses (Total operating expenses) (2)		1,020	33	,	446		607		206		-	-	2,312		8		408		2,728
Profit (loss) before income tax expense		(279)	(53)		187		(906)		59		258	-	(734)		(188)		-		(922)
Income tax expense (benefit)		(81)	(20)		77		(351)		24		86	-	(265)		(69)		-		(334)
Net income (loss)	\$	(1 98)	\$ (33)	\$	110	\$	(555)	\$	35	\$	172\$	-	\$ (469)	\$	(119)	\$	-	\$	(588)
Nine months ended September 30, 200 7 Net interest income (loss)	\$	838	\$ 705	\$	606	\$	199	\$	150	\$	(9\$)	(456)	\$ 2,033	\$	5	\$	482	\$	2,520

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

(1) Other operating														
income (loss)														
(Total other	417	194	196	436	2	210	90	456	1,999	(120))	(94))	1,785
revenues)														
Total revenues	1,255	899	802	635	3	360	81	-	4,032	(115))	388		4,305
(loss) Loan														
impairment														
charges	64	693	72	6		11	1	_	847	19		5		871
(Provision for														
credit losses)														
(3)														
	1,191	206	730	629	3	349	80	-	3,185	(134))	383		3,434
Operating														
expenses (Total	923	26	420	584	,	255	5	_	2,213	16		383		2,612
operating	723	20	720	J0 -1	4	233	3	_	2,213	10		303		2,012
expenses) (2)														
•														
Profit before	268	180	310	45		94	75	-	972	(150))	-		822
income tax														
expense														
Income tax	82	63	92	17		27	23	_	304	(67))	_		237
expense	02	0.5	72	1/		<i>-</i> ,	20		501	(07)	,			231
1														
Net income	\$ 186	\$ 117	\$ 218	\$ 28	\$	67	\$ 52\$	-	\$ 668	\$ (83)	\$	-	\$	585

- (1) Net interest income of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest paid on liabilities of the segment adjusted for a funding charge or credit. Segments are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive a funding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer deposits) based on equivalent market rates.
- (2) Expenses for the segments include fully apportioned corporate overhead expenses.
- (3) The provision assigned to the segments is based on the segments' net charge offs and the change in allowance for credit losses.
- (4) IFRS adjustments consist of the accounting differences between IFRSs and U.S. GAAP, which are more fully described below.
- (5) Represents differences in financial statement presentation between IFRSs and U.S. GAAP.

See "Basis of Reporting" in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in HUSI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 for a more complete discussion of differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. Further discussion of the differences between IFRSs and U.S. GAAP are presented in Item 2, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations" of this Form 10-Q under the caption "Basis of Reporting". A summary of the significant differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs as they impact HUSI's results are presented below.

Net interest income

Deferred loan origination costs and fees – Certain loan fees and incremental direct loan origination costs, including direct salaries but excluding overhead costs, are deferred and amortized to earnings over the life of the loan under IFRSs. Certain loan fees and direct incremental loan origination costs, including an apportionment of overhead in addition to direct salaries, are deferred and amortized to earnings under U.S. GAAP.

Loan origination cost deferrals under IFRSs are more stringent and result in lower costs being deferred than permitted under U.S. GAAP. In addition, all deferred loan origination fees, costs and loan premiums must be recognized based on the expected life of the receivables under IFRSs as part of the effective interest calculation while under U.S. GAAP they may be recognized on either a contractual or expected life basis.

Under IFRSs, net interest income includes the interest element for derivatives which corresponds to debt designated at fair value. For U.S. GAAP, this is included in gain (loss) on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives which is a component of other revenues.

Other operating income (Total other revenues)

Derivatives – Effective January 1, 2008, U.S. GAAP removed the observability requirement of valuation inputs to recognize the difference between transaction price and fair value as Day 1 profit and loss impacts and permits recognition upfront in the Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income. Under IFRSs, recognition is permissible only if the inputs used in calculating fair value are based on observable inputs. If the inputs are not observable, profit and loss is deferred and is recognized: (1) over the period of contract, (2) when the data becomes observable, or (3) when the contract is settled. This causes the net income under U.S. GAAP to be higher than under IFRSs.

Unquoted equity securities – Under IFRSs, equity securities which are not quoted on a recognized exchange (MasterCard Class B shares and Visa Class B shares), but for which fair value can be reliably measured, are required to be measured at fair value. Securities measured at fair value under IFRSs are classified as either available for sale securities, with changes in fair value recognized in shareholders' equity, or as trading securities, with changes in fair value recognized in income. Under U.S. GAAP, equity securities that are not quoted on a recognized exchange are not considered to have a readily determinable fair value and are required to be measured at cost, less any provisions for known impairment, in other assets.

Loans held for resale - IFRSs requires loans designated as held for resale at the time of origination to be treated as trading assets and recorded at their fair market value. Under U.S. GAAP, loans designated as held for resale are reflected as loans and recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. Under IFRSs, the income and expenses related to receivables held for sale are reported in net interest income on trading. Under U.S. GAAP, the income and expenses related to receivables held for sale are reported similarly to loans held for investment.

Fair value option – Reflects the impact of applying the fair value option under IFRSs to certain debt instruments issued, and includes an adjustment of the initial valuation of the debt instruments. Prior to January 1, 2008, the debt was accounted for at amortized cost under U.S. GAAP. This difference was eliminated upon the adoption of fair value option under U.S. GAAP on January 1, 2008.

Certain Leverage Acquisition Finance (LAF) Loans were classified as "Trading Assets" for IFRSs and to be consistent, an irrevocable fair value option was elected on these loans under U.S. GAAP on January 1, 2008. These loans were classified to "loans and advances" as of July 1, 2008 under IFRSs pursuant to an amendment to IAS 39. Under U.S. GAAP, these loans are classified "held for sale" and carried at fair value due to the irrevocable nature of the fair value option.

Servicing assets – Under IAS 38, servicing assets are initially recorded on the balance sheet at cost and amortized over the projected life of the assets. Servicing assets are periodically tested for impairment with impairment adjustments charged against current earnings. Under U.S. GAAP, servicing assets are initially recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. All subsequent adjustments to fair value are reflected in current period earnings.

Loan impairment charges (Provision for credit losses)

IFRSs requires a discounted cash flow methodology for estimating impairment on pools of homogeneous customer loans which requires the incorporation of the time value of money relating to recovery estimates. Also under IFRSs, future recoveries on charged-off loans are accrued for on a discounted basis and a recovery asset is recorded. Subsequent recoveries are recorded to earnings under U.S. GAAP, but are adjusted against the recovery asset under

IFRSs. Interest is recorded based on collectability under IFRSs.

As discussed above, under U.S. GAAP the credit risk component of the lower of cost or fair value adjustment related to the transfer of receivables to held for sale is recorded in the consolidated statement of (loss) income as provision for credit losses. There is no similar requirement under IFRSs.

Operating expenses (Total operating expenses)

Pension costs – Operating expenses under U.S. GAAP are higher than under IFRSs as a result of the amortization of the amount by which actuarial losses exceed gains beyond the 10 percent "corridor".

Assets

Derivatives – Under U.S. GAAP, derivative receivables and payables with the same counterparty may be reported on a net basis in the balance sheet when there is an executed International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (ISDA) Master Netting Arrangement. In addition, under U.S. GAAP, fair value amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received or the right to reclaim cash collateral paid are offset against the fair value of derivative instruments. Under IFRSs, these agreements do not necessarily meet the requirements for offset, and therefore such derivative receivables and payables are presented gross on the balance sheet.

Goodwill – IFRS s and U.S. GAAP require goodwill to be tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that goodwill may be impaired. F or IFRSs, goodwill was amortized until 2005, however goodwill was amortized under U.S. GAAP until 2002, which resulted in a lower carrying amount of goodwill under IFRSs. During the third quarter of 2008, HUSI performed an interim goodwill impairment test and determined that goodwill was impaired for the Residential Mortgage reporting unit, which is part of the PFS segment. Due to the lower carrying amount under IFRSs, the impact of the write-off was I ower than under U.S. GAAP.

Property – Under IFRSs, the value of property held for own use reflects revaluation surpluses recorded prior to January 1, 2004. Consequently, the values of tangible fixed assets and shareholders' equity are lower under U.S. GAAP than under IFRSs. There is a correspondingly lower depreciation charge and higher net income as well as higher gains (or smaller losses) on the disposal of fixed assets under U.S. GAAP. For investment properties, net income under U.S. GAAP does not reflect the unrealized gain or loss recorded under IFRSs for the period.

Securities- Under IFRSs, securities include HSBC shares held for stock plans at fair value.

Some securities were reclassified from "trading assets" to "loans and receivables" as of July 1, 2008 under IFRSs, pursuant to an amendment to IAS 39. These securities are classified as "trading assets" under U.S. GAAP.

Note 18. New Accounting Pronouncements

HUSI adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" (SFAS 157), effective January 1, 2008. The new standard defines fair value, provides a framework for measuring fair value and enhances the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. HUSI recorded an after-tax cumulative-effect adjustment of approximately \$36 million as an increase to the opening balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 2008. Refer to Note 15, "Fair Value Measurements" of the consolidated financial statements for further details.

HUSI adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities" (SFAS 159), effective January 1, 2008. SFAS 159 provides a fair value option (FVO) that allows HUSI to irrevocably elect fair value as the initial and subsequent measurement attribute for most financial assets and

liabilities on an instrument-by-instrument basis. As a result of the adoption of SFAS 159, HUSI recorded an after-tax cumulative-effect adjustment of approximately \$77 million as an increase to the opening balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 2008. Refer to Note 16, "Fair Value Option" of the consolidated financial statements for further details.

In November 2007, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 109, "Written Loan Commitments Recorded at Fair Value Through Earnings" (SAB 109), which supersedes SAB 105, "Application of Accounting Principles to Loan Commitments" (SAB 105). SAB 109 revises the views expressed by the staff in SAB 105 to specify that the expected net future cash flows related to the associated servicing of a loan should be included in the measurement of written loan commitments that are accounted for at fair value through earnings. SAB 109 is effective for derivative loan commitments issued or modified in fiscal quarters beginning after December 15, 2007. The adoption of SAB 109 did not have a material impact on the HUSI consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (Revised), "Business Combinations" (SFAS 141 (R)) which replaces Statement 141. The new guidance will result in, among other things, more assets and liabilities to be recognized and measured at fair value at the acquisition date; liabilities related to contingent consideration to be measured at fair value in subsequent periods with changes in fair value recorded in earnings; and the acquirer is required to expense all acquisition-related transaction costs. SFAS 141(R) also changes the recognition and measurement criteria for contingencies and bargain purchases. SFAS 141 (R) is effective for business combinations with an acquisition date in fiscal year 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements (SFAS 160)". SFAS 160 requires non-controlling interests in subsidiaries initially to be measured at fair value and classified as a component of equity. Gains and losses from the sales of non-controlling interests are not recognized but are accounted for as capital transactions. However, if a sale of non-controlling interest results in the deconsolidation of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized for the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of interest sold and a new fair value basis is established for any remaining interest held. The statement requires disclosure of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling interest on the face of the Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income. SFAS 160 also required expanded disclosures that identify and distinguish between parent and non-controlling interests. SFAS 160 should be applied prospectively and is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Early adoption is prohibited. HUSI is currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 160 will have on its financial position or results of operations.

In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP SFAS 140-3, "Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets and Repurchase Financing Transactions". Under the new guidance, the initial transfer of a financial asset and subsequent repurchase financing involving the same asset is presumptively to be linked and are considered part of the same arrangement under SFAS 140. The initial transfer and subsequent financing transaction will be considered separate transactions under SFAS 140 if certain conditions are met. FSP SFAS 140-3 is effective for new transactions entered into in fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. Early adoption is prohibited. HUSI is currently evaluating the impact of FSP SFAS 140-3 on its financial position and results of operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 161, "Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities-an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133". This statement requires enhanced disclosures about an entity's derivative and hedging activities and attempts to improve transparency in financial reporting. This statement requires entities to provide enhanced disclosures about: (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under Statement 133 and its related interpretations, (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows and (d) credit-risk related contingent features in derivative agreements. It is effective prospectively for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008. Early application is encouraged. HUSI is currently evaluating the changes required by this statement to its disclosure on its derivative instruments and hedging activities.

In May 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 162, "The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles" (SFAS 162). The new standard identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for applying those principles to financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The statement corresponds to Statement on Auditing Standards No. 69, "The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles". The standard is not intended to cause significant changes to financial reports. This statement shall be effective 60 days following the SEC's approval of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) amendments to AU Section 411, "The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles". The adoption of SFAS 162 will not have any material impact on the HUSI consolidated financial statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 163 "Accounting for Financial Guarantee Insurance Contracts – an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 60". This statement applies to financial guarantee insurance (and reinsurance) contracts issued by enterprises that are included within the scope of paragraph 6 of Statement 60 and that are not accounted for as derivative instruments. It clarifies how Statement 60 applies to financial guarantee insurance contracts, including the recognition and measurement of premium revenue and claim liabilities. This statement requires expanded disclosures about financial guarantee insurance contracts. SFAS 163 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and all interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of SFAS 163 will not have a material impact on the HUSI consolidated financial statements.

In September 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS133-1 and FIN45-4 "Disclosure about Credit Derivatives and Certain Guarantees: An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 and FASB Interpretation No. 45; and Clarification of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 161". This FSP requires enhancing the disclosure of credit derivatives accounted for under FASB Statement No. 133 by including the disclosure related to status of payment/performance risk. Additionally, it also requires disclosing the current status of payment/performance risk of guarantee under FIN 45. The current status of payment/performance risk of the guarantee could be indicated by either current external credit ratings (when available) or current internal categories/groupings based on the manner in which the guarantor manages its risk. The provisions of this FSP shall be effective for reporting periods ending after November 15, 2008. It also clarifies the effective date of FASB Statement No. 161 and that disclosure required by SFAS 161 should be provided for any reporting period beginning after November 15, 2008. HUSI is currently evaluating the changes required by this statement to its disclosure on its credit derivative instruments and financial guarantee contracts.

In October 2008, the FAS issued FSP FAS 157-3, "Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset in a Market That is Not Active". This FSP clarifies how management's internal assumptions and observable market information should be considered when measuring fair value in an inactive market and how market quotes (e.g. broker quotes) should be considered when assessing the relevance of observability of available data in measuring fair value. The adoption of FSP FAS 157-3 does not have any material impact on the HUSI consolidated financial statements.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A)

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, notes and tables included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q and with HUSI's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (the "2007 Form 10-K"). MD&A may contain certain statements that may be forward-looking in nature within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, HUSI may make or approve certain statements in future filings with the SEC, in press releases, or oral or written presentations by representatives of HUSI that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute forward-looking statements. Words such as "may", "will", "should", "would", "could", "into "believe", "expect", "estimate", "target", "plan", "anticipate", "goal" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-statements but should not be considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will relate to HUSI's future financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business developments and will involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause HUSI's actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are based on HUSI's current views and assumptions and speak only as of the date they are made. HUSI undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Loss before income taxes was \$188 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 and \$922 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2008. A net loss of \$136 million for the third quarter and \$588 million for the first nine months of 2008 represents a decrease of \$157 million and \$1,173 million, respectively, as compared to the net income reported in the corresponding 2007 periods. Adverse conditions, particularly in the U.S. mortgage and credit markets, led to declines in trading revenue and other income including higher valuation adjustments on leveraged acquisition finance loans held for sale, increases in credit loss provisions for consumer assets and, in the nine month period, higher valuation adjustments on mortgage loans held for sale as compared to the corresponding 2007 periods. Also during the third quarter, continuing pressure from a severely strained credit market began to noticeably impact many organizations, including the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), which resulted in a significant other-than-temporary impairment charge on certain investment securities held by HUSI. These losses were partially offset by higher net interest income due to higher net interest margin driven by lower cost of funds.

Revenues were \$275 million and \$348 million for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, a decrease of \$99 million and \$1,437 million, respectively, as compared to the same 2007 periods. The decrease in revenues was primarily led by declines in trading revenues and negative valuation adjustments on assets held for sale as continued market disruptions resulted in significantly wider credit spreads and severely diminished liquidity in the market. These market conditions translated into write-downs in the carrying value of several asset classes, including asset backed securities held for trading purposes, sub-prime residential mortgage loans held for sale, credit derivative contracts with monoline insurance companies and, in the third quarter of 2008, securities available for sale. The dollar magnitude of these write-downs however, excluding the other than temporary impairment on securities available for sale, began to slow in the second quarter, a trend which continued into the third quarter of 2008. Despite this slowing however, HUSI remains cautious as the volatility with respect to certain capital markets activities remains elevated. These reductions to revenue were partially offset by increased payments and cash management revenues, increased trading revenue from the foreign exchange desk, and in the year to date period, increased fees from the credit card receivable portfolios, the sale of MasterCard Class B shares including gains on the related economic hedge as well as a gain on the sale of a portion of HUSI's investment in Visa Class B shares which collectively increased revenues \$217 million. HUSI also realized \$111 million and \$121 million during the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 related to gains on the fair value of financial instruments and the related derivative contracts for which fair value option was

elected.

A summary of the significant valuation adjustments associated with these market disruptions which contributed to the decrease in revenues for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 are presented in the following table.

	T	Three months ended September 30				Nine months ended September 30				
		2008		2007		2008		2007		
(in millions)										
Loss (Gain)										
Insurance monoline structured credit products	\$	155	\$	-	\$	957	\$	-		
Other structured credit products		(118)		(24)		144		221		
Mortgage loans held for sale		84		140		340		225		
Other than temporary impairment on securities held for sale		180		-		204		-		
Leverage acquisition finance loans held for sale		94		75		197		75		
Total	\$	395	\$	191	\$	1,842	\$	521		

The recent market events have created stress for certain counterparties with whom HUSI conducts business as part of HUSI's lending and client intermediation activities. HUSI assesses, monitors and controls credit risk with formal standards, policies and procedures that are designed to ensure credit risks are assessed accurately, approved properly, monitored regularly and managed actively. Consequently, HUSI believes any loss exposure related to counterparties with whom it conducts business has been adequately reflected in its financial statements at September 30, 2008.

Provisions for credit losses increased \$256 million in the third quarter and \$891 million in the first nine months of 2008 as compared to the same periods in 2007, mainly due to growing delinquencies and charge offs within the credit card portfolio, higher delinquency and credit loss estimates related to home equity lines of credit, home equity loans and prime residential mortgage loans for which provisions increased markedly beginning in the second quarter of 2008 as conditions in the housing markets worsened and continued to deteriorate. Provisions for credit losses also increased for both loans and loan commitments in the commercial loan portfolio due to customer downgrades and a weakening economy.

Net interest income increased \$246 million and \$700 million for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 as compared to the corresponding periods in 2007, primarily as a result of higher balance sheet management income due in large part to positions taken in expectation of decreased funding rates. The reduction of the amortization of private label credit card premiums paid also resulted in increased net interest income. These increases were partially offset by narrowing of interest rate spreads on deposit products primarily due to competitive pressures as customers migrated to higher yielding deposit products and the runoff of the residential mortgage and other consumer loan portfolios, including the sale of \$4 billion of residential mortgage loans in May 2008.

Operating expenses increased in the third quarter of 2008 as compared with the corresponding 2007 period. Operating expenses in the quarter reflect the impact of several one-off items including a goodwill impairment charge, an increase in employee benefits expense resulting from a review of HUSI's employee benefit accruals, an increase in the Visa

litigation accrual, increased severance expense due to ongoing efficiency initiatives and reserves related to the commitment to purchase Auction Rate Securities from customers in the Private Banking segment. Additionally, HUSI recognized some minor expenses in the third quarter of 2008 reflecting estimated exposure associated with a systems outage in August. Excluding these items, operating expenses decreased in the quarter, largely due to lower headcount including the impact of global resourcing initiatives undertaken by management. Operating expenses increased in the nine month period ended September 30, 2008, as compared with the corresponding period in 2007, primarily due to an increase in reserves related to off-balance sheet credit exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees, increased Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) assessment fees and the impact of the items discussed above. This was partially offset by decreased staff costs.

On October 3, 2008, the United States Congress enacted the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 (the "EESA") with the stated purposes of providing stability to and preventing disruption in the economy and financial system and protecting taxpayers. Refer to the "Risk Management" for additional information.

Income Before Income Tax Expense - Significant Trends

Income before income tax expense, and various trends and activity affecting operations, are summarized in the following table.

		Three months ended September 30		Nine months ended September 30		
(in millions) Income before income tax expense for 2007		\$	4	\$	822	
) in income before income tax expense	·		·		
	Balance sheet management activities (1)		(79)		26	
	Trading related activities (2) Private label receivable portfolio, excluding provision for credit losses (3)		(43) 9		(1,179) 252	
	Loans held for sale (4) Residential mortgage banking related revenue (5)		133 11		(35) (16)	
	Gain on instruments at fair value and related derivatives (6)		111		121	
	Provision for credit losses (8) Goodwill impairment loss (9)		(256) (54)		(891) (54)	
	All other activity (10)		(24) (192)		32 (1,744)	
Loss before incom	e tax benefit for 2008	\$	(192)	\$	(922)	

- (1) Balance sheet management activities are comprised primarily of net interest income and, to a lesser extent, gains on sales of investments and trading revenues, resulting from management of interest rate risk associated with the repricing characteristics of balance sheet assets and liabilities. Refer to commentary regarding Global Banking and Markets net interest income, trading revenues, and the Global Banking and Markets business segment beginning on page 68 of this Form 10-Q, respectively.
- (2) Refer to commentary regarding trading (loss) revenue beginning on page 55 of this Form 10-Q.
- (3) Refer to commentary regarding the CF business segment beginning on page 64 of this Form 10-Q.
- (4) Refer to commentary regarding loans held for sale beginning on page 11 of this Form 10-Q.

- (5) Refer to commentary regarding residential mortgage banking revenue beginning on page 57 of this Form 10-Q.
- (6) Refer to commentary regarding fair value option and fair value measurement beginning on page 81 of this Form 10-Q.
- (7) Refer to commentary regarding Securities (loss) gain, net beginning on page 56 of this Form 10-Q.
- (8) Refer to commentary regarding provision for credit losses beginning on page 52 of this Form 10-Q.
- (9) Refer to commentary regarding goodwill impairment beginning on page 15 of this Form 10-Q.
- (10) Represents other core banking activities.

Selected Financial Data

The following tables present a summary of selected financial information.

		Three months ended September 30 2008 2007			Nine months ender September 30 2008 2007		
(in millions)							
(Loss) income statement:							
Net interest income	\$	1,169	\$	923	\$ 3,220	\$	2,520
Provision for credit losses		(658)		(402)	(1,762)		(871)
Total other revenues		275		374	348		1,785
Total operating expenses		(974)		(891)	(2,728)		(2,612)
(Loss) income before income tax		(188)		4	(922)		822
expense							
Income tax benefit (expense)		52		17	334		(237)
Net (loss) income	\$	(136)	\$	21	\$ (588)	\$	585
Balances at period end:							
Loans, net of allowance	\$	89,601	\$	91,608			
Total assets	Ψ	186,583	Ψ	185,421			
Total tangible assets		183,902		182,663			
Total deposits		121,786		110,747			
Common shareholder's equity		10,243		10,323			
Tangible common shareholder's equity		8,291		7,916			
Total shareholders' equity		11,808		12,013			
Selected financial ratios:							
Total shareholders' equity to total		6.33 %		6.48 %			
assets, at period end		0.55 /0		0.10 /6			
Tangible common shareholder's equity		4.51 %		4.33 %			
to total							
tangible assets, at period end							
Rate of return on average (1):		(24) ~		0.5 ~	(40) ~		4= ~
Total assets		(.31)%		.05 %	(.43)%		.47 %
Total common		(5.95)		(.15)	(8.53)		6.51
shareholder's equity							
Net interest margin to average (1):							
Earning assets		3.14 %		2.53 %	2.86 %		2.37 %
Total assets		2.66		2.14	2.39		2.02
Average total shareholders' equity to		6.75 %		6.99 %	6.44 %		7.24 %
average total							
assets (1)		· ·		60.60			60.6 -
Efficiency ratio (1)		67.44		68.69	76.44		60.67

⁽¹⁾ Selected financial ratios are defined in the Glossary of Terms beginning on page 91 of HUSI's 2007 Form

10-K.

BASIS OF REPORTING

HUSI's consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

Because HSBC reports results in accordance with IFRSs and IFRSs are used in measuring and rewarding performance of employees, HUSI management also separately monitors net income under IFRSs (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measurement). The following table reconciles HUSI's net income on a U.S. GAAP basis to net income on an IFRSs basis.

	Three months ended September 30				Nine months ended September 30			
		2008		2007		2008		2007
(in millions)								
Net (loss) income – U.S. GAAP basis	\$	(136)	\$	21	\$	(588)	\$	585
Adjustments, net of tax:								
Unquoted equity securities		(24)		(15)		(56)		29
Fair value option		97		85		97		49
Derivatives		6		1		11		1
Deferred loan origination		2		2		6		12
costs and fees								
Loan impairment		2		2		1		1
Property		1		2		7		10
Pension costs		-		2		3		5
Servicing assets		1		9		2		(12)
Securities		61		-		61		-
Goodwill		6		-		6		-
Other		(13)		(10)		(19)		(12)
Total adjustments, net of tax		139		78		119		83
Net (loss) income – IFRSs basis	\$	3	\$	99	\$	(469)	\$	668

A summary of the significant differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs as they impact HUSI's results are presented below:

Unquoted equity securities – Under IFRSs, equity securities which are not quoted on a recognized exchange (MasterCard Class B shares & Visa Class B shares), but for which fair value can be reliably measured, are required to be measured at fair value. Securities measured at fair value under IFRSs are classified as either available for sale securities, with changes in fair value recognized in shareholders' equity, or as trading securities, with changes in fair value recognized in income. Under U.S. GAAP, equity securities that are not quoted on a recognized exchange are not considered to have a readily determinable fair value and are required to be measured at cost, less any provisions for known impairment, in other assets.

Fair value option – Reflects the impact of applying the fair value option under IFRSs to certain debt instruments issued, and includes an adjustment of the initial valuation of the debt instruments. Prior to January 1, 2008, the debt was accounted for at amortized cost under U.S. GAAP. This difference was eliminated upon the adoption of fair value option under U.S. GAAP on January 1, 2008. Also under IFRSs, net interest income includes the interest element for derivatives which corresponds to debt designated at fair value. For U.S. GAAP, this is included in the gain (loss) on instruments at fair value and related derivatives, which is a component of other revenues.

Certain Leverage Acquisition Finance (LAF) Loans were classified as "Trading Assets" for IFRSs and to be consistent, an irrevocable fair value option was elected on these loans under U.S. GAAP on January 1, 2008. These loans were classified to "loans and advances" as of July 1, 2008 under IFRSs pursuant to an amendment to IAS 39. Under U.S. GAAP, these loans are classified "held for sale" and carried at fair value due to the irrevocable nature of the fair value option.

Derivatives – Effective January 1, 2008, U.S. GAAP removed the observability requirement of valuation inputs to recognize the difference between transaction price and fair value as Day 1 profit and loss impacts and permits recognition upfront in the Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income. Under IFRSs, recognition is permissible only if the inputs used in calculating fair value are based on observable inputs. If the inputs are not observable, profit and loss is deferred and is recognized 1) over the period of contract, 2) when the data becomes observable, or 3) when the contract is settled. In the current period this has caused the net income under U.S. GAAP to be higher than under IFRSs.

Deferred loan origination costs and fees – Under IFRSs, loan origination costs deferrals are more stringent and result in lower costs being deferred than permitted under U.S. GAAP. In addition, all deferred loan origination fees, costs and loan premiums must be recognized based on the expected life of the receivables under IFRSs as part of the effective interest calculation while under U.S. GAAP they may be recognized on either a contractual or expected life basis.

Loan impairment – IFRSs requires a discounted cash flow methodology for estimating impairment on pools of homogeneous customer loans which requires the incorporation of the time value of money relating to recovery estimates. Also under IFRSs, future recoveries on charged-off loans are accrued for on a discounted basis and a recovery asset is recorded. Subsequent recoveries are recorded to earnings under U.S. GAAP, but are adjusted against the recovery asset under IFRSs. Interest is recorded based on collectability under IFRSs.

As discussed above, under U.S. GAAP the credit risk component of the lower of cost or fair value adjustment related to the transfer of receivables to held for sale is recorded in the statement of income (loss) as provision for credit losses. There is no similar requirement under IFRSs.

Property – Under IFRSs, the value of property held for own use reflects revaluation surpluses recorded prior to January 1, 2004. Consequently, the values of tangible fixed assets and shareholders' equity are lower under U.S. GAAP than under IFRSs. There is a correspondingly lower depreciation charge and higher net income as well as higher gains (or smaller losses) on the disposal of fixed assets under U.S. GAAP. For investment properties, net income under U.S. GAAP does not reflect the unrealized gain or loss recorded under IFRSs for the period.

Pension costs – Net income under U.S. GAAP is lower than under IFRSs as a result of the amortization of the amount by which actuarial losses exceed gains beyond the 10 percent "corridor".

Servicing assets – Under IAS 38, servicing assets are initially recorded on the balance sheet at cost and amortized over the projected life of the assets.

Servicing assets are periodically tested for impairment with impairment adjustments charged against current earnings. Under U.S. GAAP, servicing assets are initially recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. All subsequent adjustments to fair value are reflected in current period earnings.

Securities- Under IFRSs, securities include HSBC shares held for stock plans at fair value.

Some securities were reclassified from "trading assets" to "loans and receivables" as of July 1, 2008 under IFRSs pursuant to an amendment to IAS 39. These securities are classified as "trading assets" under U.S. GAAP.

Goodwill – IFRS s and U.S. GAAP require goodwill to be tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that goodwill may be impaired. However, goodwill was amortized for IFRSs until 2005, and was amortized under U.S. GAAP until 2002, which resulted in a lower carrying amount of goodwill under IFRSs. During the third quarter of 2008, HUSI performed an interim goodwill impairment test and determined that goodwill was impaired for the Residential Mortgage reporting unit, which is part of the PFS segment. Due to the lower carrying amount under IFRSs, the impact of the write-off was I ower than under U.S. GAAP.

Other – 2008 includes the impact of differences between U. S. GAAP and IFRSs associated with: a) a timing difference with the recognition of \$14 million (after tax) of other-than-temporary impairment on s ecurities which was recognized for U. S. GAAP in the second quarter but for IFRSs in the third quarter; and b) the adoption of SFAS No. 157 for U. S. GAAP which resulted in the recognition of \$10 million of net income relating to structured products. Other also includes the net impact of certain other adjustments which represent differences between U. S. GAAP and IFRSs, which were not individually material.

BALANCE SHEET REVIEW

HUSI utilizes borrowings from various sources to fund balance sheet growth, to meet cash and capital needs, and to fund investments in subsidiaries. Balance sheet totals at September 30, 2008, and movements in comparison with prior periods, are summarized in the following table.

	Increase (Decrease) from						
	September 30,	December 31	, 2007	September 30	, 2007		
	2008	Amount	%	Amount	%		
(\$ in millions)							
Period end assets:							
Short-term investments	\$ 24,735	\$ 2,750	13	\$ 2,954	14		
Loans, net	89,601	(4,811)	(5)	(2,007)	(2)		
Trading assets	34,838	(2,198)	(6)	3,256	10		
Securities available for sale and securities held to maturity	23,066	213	1	(1,489)	(6)		
Other assets	14,343	2,256	19	(1,552)	(10)		
	\$ 186,583	\$ (1,790)	(1)	\$ 1,162	1		
Funding sources:							
Total deposits	\$ 121,786	\$ 5,616	5	\$ 11,039	10		
Trading liabilities	16,347	94	1	(472)	(3)		
Short-term borrowings	8,784	(3,048)	(26)	(620)	(7)		
All other liabilities	6,400	1,787	39	(1,907)	(23)		
Long-term debt	21,458	(6,810)	(24)	(6,673)	(24)		
Shareholders' equi	ty 11,808	571	5	(205)	(2)		
	\$ 186,583	\$ (1,790)	(1)	\$ 1,162	1		

Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements. These investments are typically highly liquid and may fluctuate considerably between reporting periods.

Loans, Net

Loan balances at September 30, 2008, and movements in comparison with prior periods, are summarized in the following table.

Increase (Decrease) from September 30, December 31, 2007 September 30, 2007

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

	2008	Amount	%	Amount	%
(\$ in millions)					
Total commercial loans	\$ 42,273	\$ 3,473	9	\$ 6,827	19
Consumer loans:					
Residential mortgages	28,943	(6,437)	(18)	(7,786)	(21)
Credit card receivables:					
Private label	16,320	(1,107)	(6)	(19)	-
MasterCard/Visa	1,991	175	10	452	29
Other consumer	2,133	(270)	(11)	(480)	(18)
Total consumer loans	49,387	(7,639)	(13)	(7,833)	(14)
Total loans	91,660	(4,166)	(4)	(1,006)	(1)
Allowance for credit losses	2,059	645	46	1,001	95
Loans, net	\$ 89,601	\$ (4,811)	(5)	\$ (2,007)	(2)

Increased commercial loan balances since December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007 were partly due to expansion of middle market activities, as well as an increase in previously unfunded commitments.

Residential mortgage loans have decreased since December 31, 2007, primarily as a result of the sale of approximately \$4 billion of prime adjustable rate residential mortgage loans in May 2008 and the sale of approximately \$1 billion of prime adjustable and fixed rate residential mortgage loans in September 2008. Additionally, as a result of balance sheet initiatives to reduce prepayment risk and improve HBUS's structural liquidity, HUSI sells a majority of its residential loan originations through the secondary markets and has allowed the existing loan portfolio to run off, resulting in reductions in loan balances throughout 2007 and the first nine months of 2008.

Other consumer loans have decreased primarily due to the discontinuation of originations of indirect auto financing loans and student loans.

Higher MasterCard/Visa receivable balances from December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007 are largely attributable to the expansion of the co-brand MasterCard/Visa portfolio. Lower balances related to private label credit cards from December 31, 2007 are primarily due to the tightening of underwriting criteria and normal seasonal run off.

Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities balances at September 30, 2008, and movements in comparison with prior periods, are summarized in the following table.

			Increase (Decrease) from							
	Septer	nber 30,	De	cember 31	, 2007	September 30, 2		0, 2007		
		2008	A	mount	%	\mathbf{A}	mount	%		
(\$ in millions)										
Trading assets:										
Securities (1)	\$	13,131	\$	(406)	(3)	\$	(530)	(4)		
Precious metals		5,923		(2,865)	(33)		1,264	27		
Derivatives		15,784		1,073	7		2,522	19		
	\$	34,838	\$	(2,198)	(6)	\$	3,256	10		
Trading liabilities:										
Securities sold, not yet	\$	1,912	\$	468	32	\$	108	6		
purchased										
Payables for precious		1,593		70	5		(221)	(12)		
metals										
Derivatives		12,842		(444)	(3)		(359)	(3)		
	\$	16,347	\$	94	1	\$	(472)	(3)		

(1) Includes U.S. Treasury securities, securities issued and guaranteed by U.S. Government agencies and U.S. Government sponsored enterprises, other asset backed securities, corporate bonds and debt securities.

Decreased securities balances from both September 30, 2007 and December 31, 2007 primarily resulted from sales and write-downs on securities, as spreads have continued to widen and underlying collateral has continued to deteriorate.

Higher precious metals balances at September 30, 2008, as compared to September 30, 2007 were primarily due to higher inventories. Balances from December 31, 2007 decreased significantly during the third quarter primarily as a result of lower market prices for most precious metals especially in the third quarter of 2008.

Changes in derivative assets and liabilities balances from September 30, 2007 and December 31, 2007 were impacted by increased values on various derivative products including credit default swaps, foreign currency forward contracts and total return swaps as a result of movements in credit spreads and currency curves.

Securities Available for Sale and Securities Held to Maturity

Securities balances increased marginally from December 31, 2007 and decreased from September 30, 2007 due to balance sheet management activities directed towards the management of funding and interest rate risk management.

Deposits

Deposit balances by major depositor categories at September 30, 2008, and movements in comparison with prior periods, are summarized in the following table.

			Increase (Decrease) from							
	Septer	nber 30,	December 31	1, 2007	September 30	, 2007				
		2008	Amount	%	Amount	%				
(\$ in millions)										
Individuals	\$	52,570	\$ 4,819	10	\$ 4,231	9				
Partnerships and corporations		45,832	2,172	5	5,021	12				
Domestic and foreign banks		18,460	(1,288)	(7)	1,235	7				
U.S. Government, states and politica subdivisions	1	1,682	(779)	(32)	(610)	(27)				
Foreign government and official		3,242	692	27	1,162	56				
institutions										
Total deposits	\$	121,786	\$ 5,616	5	\$ 11,039	10				
Total core deposits (1)	\$	33,054	\$ 2,934	10	\$ 3,292	11				

(1) HUSI monitors "core deposits" as a key measure for assessing results of its core banking network. Core deposits generally include all domestic demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with balances not exceeding \$100,000.

Increased deposit balances are as a result of growth in the online savings customer base, expansion of the core retail banking business and growth in commercial deposits.

HUSI has a growth strategy for its core domestic banking network, which includes building deposits across multiple geographic markets, channels and customer segments and utilizing multiple delivery systems. This strategy includes various initiatives:

- deployment of new personal and business checking and savings products, with an emphasis on relationship based products that offer more competitive pricing;
- · internet based products offered through the HSBC Direct website, particularly Online Savings accounts. The Online Savings account was launched in 2005 and has grown to \$15.1 billion at September 30, 2008;
- · retail branch expansion in existing markets;
- · improved delivery systems, including internet, call center and ATM capabilities;
- · refined marketing and customer analytics for the affluent customer population; and

retention.

refined marketing and customer analytics to drive increased utilization of products and improve customer

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Interest Income

An analysis of consolidated average balances and interest rates on a taxable equivalent basis is presented on pages 101-102 of this Form 10-Q. Significant components of HUSI's net interest margin are summarized in the following table.

	Three months September		Nine months ended September 30		
	2008	2007	2008	2007	
Yield on total earning assets	5.44 %	6.47 %	5.46 %	6.28 %	
Rate paid on interest bearing liabilities	2.60	4.41	2.91	4.40	
Interest rate spread	2.84	2.06	2.55	1.88	
Benefit from net non-interest earning or paying funds	.30	.47	.31	.49	
Net interest margin to earning assets (1)	3.14 %	2.53 %	2.86 %	2.37 %	

(1) Selected financial ratios are defined in the Glossary of Terms beginning on pages 91-92 of HUSI's 2007 Form 10-K.

Significant trends affecting the comparability of 2008 and 2007 net interest income and interest rate spread are summarized in the following table. Net interest income in the table is presented on a taxable equivalent basis.

			nths ended nber 30 Interest Rate		onths ended ember 30 Interest Rate	
(\$ in millions)			Spread		Spread	
(\$ in millions) Net interest income/interest rate spread from	\$	930	2.06 %	\$ 2,541	1.88 %	
prior year						
Increase (decrease) in net interest						
income						
associated with:						
Trading related activities (1)		107		245		
Balance sheet management activities (2)		164		490		
Private label and co-brand credit cards		18		213		

Residential mortgage	4		(11)	
banking				
Deposits	(115)		(250)	
Other activity	68		14	
Net interest income/interest rate spread	\$ 1,176	2.84 %	\$ 3,242	2.56 %
for				
current year				

- (1) Refer to commentary regarding trading (loss) revenue, beginning on page 55 of this Form 10-Q.
- (2) Represents HUSI's activities to manage interest rate risk associated with the repricing characteristics of balance sheet assets and liabilities. Interest rate risk, and HUSI's approach to manage such risk, are described beginning on page 94 of this Form 10-Q.

Trading Related Activities

Net interest income for trading related activities increased primarily due to decreased funding costs, as well as an increase in average trading assets.

Balance Sheet Management Activities

Higher net interest income from balance sheet management activities was primarily due to positions taken in expectation of decreased short term funding rates.

Private Label and Co-Brand Credit Cards

Higher net interest income on private label and co-brand credit cards for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 as compared to the same 2007 period resulted from:

- · lower funding costs;
- · lower promotional balances; and
- · lower amortization of premiums on the initial purchase as well as lower daily premiums.

Net interest income in the third quarter of 2007 includes recognition of \$55 million in interest income as the result of the adoption of a more robust income recognition methodology on private label credit card promotional transactions.

Residential Mortgage Banking

Higher net interest income for the third quarter of 2008 resulted from reduced funding costs due to lower short term rates as well as reduced deferred cost amortization on lower average residential mortgage loan outstandings. The increase was offset by lower interest margins on lower average residential loan outstandings. During the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, HUSI continued to sell the majority of new loan originations to government sponsored enterprises and private investors and allow existing loans to runoff. The held loan portfolio is expected to continue to decline for the remainder of 2008 as a result of this initiative.

Lower net interest income for the first nine months of 2008 resulted from lower average residential loan outstandings. Additionally, HUSI completed the sale of approximately \$4 billion of prime mortgage loans to a third party in May 2008.

Deposits

Lower net interest income from deposits was primarily due to spread compression on core banking activities in the PFS and CMB business segments. These segments have been affected by falling interest rates, growth in customer deposits in higher yielding deposit products such as online savings and premier investor accounts and a more competitive retail market.

Other Activity

Higher net interest income from other activity is related to certain loans and loans held for sale, which has increased in the third quarter and year to date periods primarily due to lower funding rates and higher interest earned on loans held for sale as adverse market conditions have resulted in these loans being held for longer periods.

Provision for Credit Losses

The provision for credit losses associated with various loan portfolios is summarized in the following table.

	2008	2007	An	Increase	%
(\$ in millions)	2000	2007	All	iount	70
Three months ended September 30:					
Commercial	\$ 124	\$ 57	\$	67	118
Consumer:					
Residential mortgages	104	24		80	333
Credit card receivables	403	296		107	36
Other consumer	27	25		2	8
Total consumer	534	345		189	55
Total provision for credit losses	\$ 658	\$ 402	\$	256	64
Nine months ended September 30:					
Commercial	\$ 265	\$ 122	\$	143	117
Consumer:					
Residential mortgages	345	48		297	619
Credit card receivables	1,082	641		441	69
Other consumer	70	60		10	17
Total consumer	1,497	749		748	100
Total provision for credit losses	\$ 1,762	\$ 871	\$	891	102

Provision expense associated with credit card receivables increased \$107 million in the third quarter and \$441 million in the first nine months of 2008 as compared with the corresponding 2007 periods. This primarily resulted from higher delinquencies and charge offs within the private label and co-brand credit card portfolios due to higher levels of personal bankruptcy filings and the impact from a continued weakening of the U.S. economy.

Provision expense on residential mortgages increased \$80 million in the third quarter and \$297 million in the first nine months of 2008 as compared with the corresponding 2007 periods. The increase was attributable to increased delinquencies and charge offs within the Home Equity Line of Credit (HELOC) and Home Equity Loan portfolios, primarily due to the continued deterioration in real estate values in certain markets. In addition, delinquencies in the prime residential first mortgage loans have continued to worsen in the third quarter of 2008, primarily due to continued deterioration in the housing markets. Also contributing to this increase to a lesser extent is the portfolio of higher quality nonconforming residential mortgage loans which HUSI purchased from HSBC Finance Corporation (the HMS portfolio).

Commercial loan provision expense increased \$67 million in the third quarter of 2008 and \$143 million in the first nine months of 2008 as compared with the corresponding 2007 periods. Provisions on commercial real estate and middle market portfolios also increased as a result of customer downgrades due to deteriorating economic conditions.

See "Credit Quality" for additional commentary on the allowance for credit losses associated with HUSI's various loan portfolios.

Other Revenues

Decreased revenue for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008, was mostly driven by reduced liquidity and higher volatility in the credit and sub-prime markets which led to substantial valuation losses and trading losses being recorded. This was partially offset by increased credit card fees for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and trust income at both periods.

The components of other revenues are summarized in the following tables.

Three months of	nded September 30		2008		2007	rease (Do nount	ecrease) %
(\$ in millions)	ided September 30	ф		ф			
Credit card fees		\$	215	\$	220	\$ (5)	(2)
Other fees and co	ommissions		189		203	(14)	(7)
Trust income			44		26	18	69
Trading (loss) rev	venues		(122)		28	(150)	*
Securities (loss) §	gain, net		(178)		59	(237)	*
HSBC affiliate in	come:						
	Fees and commissions		28		29	(1)	(3)
	Other affiliate income		5		17	(12)	(71)
			33		46	(13)	(28)
Residential mortg	gage banking revenue		13		6	7	117
Gain on instrume (1)	nts at fair value and related derivatives		111		-	111	*
Other loss:							
	Valuation of loans held for sale		(87)		(220)	133	60
	Insurance		11		9	2	22
	Earnings from equity investments		11		22	(11)	(50)
	Miscellaneous income (loss)		35		(25)	60	*
			(30)		(214)	184	86
Total other reven	ues	\$	275	\$	374	\$ (99)	(26)

⁽¹⁾ Includes gains and losses associated with financial instruments elected to be measured at fair value under SFAS 159, and the associated economically hedging derivatives. Refer to Note 16, "Fair Value Option" of the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

^{*} Not meaningful.

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

						Increase (Decrease)		
	ded September 30		2008		2007	Am	Amount	
(\$ in millions) Credit card fees		\$	653	\$	580	\$	73	13
Other fees and co	ommissions		529		542		(13)	(2)
Trust income			114		73		41	56
Trading (loss) re	venues		(947)		477	(1	1,424)	*
Securities (loss)	gains, net		(128)		96		(224)	*
HSBC affiliate in	acome:							
	Fees and commissions		105		103		2	2
	Other affiliate income		14		33		(19)	(58)
			119		136		(17)	(13)
Residential morts	gage banking revenue		64		69		(5)	(7)
Gain on instrume	ents at fair value and related derivatives		121		-		121	*
Other loss:								
	Valuation of loans held for sale		(331)		(296)		(35)	(12)
	Insurance		29		29		-	-
	Earnings from equity investments		49		63		(14)	(22)
	Miscellaneous income		76		16		60	*
			(177)		(188)		11	6
Total other reven	ues	\$	348	\$	1,785	\$ (1,437)	(81)

Credit Card Fees

Lower credit card fees for the three months ended September 30, 2008 as compared to the same 2007 period were primarily due to a \$10 million write down of a partner signing bonus due to the retailer filing Chapter 11 bankruptcy in August 2008, partially offset by higher late fees from increased delinquencies.

Higher credit card fees during the nine months ended September 30, 2008 as compared to the corresponding 2007 period were primarily due to higher late fees from increased delinquencies.

Other Fees and Commissions

⁽¹⁾ Includes gains and losses associated with financial instruments elected to be measured at fair value under SFAS 159, and the associated economically hedging derivatives. Refer to Note 16, "Fair Value Option" of the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

^{*} Not meaningful.

Other fee-based income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 as compared to the corresponding 2007 periods was impacted by the sale of the Wealth and Tax Advisory Services (WTAS) subsidiary in December 2007, which contributed \$28 million and \$80 million of fee based income in the third quarter and first nine months of 2007, respectively. Excluding this, other fee based income increased in both periods due to higher customer referral fees, commercial loan commitment fees, loan syndication fees and fees generated by the Payments and Cash Management business.

Trust Income

Higher trust income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 as compared to the corresponding 2007 periods is due to increased activity in the Asset Management business within the Global Banking and Market segment.

Trading (Loss) Revenue

Trading revenue is generated by HUSI's participation in the foreign exchange, credit derivative and precious metal markets; from trading derivative contracts, including interest rate swaps and options; from trading securities; and as a result of certain residential mortgage banking activities.

The following table presents trading related (loss) revenue by business. The data in the table includes net interest income earned on trading instruments, as well as an allocation of the funding benefit or cost associated with the trading positions. The trading related net interest income (loss) component is included in net interest income on the Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income. Trading revenues related to the mortgage banking business are included in residential mortgage banking revenue.

					Increase (Decrease)			
		2008	2007		Amount		%	
(\$ in millions)								
Three months ended	_							
Trading (loss) revenue		\$ (122)	\$	28	\$	(150)	*	
Net interest income (loss)		89		(18)		107	*	
Trading related (loss) revenue		\$ (33)	\$	10	\$	(43)	*	
Business:								
Deri	vatives	\$ (40)	\$	(57)	\$	17	30	
Trea	sury (primarily securities)	(83)		(28)		(55)	(196)	
Fore	ign exchange and banknotes	130		77		53	69	
Prec	ious metals	1		7		(6)	(86)	
Othe	r trading	(41)		11		52	*	
Trading related (loss) revenue		\$ (33)	\$	10	\$	(43)	*	
Nine months ended S	eptember 30:							
Trading (loss) revenue		\$ (947)	\$	477	\$	(1,424)	*	
Net interest income (loss)		176		(69)		245	*	
Trading related (loss) revenue		\$ (771)	\$	408	\$	(1,179)	*	
Business:								
Deri	vatives	\$ (902)	\$	233	\$	(1,135)	*	
Trea	sury (primarily securities)	(213)		(33)		(180)	*	
	ign exchange and banknotes	337		191		146	76	
Prec	ious metals	44		8		36	*	
Other trading		(37)		9		(46)	*	
Trading related (loss) revenue		\$ (771)	\$	408	\$	(1,179)	*	

* Not meaningful.

Trading (loss) revenue for the third quarter and in particular the first nine months of 2008 was significantly affected by reduced liquidity, widening spreads and higher volatility in the credit markets, however the magnitude of the decrease which drove the significant year to date decline in trading revenue slowed in the third quarter of 2008.

Trading losses related to derivatives increased substantially during the first nine months of 2008, primarily due to fair value adjustments due to counterparty credit reserves on credit derivatives. Most notably, the continued downgrades in credit ratings of monoline insurance companies have resulted in fair value adjustments on derivative contracts with these entities due to counterparty credit risk exposures. As of September 30, 2008, this exposure totaled \$2,058 million. HUSI recorded write downs on contracts with monoline insurance companies of approximately \$155 million and \$957 million in the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, respectively, which reflects the decreased credit quality of these entities and concerns over their ability to perform at this date. Additionally, losses on other structured credit products of \$144 million was recorded for the first nine months of 2008.

Trading losses related to securities of \$83 million in the third quarter and \$212 million for the first nine months of 2008 increased as compared with the corresponding 2007 periods, primarily due to credit spreads widening and write downs on asset backed securities held for trading purposes.

Partially offsetting the above noted declines in trading revenues in the third quarter of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 period, the foreign exchange business continued to contribute increased revenues as a result of ongoing market volatility and increased trading volume. In addition, the precious metals and emerging markets businesses have contributed to an increase in trading revenues in the year to date period and, during the second quarter of 2008, HUSI sold MasterCard B shares resulting in trading revenue of \$134 million.

Other trading losses primarily relate to losses on corporate bonds which is attributable to increased credit risk on these bonds.

Securities (Loss) Gain, Net

HUSI maintains various securities portfolios as part of its overall balance sheet diversification, risk and liquidity management strategies. The following table summarizes net Securities (loss) gain resulting from various strategies.

	Three months ended September 30 2008 2007					Nine months ended September 30 2008 2007				
(in millions)					_					
Sale of MasterCard or Visa Class B	\$	-	\$	55	\$	83	\$	55		
Shares										
Balance sheet diversity and reduction		-		-		1		9		
of risk										
Reduction of Latin American		-		3		-		23		
investment exposure										
Sales on equity investments to an		-		-		-		9		
HSBC affiliate (1)										
Other-than-temporarily impaired	(18	0)		-	((204)		-		
available for sale										
securities (2)		_								
Other		2		1		(8)		-		
Securities (loss) gain, net	\$ (17	8)	\$	59	\$	(128)	\$	96		

⁽¹⁾ Represents net gains realized from transfers of various available for sale securities, other non-marketable securities and equity investments as part of a strategy to consolidate certain investments into common HSBC entities.

(2) During the nine months ended September 30, 2008, a single asset backed security and the preferred equity securities of FNMA were determined to be other-than-temporarily impaired pursuant to SFAS No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities".

HSBC Affiliate Income

Affiliate fees and commissions were relatively flat for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 periods. The year to date period reflects higher customer referral fees and other fees received from other HSBC affiliates primarily in the first quarter of 2008, which was partially offset by a decrease in gains related to lower volumes of tax refund anticipation loan originations of \$10 million.

Other affiliate income decreased for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 periods primarily due to the sale of residential mortgage loans to HMUS which resulted in gains of \$14 million and \$22 million in the third quarter and first nine months of 2007, respectively.

Residential Mortgage Banking Revenue

The following tables present the components of residential mortgage banking revenue. Net interest income includes interest earned/paid on assets and liabilities of the residential mortgage banking business, as well as the funding cost or benefit associated with these balances. The net interest income component in the table below reflects actual interest earned, net of cost of funds, and adjusted for corporate transfer pricing.

					Increase (Decrease)			
Three months ended September 30		2008	2007		Amount		%	
(\$ in millions)								
Net interest income	\$	63	\$	59	\$	4	7	
Servicing related income:								
Servicing fee income		34		29		5	17	
Changes in fair value of MSRs due to:								
Changes in valuation inputs or		(39)		(28)		(11)	(39)	
assumptions								
used in valuation model								
Realization of cash flows		(16)		(14)		(2)	(14)	
Trading – Derivative instruments used to offset		36		19		17	89	
changes in value of MSRs								
		15		6		9	150	
Originations and sales related income:								
Losses on sales of residential mortgages		(6)		(6)		-	-	
Other mortgage income		4		6		(2)	(33)	
Total residential mortgage banking revenue included		13		6		7	117	
in other revenues								
Total residential mortgage banking related revenue	\$	76	\$	65	\$	11	17	
Nine months ended September 30 (\$ in millions)	,	2008		2007	Incre Ame		ecrease) %	
Net interest income	\$	188	\$	199	\$	(11)	(6)	
Servicing related income:	Ψ	100	Ψ	1,,,	Ψ	(11)	(0)	
Servicing fee income		96		85		11	13	
Changes in fair value of MSRs due to:							_	
Changes in valuation inputs or		(14)		35		(49)	(140)	
assumptions		,					(-)	
used in valuation model								
Realization of cash flows		(66)		(60)		(6)	(10)	
Trading – Derivative instruments used to offset		6		(34)		40	118	
changes in value of MSRs				· /				
S		22		26		(4)	(15)	
Originations and sales related income:							` '	
Gains on sales of residential mortgages		29		23		6	26	
Other mortgage income		13		20		(7)	(35)	
Total residential mortgage banking revenue included		64		69		(5)	(7)	
in other revenues							. ,	

Total residential mortgage banking related revenue \$ 252 \$ 268 \$ (16)

Net Interest Income

Increased net interest income for the third quarter of 2008 resulted from reduced funding costs due to lower short term rates as well as reduced deferred cost amortization on lower average residential mortgage loan outstandings. The increase was partially offset by lower interest margins on lower average residential loan outstandings. During the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, HUSI continued to sell the majority of new loan originations to government sponsored enterprises and private investors and allow existing loans to runoff. The held loan portfolio is expected to continue to decline for the remainder of 2008 as a result of this initiative.

Decreased net interest income for the first nine months of 2008 resulted from lower average residential loan outstandings. Additionally, HUSI completed the sale of approximately \$4 billion of prime mortgage loans to a third party in May 2008.

Servicing Related Income

Higher servicing fee income for the third quarter and the first nine months of 2008 resulted from a higher volume of loans included within the average serviced loans portfolio, as HUSI has continued to sell the majority of new loan originations to government sponsored enterprises and sold approximately \$4 billion in residential mortgage loans during May 2008, where HUSI retains servicing rights for the loans sold. The average serviced loans portfolio increased approximately 13% in the first nine months of 2008.

The increased serviced loans portfolio, and its positive impact on service fee income, was partially offset by unfavorable net hedged MSR performance in the first nine months of 2008 primarily from increased market volatility in the mortgage market.

Originations and Sales Related Income

Originations and sales related income increased for the nine months ended September 30, 2008, as compared to the same 2007 period, however, losses were recognized in both the third quarter of 2008 and third quarter of 2007. Loan sales in September 2008 of approximately \$1 billion, as well as a sale in May 2008 of approximately \$4 billion resulted in a loss of \$4.5 million in the third quarter of 2008 and a gain of \$13.5 million in the second quarter of 2008. HUSI retained the servicing rights in relation to these mortgages upon sale. Additionally, HUSI continued to sell the majority of new loan originations to government sponsored enterprises and private investors resulting in losses in the third quarter but an overall gain in 2008.

Gain on Instruments at Fair Value and Related Derivatives

HUSI adopted SFAS 159 (refer to Note 16, "Fair Value Option" of the consolidated financial statements for additional information) on January 1, 2008 and has elected to apply the fair value option to commercial leveraged acquisition finance loans, unfunded commitments, certain fixed rate debt issuances and all structured notes and structured deposits which contain embedded derivatives and were issued after January 1, 2006. HUSI also uses derivatives to economically hedge the interest rate risk associated with certain financial instruments for which fair value has been elected. For the three months ended September 30, 2008, HUSI recognized a gain of \$148 million representing a net change in fair value of all instruments indicated above, offset by a loss of \$37 million on the related derivatives. For the nine months ended September 30, 2008, a gain of \$321 million was recorded on these instruments, offset by a loss of \$200 million on the related derivatives.

Other (Loss)

The decrease in other loss for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 periods, is primarily due to valuation losses on leveraged acquisition finance loans being included as part of "Valuations of loans held for sale" during 2007. Beginning January 1, 2008, HUSI elected to carry these loans at fair value under SFAS 159 and records all gains/losses under "Gain on instruments at fair value and related derivatives". Write downs on loans held for sale, excluding leveraged acquisition finance loans, were lower in the third quarter of 2008 as compared to the same 2007 period. Also contributing to this decrease for both periods is higher miscellaneous income, primarily due to increased valuations on credit default swaps used to economically hedge credit exposures.

Valuation on Loans Held for Sale

Deterioration in the U.S. mortgage markets have resulted in negative valuation adjustments on loans held for sale in the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 and 2007. Valuations on loans held for sale relate to residential mortgage loans purchased from HSBC affiliates and third parties with the intent of securitization or sale. Included in this portfolio is approximately \$1.4 billion of sub-prime residential mortgage loans as of September 30, 2008. Loans held for sale are recorded by HUSI at the lower of their aggregate cost or market value, with adjustments to market value being recorded as a valuation allowance. Overall weakness and illiquidity in the U.S. residential mortgage market, and specifically the sub-prime market, resulted in valuation adjustments totaling \$87 million and \$331 million being recorded on these loans in the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared with \$145 million and \$221 million during the same time periods of the previous year. Valuations on residential mortgage loans originated by HUSI are recorded as a component of residential mortgage banking revenue in the consolidated statement of (loss) income.

Operating Expenses

The components of operating expenses are summarized in the following tables.

Three months ended September 30 (\$ in millions)		2008		2007	Increase (Dec Amount		erease) %	
Salaries and employee benefits	\$	329	\$	337	\$	(8)	(2)	
Occupancy expense, net		72		63		9	14	
Support services from HSBC affiliates: Fees paid to HSBC Finance Corporation for loan servicing and other administrative support		116		115		1	1	
Fees paid to HMUS		54		61		(7)	(11)	
Fees paid to HTSU for technology		61		63		(2)	(3)	
services		<i>(</i> 0		<i>5</i> 1		10	25	
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates		69		51		18	35	
Total support services from HSBC affiliates		300		290		10	3	
Other expenses:								
Equipment and software		11		13		(2)	(15)	
Marketing		39		38		1	3	
Outside services		35		34		1	3	
Professional fees		16		23		(7)	(30)	
Telecommunications		5		5		-	-	
Postage, printing and office supplies		9		9		-	-	
Off-balance sheet credit		(5)		3		(8)	*	
reserves								
FDIC assessment fees		20		2		18	*	
Goodwill impairment (1)		54		-		54	*	

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

Miscellaneous	89		74	15	20
Total other expenses	273		201	72	36
Total operating expenses	\$ 974	\$	891	\$ 83	9
Personnel - average number	11,743	12	2,329	(586)	(5)
Efficiency ratio	67.44 %	ϵ	68.69 %		

⁽¹⁾ Refer to Note 7, "Goodwill" of the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

					Increase (Decrease)		
Nine months ended September 30 (\$ in millions) Salaries and employee benefits		2008		2007	Amount		%
		971	\$	1,016	\$	(45)	(4)
Occupancy expense, net		201		181		20	11
Support services from HSBC affiliates: Fees paid to HSBC Finance Corporation for loan servicing and other administrative support		353		347		6	2
Fees paid to HMUS		166		192		(26)	(14)
Fees paid to HTSU for technology services	y	187		185		2	1
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates	S	185		134		51	38
Total support services from HSBO affiliates	C	891		858		33	4
Other expenses:							
Equipment and software		33		42		(9)	(21)
Marketing		122		108		14	13
Outside services		89		101		(12)	(12)
Professional fees		53		56		(3)	(5)
Telecommunications		14		15		(1)	(7)
Postage, printing and office supplies		27		27		-	-
Off-balance sheet credit reserves		49		(5)		54	*
FDIC assessment fees		34		7		27	*
Goodwill impairment (1)		54		_		54	*
Miscellaneous		190		206		(16)	(8)
Total other expenses		665		557		108	19
Total operating expenses	\$	2,728	\$	2,612	\$	116	4
Personnel - average number		11,805		12,324		(519)	(4)
Efficiency ratio		76.44 %		60.67 %			

^{*} Not meaningful.

Salaries and Employee Benefits

Decreased salaries and employee benefits expense for the three months and nine months ending September 30, 2008, as compared to the same 2007 periods, are mainly due to lower headcount including the impact of global resourcing initiatives undertaken by management. Refer to Support Services from HSBC Affiliates below. Partially offsetting this decrease is higher fringe benefits expense in the current quarter of approximately \$19 million resulting from a review of HUSI's employee benefit accruals and increased severance expense of \$6 million due to ongoing efficiency

⁽¹⁾ Refer to Note 7, "Goodwill" of the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

initiatives.

Occupancy Expense, Net

Expansion of the core banking and commercial lending networks within the PFS and CMB business segments has been a key component of recent business expansion initiatives. New branches have been opened, resulting in higher rental expenses, depreciation of leasehold improvements, utilities and other occupancy expenses during the three and nine month periods ending September 30, 2008, as compared to the same 2007 periods.

Support Services from HSBC Affiliates

Higher expense for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2008 primarily resulted from HUSI's utilization of other HSBC affiliates in support of global resourcing initiatives, which has resulted in a corresponding reduction in salary and employee benefits expense. This is partially offset by a decrease in fees paid to HMUS for treasury and traded markets services.

Marketing Expenses

Marketing expenses remained relatively flat in the third quarter of 2008 in comparison to the same 2007 period. Marketing expenses are higher for the first nine months of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 period, primarily resulting from continuing investment in HSBC brand activities, marketing support for branch expansion initiatives within the PFS business segment and an increase in marketing for CMB products and services.

Other Expenses

Other expenses increased for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared to the corresponding 2007 periods. The increase for the three months ended September 2008 as compared to the same 2007 period was primarily the result of a goodwill impairment charge of approximately \$54 million, higher FDIC assessment fees and an increase in a Visa litigation accrual of approximately \$14 million. Additionally, HUSI recognized expenses of \$6 million related to the commitment to purchase Auction Rate Securities from customers and \$5 million relating to a systems outage in August. Partially offsetting this was a decrease in off-balance sheet credit reserves and lower professional fees in the third quarter of 2008.

In addition to the increased expenses noted above for the third quarter of 2008, other operating expenses increased in the year to date period due to higher reserves on off-balance sheet credit exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees.

Efficiency Ratio

	Three months	Three months ended				
	September	September 30				
	2008	2007	2008	2007		
Efficiency ratio (1)	67.44%	68.69%	76.44%	60.67%		

(1) Ratio of total operating expenses, reduced by minority interests, to the sum of net interest income and other revenues.

Efficiency ratio for the three months ended September 30, 2008 improved primarily as a result of net interest income increasing at a higher rate than the decrease in other revenues as compared to the same 2007 period.

Deterioration of the efficiency ratio for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 resulted primarily from a decrease in other revenues, partially offset by higher net interest income, as compared to the same 2007 period. In addition, operating expenses increased only moderately as compared to the same 2007 period.

SEGMENT RESULTS

HUSI has five distinct segments that are utilized for management reporting and analysis purposes. The segments, which are based upon customer groupings as well as products and services offered, are described on pages 5-7 of HUSI's 2007 Form 10-K.

HUSI reports results to HSBC in accordance with its reporting basis, IFRSs. Segment results are presented on an IFRS basis (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated, and decisions about allocating resources such as employees are made almost exclusively on an IFRSs basis. However, HUSI continues to monitor capital adequacy, establish dividend policy, and report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis. A summary of significant differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRSs as they impacted HUSI's results are summarized in Note 17, "Business Segments" of the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Personal Financial Services (PFS)

Overview

Resources continued to be directed towards expansion of the core retail banking business, including investment in the HSBC brand and expansion of the branch network in existing areas, as well as an online savings program. The latter included offering a promotional rate on online savings accounts during the third quarter. As a result, the first nine months of 2008 was highlighted by a 5% increase in average deposits, as compared with the same 2007 period. Interest income, however, has declined compared with the same 2007 period due to narrowing of deposit spreads driven by competitive pricing pressures and declines in market rates. Additionally, deterioration in credit quality, particularly on Home Equity Lines of Credit and Home Equity Loans, credit cards and prime residential mortgage loans has negatively impacted results.

HUSI continued to sell the majority of new residential mortgage loan originations to government sponsored enterprises and private investors and to allow the existing balance sheet to runoff. Additionally, HUSI sold \$1 billion and \$4 billion of residential mortgage loans to third parties in September and May 2008, respectively. As a result, average residential mortgage loans decreased approximately 13% for the first nine months of 2008, as compared with the same 2007 period. In September 2008, HUSI entered into long term stand by commitments with FNMA and FHLMC for the transfer of credit risk relating to approximately \$3.8 billion of residential mortgage loans held by HUSI, for which HUSI will pay an annual guarantee fee.

In the second quarter of 2008 HUSI discontinued originations of education loans and will allow the existing portfolio of loans to runoff.

The following table summarizes results for the PFS segment.

						Increase (Decrease)		
		2008	008 2007		Amount		%	
(\$ in millions)								
Three months ended September 30								
Net interest income	\$	201	\$	276	\$	(75)	(27)	
Other revenues		105		157		(52)	(33)	
Total revenues		306		433		(127)	(29)	
Provision for credit losses		104		35		69	197	
		202		398		(196)	(49)	
Operating expenses		417		313		104	33	
(Loss) income before income tax expense		(215)		85		(300)	*	
Income tax (benefit) expense		(57)		26		(83)	*	
Net (loss) income	\$	(158)	\$	59	\$	(217)	*	
Nine months ended September 30								
Net interest income	\$	685	\$	838	\$	(153)	(18)	
Other revenues		405		417		(12)	(3)	
Total revenues		1,090		1,255		(165)	(13)	
Provision for credit losses		349		64		285	*	
		741		1,191		(450)	(38)	
Operating expenses		1,020		923		97	11	
(Loss) income before income tax expense		(279)		268		(547)	*	
Income tax (benefit) expense		(81)		82		(163)	(199)	
Net (loss) income	\$	(198)	\$	186	\$	(384)	*	

* Not meaningful.

Net interest income decreased for the third quarter and the first nine months of 2008 as compared with the same 2007 periods due to narrowing of interest rate spreads driven by the declining rate environment, competitive pricing pressures on savings and certificate of deposit products and, in the third quarter of 2008, a promotional rate for online savings accounts. Net interest income for the nine month period ended September 30, 2008 was also impacted by lower interest income on residential mortgage loan products due to residential mortgage loan sales and loan portfolio runoff. This was partially offset by widening interest rate spreads on MasterCard/Visa credit card balances.

Other revenues decreased in the third quarter of 2008, when compared to the same 2007 period, primarily due to a \$45 million gain on the redemption of MasterCard Class B shares in the third quarter of 2007, a loss of \$18 million relating to the residential mortgage loan sale in September 2008, which includes a \$14 million intersegment charge between PFS and Global Banking and Markets for the early termination of funding associated with the loan sale, increased mortgage insurance loss reserves and \$8 million of valuation reserves relating to education loans held for sale. Partially offsetting this was revenue from the wind down of the Cayman insurance business of \$12 million in 2007 and increased fees on MasterCard/ Visa cards.

Other revenues were lower for the nine month period ending September 30, 2008, compared to the same 2007 period, primarily due to lower year to date revenues of \$17 million resulting from lower volumes of federal income tax refund anticipation loans originated by HBUS and HSBC Trust Company (Delaware) (HTCD) and sold to HSBC Finance

Corporation, and lower fee income relating to the decision to discontinue the origination of education loans. Additionally, other revenues were lower in the year to date period due to a \$31 million intersegment charge from the Global Banking and Markets Segment relating to the cost associated with early termination of the funding associated with the \$4 billion mortgage loan sale in May 2008, which was partially offset by the gain on the sale of these residential mortgage loans of \$16 million. Partially offsetting lower year to date revenues was a \$83 million gain on the sale of Visa Class B shares recorded in the first quarter of 2008 and higher service charges and fee income for core banking and MasterCard/Visa credit card products. Additionally, 2007 revenue in the year to date period included a gain on the sale of branch properties of \$21 million.

Higher provision for credit losses in both periods was driven by an increase in delinquencies which resulted in significantly increased loan loss reserves as well as increased charge offs within the Home Equity Line of Credit (HELOC), Home Equity Loan and the Residential first mortgage loan portfolios. Provisions on MasterCard/Visa receivables and other consumer loans have also risen. Increased levels of personal bankruptcy filings and a weakening U.S. economy, including rising unemployment rates and lower recovery rates, have driven higher delinquencies across all products in PFS.

Increased operating expenses in the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 were primarily related to a goodwill impairment charge related to the residential mortgage reporting unit in PFS, an increase of the accrual relating to Visa litigation of \$14 million, higher staff, marketing and occupancy costs reflecting investment in branch expansion, higher Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) assessment fees, an increase in employee benefit costs and costs of approximately \$5 million reflecting estimated exposure associated with a systems outage in August 2008. Partially offsetting this in the year to date period was the partial release of a legal provision in the first quarter of 2008 of \$37 million, representing a portion of the Visa indemnification reserve that was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2007.

Consumer Finance (CF)

Overview

The CF segment includes the private label and co-brand credit cards, as well as other loans acquired from HSBC Finance Corporation and its correspondents. In 2003 and 2004, HUSI purchased a portfolio of higher quality nonconforming residential mortgage loans (the HMS portfolio) from HSBC Finance Corporation with the intent of holding these loans. Results of the CF segment have been negatively impacted by significant increases in provision for credit losses relating to the private label and, to a lesser extent, the HMS portfolios.

Operating Results

The following table summarizes results for the CF segment.

				Increase (Decrease)			
	2008	2007		Amount		%	
(\$ in millions)							
Three months ended September 30							
Net interest income	\$ 327	\$	296	\$	31	10	
Other revenues	80		86		(6)	(7)	
Total revenues	407		382		25	7	
Provision for credit losses	439		305		134	44	
	(32)		77		(109)	(142)	
Operating expenses	11		8		3	38	
(Loss) income before income tax expense	(43)		69		(112)	(162)	

Income tax (benefit) expense	(16)	24	(40)	(167)
Net (loss) income	\$ (27)	\$ 45	\$ (72)	(160)
Nine months ended September 30				
Net interest income	\$ 926	\$ 705	\$ 221	31
Other revenues	242	194	48	25
Total revenues	1,168	899	269	30
Provision for credit losses	1,188	693	495	71
	(20)	206	(226)	(110)
Operating expenses	33	26	7	27
(Loss) income before income tax expense	(53)	180	(233)	(129)
Income tax (benefit) expense	(20)	63	(83)	(132)
Net (loss) income	\$ (33)	\$ 117	\$ (150)	(128)

Net interest income increased for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 as compared to the same 2007 periods primarily due to lower amortization of premiums paid for purchases of receivables included within the private label portfolio as well as lower funding costs due to a declining interest rate environment. Partially offsetting this, the third quarter of 2007 reflects recognition of \$55 million in interest income as a result of the adoption of a more robust income recognition methodology on private label credit card promotional transactions.

Other revenues decreased during the third quarter of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 period, primarily due to higher servicing costs associated with the growing co-brand credit card portfolio and a \$10 million write down of a retail partner signing bonus due to the retailer filing Chapter 11 bankruptcy in August 2008. This was partially offset by increased late fees due to higher delinquencies in the private label and co-brand credit card portfolios and higher credit card fees associated with the growing co-brand credit card portfolio. For the year-to-date period, increased late fees and higher credit card fees as discussed above drove the increase in other revenues.

The provision for credit losses associated with credit card receivables increased for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 as compared with the same 2007 period primarily due to increased delinquencies and higher net charge-off including lower recoveries of previously charged-off balances, and higher levels of personal bankruptcy filings and the impact of a weakening U.S. economy. Provisions relating to the HMS portfolio also increased for both periods due to deterioration in the U.S. housing markets.

Operating expenses increased in both periods, as compared to the same 2007 period, primarily due to the increased collection related expenses associated with increased credit and bankruptcy charge-offs.

HUSI previously disclosed that it had decided to proceed with the purchase of a portfolio of General Motors MasterCard receivables (the "GM Portfolio") from HSBC Finance Corporation in order to maximize the efficient use of capital and liquidity at both entities, subject to regulatory and other approvals. In September 2008, HUSI applied for regulatory approval to complete this purchase. HSBC Finance Corporation would maintain the customer account relationships and, subsequent to the initial receivable purchase, HUSI would purchase additional volume on a daily basis. At September 30, 2008, the GM Portfolio had an outstanding receivable balance of approximately \$6.4 billion. If this bulk purchase occurs, the transaction will be recorded at fair value. In future periods, HUSI's net interest income and fee income would increase. Offsetting these increases would be amortization of the premium from the continuing purchases of credit card receivables, provision for credit losses, servicing fees on the portfolio and the amortization of any difference between the unpaid principal and the fair value paid to HSBC Finance Corporation. HUSI cannot predict with any degree of certainty the timing as to when, or if, regulatory and other approvals will be received and, therefore, when the related asset purchase will be completed.

HUSI also has been considering the purchase of a portfolio of AFL-CIO Union Plus MasterCard/Visa credit card receivables (the "UP Portfolio") from HSBC Finance Corporation in the future in order to maximize the efficient use of capital and liquidity at each entity. Any such purchase will be subject to obtaining the necessary regulatory and other approvals. HSBC Finance Corporation would maintain the customer account relationships and, subsequent to the initial receivable purchase, HUSI would purchase additional volume on a daily basis. At September 30, 2008, the UP Portfolio had an outstanding receivable balance of approximately \$6.2 billion. In early November 2008, HUSI decided to proceed with the purchase and filed an application with the Federal Reserve Bank seeking regulatory approval.

In September 2008, HUSI decided to purchase approximately \$3 billion of auto loan receivables (the "Auto Portfolio") from HSBC Finance Corporation, and filed for the necessary regulatory approvals. If this bulk purchase occurs, the transaction will be recorded at fair value. In future periods, HUSI's net interest income and fee income would increase and be partially offset by costs associated with loan impairments and servicing fees paid to HSBC Finance Corporation for the ongoing servicing of the portfolio. HUSI cannot predict with any degree of certainty the timing as to when, or if, regulatory and other approvals will be received and, therefore, when the related asset purchase will be completed.

In connection with the purchase of the GM Portfolio, the UP Portfolio and the Auto Portfolio described above, it is anticipated that HNAI would contribute additional capital to HUSI in support of each such portfolio when and if transferred.

The Federal Reserve Board, the Office of Thrift Supervision and the National Credit Union Administration, along with other federal regulators, have proposed rules that would, among other things, provide restrictions on applying rate increases, payment allocations, and default pricing. Similarly, several bills pending approval by Congress could impact credit card pricing and other terms. The Federal Reserve Board has indicated it anticipates publishing final rules by year end. HUSI cannot determine whether such legislative or regulatory initiatives will be instituted or predict the negative impact such initiatives would have on HUSI's results.

Commercial Banking (CMB)

Overview

Despite tightened credit standards balanced growth between the established footprint in New York State and expansion markets in the West Coast, Midwest and the Southeast, has led to a 28% underlying increase in lending and a 16% increase in customer deposits to middle market customers for the first nine months of 2008 as compared to the same 2007 period. The small business loan portfolio has seen more moderate growth due to tightened credit standards and the competitive environment while small business customer deposits have grown 7% for the first nine months, as compared to the same 2007 period. The commercial real estate business has continued to manage down certain lending exposures while also tightening existing high credit standards and pricing on new loans. Overall, this has resulted in a decrease in commercial real estate loans for the first nine months of 2008, as compared to the same period last year.

Average customer deposit balances across all CMB business lines have increased 7% and 11% for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, respectively, as compared with the same 2007 periods. Average loans are 18% higher for the third quarter of 2008 and 13% higher year to date, compared with the same 2007 periods.

The declining interest rate environment has negatively impacted income growth as deposit spreads have narrowed significantly. Although charge offs remain relatively benign, provisions for credit losses have increased following a deterioration in the outlook for the economy.

The following table summarizes results for the CMB segment.

				Increase (Decrease)			
		2008	2007		Amount		%
(\$ in millions)							
Three months ended September 30							
Net interest income	\$	195	\$	208	\$	(13)	(6)
Other revenues		94		67		27	40
Total revenues		289		275		14	5
Provision for credit losses		71		35		36	103
		218		240		(22)	(9)
Operating expenses		155		137		18	13
Income before income tax expense		63		103		(40)	(39)
Income tax expense		28		27		1	4
Net income	\$	35	\$	76	\$	(41)	(54)
Nine months ended September 30							
Net interest income	\$	575	\$	606	\$	(31)	(5)
Other revenues		236		196		40	20
Total revenues		811		802		9	1
Provision for credit losses		178		72		106	147
		633		730		(97)	(13)
Operating expenses		446		420		26	6
Income before income tax expense		187		310		(123)	(40)
Income tax expense		77		92		(15)	(16)
Net income	\$	110	\$	218	\$	(108)	(50)

Net interest income decreased for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 periods. This is primarily due to narrower spreads on deposits. This was partially offset by moderate average balance growth in loans and deposits.

Other revenues increased for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 periods. This is mainly due to a combination of higher syndications business, higher gains on sales of commercial real estate loans, increased cross-sales of capital market products, higher tax credits relating to low income housing and higher investment management and commercial card fees.

Provisions for credit losses have increased in both the third quarter and the first nine months of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 periods. This is mainly due to worsening economic conditions, leading to customer downgrades across all commercial business lines.

Operating expenses have increased in both the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared to the same 2007 periods, primarily due to increased community investment activities and higher FDIC assessment fees.

Global Banking and Markets

Overview

During the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, the Global Banking and Markets segment has continued to be affected by reduced market liquidity, widening spreads and increased volatility in the credit and sub-prime lending markets, which has led to a considerable fall in revenues, particularly in the nine month period as compared with the same 2007 periods. This impacted trading revenue in mortgage backed securities, leveraged acquisition finance loans, and credit derivatives and led to substantial reserves being taken in both the Trading and Available for Sale portfolios.

On October 11, 2008, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued an amendment to IAS 39 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement), based upon current unprecedented market conditions, which permits entities to transfer financial assets from the Trading classification into Available for Sale classification or as Loans and Receivables if the entity has the intention and ability to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity. This guidance, which permits retroactive application to July 1, 2008, means that changes in the market value of re-classified assets will no longer impact current period earnings. Instead, these assets will only be marked-to-market (through Other Comprehensive Income) if classified as Available for Sale Securities and will be subject to on-going impairment tests.

Following careful analysis of the implications and with consideration given to industry and peer practices, HUSI elected to re-classify Leveraged Acquisition Financing (LAF) Bonds and Loans and certain Securities held for Balance Sheet Management (BSM) purposes, from Trading assets to Loans and Available for Sale Investment Securities, respectively, effective July 1, 2008.

HUSI continues to review the strategies and scope of its Global Banking and Markets business. As an outcome of this review, HUSI may transition certain activities to other affiliates of the HSBC Group where either economic efficiencies can be realized from an HSBC Group perspective or where the customer base can be better served. The scope and timing of any such transitioning is still in the early stages of evaluation.

The following table summarizes results for the Global Banking and Markets segment.

	2008 2007			Increase (Decrease)			
			2007		Amount		%
(\$ in millions)							
Three months ended September 30							
Net interest income	\$	334	\$	62	\$	272	*
Other loss		(72)		(139)		67	48
Total revenues (loss)		262		(77)		339	*
Provision for credit losses		30		17		13	76
		232		(94)		326	*
Operating expenses		201		197		4	2
Loss before income tax expense		31		(291)		322	111
Income tax benefit		7		(97)		104	107
Net loss	\$	24	\$	(194)	\$	218	112
Nine months ended September 30							
Net interest income	\$	650	\$	199	\$	451	*
Other (loss) revenues		(862)		436	((1,298)	*
Total (loss) revenues		(212)		635		(847)	(133)
Provision for credit losses		87		6		81	*
		(299)		629		(928)	(148)
Operating expenses		607		584		23	4
(Loss) income before income tax expense		(906)		45		(951)	*
Income tax (benefit) expense		(351)		17		(368)	*
Net (loss) income	\$	(555)	\$	28	\$	(583)	*

Increased net interest income in both periods was primarily due to balance sheet management initiatives to position for lower rates and also reflects higher held for sale leveraged commercial loan balances as loan syndication activities were negatively impacted by the decline in market liquidity.

Other (loss) revenues in both periods were affected by adverse market conditions, particularly as it relates to the nine month period. Specifically, valuation losses of \$87 million and \$145 million in the third quarter of 2008 and 2007 respectively, and \$331 million and \$221 million in the first nine months of 2008 and 2007, respectively, were recorded against the fair values of sub-prime residential mortgage loans held for sale. Fair value adjustments on the leveraged loan portfolio decreased to a \$4 million loss for the third quarter of 2008, an improvement of \$71 million from the same period of 2007. This positive result is primarily due to the reclassification of \$1.4 billion in leveraged loans from trading assets to held-to-maturity assets under the IAS 39 amendment.

Other (loss) revenues also reflects fair value adjustments of \$155 million in the third quarter and \$957 million in the first nine months of 2008 for counter party credit risk associated with exposure to monoline insurance companies as adverse market conditions have led to downgrades in internal credit ratings of these entities. These adjustments have been recorded due to counterparty credit risk exposures on derivative contracts with these entities, and reflect the decreased credit quality of these entities and concerns over their ability to perform at September 30, 2008.

^{*} Not meaningful.

During 2008, a single asset backed security and the preferred equity securities of FNMA were determined to be other-than-temporarily impaired. As a result, HUSI recorded an impairment charge of \$215 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2008.

Partially offsetting the above mentioned declines, revenue from credit default swaps used to hedge commercial loan exposure generated \$122 million during the third quarter of 2008, an increase of \$109 million from the third quarter of 2007. Revenues from the payments and cash management business were higher for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 as compared with the same 2007 periods, reflecting higher deposit balances and higher associated transaction fee revenues. Foreign exchange and interest rate trading activities also contributed to higher revenues in the third quarter, and foreign exchange, interest rate trading, emerging markets trading and precious metals trading revenues were all up in the year to date period as a result of ongoing market volatility, increased customer flow and higher prices in gold and platinum. Additionally, revenues benefited from higher fees related to the asset management business as well as intersegment charges to the PFS segment of \$14 million and \$31 million in the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, respectively, relating to the cost associated with the early termination of the funding associated with the sale of residential mortgage loans previously discussed.

Increased provisions for credit losses in the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared with the same 2007 periods reflect weaker credit fundamentals particularly in comparison to provision releases in 2007.

Operating expenses were higher for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, as compared with the same 2007 periods, primarily resulting from increased costs to support the growth in the payments and cash management and asset management businesses. Technology costs were also higher in 2008 than in the same 2007 periods. Partially offsetting this are lower salary and other staff costs due to a decreased number of employees overall, as well as decreased performance related compensation.

Private Banking (PB)

Overview

During the third quarter of 2008, resources continued to be dedicated to expand products and services provided to high net worth customers served by the PB business segment. As a result, total average loans (mostly consumer mortgages) and deposits (primarily from domestic savings, foreign clients migrating to safer deposit products and new client relationships) were 6% and 21% higher, respectively, for the first nine months of 2008 compared with the same 2007 period. Assets under management decreased 15% as compared to September 30, 2007 levels, mostly due to a decline in market value of securities.

The following table summarizes results for the PB segment.

				Increase (Decrease)				
	2008		2007		Amount		%	
(\$ in millions)								
Three months ended September 30								
Net interest income	\$	48	\$	50	\$	(2)	(4)	
Other revenues		36		66		(30)	(45)	
Total revenues		84		116		(32)	(28)	
Provision (credit) for credit losses		4		(1)		5	*	
		80		117		(37)	(32)	
Operating expenses		70		87		(17)	(20)	
Income before income tax expense		10		30		(20)	(67)	
Income tax expense		5		8		(3)	(38)	
Net income	\$	5	\$	22	\$	(17)	(77)	
Nine months ended September 30								
Net interest income	\$	144	\$	150	\$	(6)	(4)	
Other revenues		126		210		(84)	(40)	
Total revenues		270		360		(90)	(25)	
Provision for credit losses		5		11		(6)	(55)	
		265		349		(84)	(24)	
Operating expenses		206		255		(49)	(19)	
Income before income tax expense		59		94		(35)	(37)	
Income tax expense		24		27		(3)	(11)	
Net income	\$	35	\$	67	\$	(32)	(48)	

Revenues were lower by \$28 million and \$80 million for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, respectively, and operating expenses were lower by \$25 million and \$73 million for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008, respectively, due to the sale of the WTAS business at December 31, 2007.

Net interest income for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 was lower than the same 2007 periods primarily as a result of narrowing interest rate spreads due to declining market rates. This was partially offset by increased interest income due to higher loan and deposit balances.

Excluding the impact of the WTAS business, other revenues in the third quarter of 2008 were lower, primarily due to losses of approximately \$6 million related to the commitment to repurchase Auction Rate Securities from customers. Partially offsetting this were higher commission and fee revenues from managed products, derivatives, annuity products and domestic custody fees.

Provision for credit losses in the third quarter of 2008 increased as compared to the same 2007 period as a result of worsening economic conditions. Provision in the first nine months of 2008 is lower compared to the first nine months of 2007 largely due to a provision on a specific client relationship during the first quarter of 2007.

Operating expenses excluding the impact of the WTAS business increased during both periods as a result of higher staff costs to expand the services provided to high net worth domestic and foreign clients, higher FDIC assessment fees and an operational loss of approximately \$6 million related to a specific domestic client relationship.

Other

Overview

The Other segment primarily includes adjustments made at the corporate level for fair value option accounting related to certain debt issued and an equity investment in HSBC Private Bank (Suisse) S.A. HUSI is currently evaluating whether it will retain this investment or transfer it to another HSBC affiliate.

Operating Results

The following table summarizes results for the Other segment.

					Increase (Decrease)		
		2008		2007	Am	ount	%
(\$ in millions)							
Three months ended September 30							
Net interest loss	\$	-	\$	(4)	\$	4	100
Other revenues		181		150		31	21
Total revenues		181		146		35	24
Provision for credit losses		-		-		-	-
		181		146		35	24
Operating expenses		-		4		(4)	(100)
Income before income tax expense		181		142		39	27
Income tax expense		57		51		6	12
Net income	\$	124	\$	91	\$	33	36
Nine months ended September 30							
Net interest loss	\$	(3)	\$	(9)	\$	6	67
Other revenues		261		90		171	190
Total revenues		258		81		177	*
Provision for credit losses		-		1		(1)	(100)
		258		80		178	*
Operating expenses		-		5		(5)	(100)
Income before income tax expense		258		75		183	*
Income tax expense		86		23		63	*
Net income	\$	172	\$	52	\$	120	*

The increase in other revenues for the third quarter and first nine months of 2008 as compared to the same 2007 period primarily resulted from decreases in the fair value of certain debt instruments to which fair value option accounting is applied, due to widening credit spreads.

^{*} Not meaningful.

CREDIT QUALITY

HUSI enters into a variety of transactions in the normal course of business that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk. Principal among these activities is lending to various commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. HUSI participates in lending activity throughout the U.S. and, on a limited basis, internationally.

HUSI's allowance for credit losses methodology and its accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented in Critical Accounting Policies beginning on page 25 of its 2007 Form 10-K and in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements beginning on page 103 of its 2007 Form 10-K.

HUSI's approach toward credit risk management is summarized on pages 77-78 of its 2007 Form 10-K. There have been no material revisions to policies or methodologies during the third quarter of 2008, although the company continues to monitor current market conditions and will adjust credit policies as deemed necessary.

Overview

The allowance for credit losses increased \$263 million (15%) and increased \$645 million (46%) during the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, respectively. Allowance for credit losses balances and activity, by loan portfolio, are summarized on page 76 of this Form 10-Q.

The provision for credit losses increased \$256 million (64%) for the third quarter of 2008, and increased \$891 million (102%) for the first nine months of 2008 as compared with the same 2007 periods. The provision for credit losses associated with various loan portfolios is presented in the "Results of Operations" section of this Form 10-Q under the caption "Provision for Credit Losses".

Problem Loan Management

Nonaccruing loans by portfolio and impaired loans are summarized in Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses and Credit Quality Statistics" of the consolidated financial statements.

HUSI's policies and practices for placing loans on nonaccruing status are summarized in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, beginning on page 103 of its 2007 Form 10-K.

Criticized Assets

Criticized asset classifications are based on the risk rating standards of HUSI's primary regulator. Problem credit facilities, which include loans and other credit arrangements such as letters of credit, are assigned various criticized facility grades under HUSI's allowance for credit losses methodology.

Criticized credit facilities are summarized in the following table, which includes only assets that are reservable through HUSI's credit loss reserve process.

			Increas	se from	
	September 30,	December 31	, 2007	September 30	, 2007
Balance at	2008	Amount	%	Amount	%
(\$ in millions)					
Special mention (1):					
Commercial loans	\$ 3,393	\$ 991	41	\$ 1,692	99
Substandard (2):					
Commercial loans	1,329	704	113	709	114
Consumer loans	1,059	197	23	178	20
	2,388	901	61	887	59
Doubtful (3):					
Commercial loans	65	39	150	38	141
Total	\$ 5,846	\$ 1,931	49	\$ 2,617	81

- (1) Generally includes credit facilities that are protected by collateral and/or the credit worthiness of the customer, but are potentially weak based upon economic or market circumstances which, if not checked or corrected, could weaken HUSI's credit position at some future date.
- (2) Includes credit facilities that are inadequately protected by the underlying collateral and/or general credit worthiness of the customer. These credit facilities present a distinct possibility that HUSI will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.
- (3) Includes credit facilities that have all the weaknesses exhibited by substandard credit facilities, with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full of the recorded loan highly improbable. However, although the possibility of loss is extremely high, certain factors exist which may strengthen the credit at some future date, and therefore the decision to charge off the loan is deferred. Loans graded as doubtful are required to be placed in nonaccruing status.

Allowance for Credit Losses

Changes in the allowance for credit losses by general loan categories are summarized in the following table.

	September 30, 2008	June 30, 2008	March 31, 2008	December 31,	ptember 30, 2007
Quarter ended				2007	
(\$ in millions) Total loans at quarter end (1)	\$ 88,286	\$ 86,121	\$ 87,918	\$ 90,556	\$ 86,243
Average total loans (1)	86,485	87,271	87,708	86,859	84,423
Allowance balance at beginning of quarter	of \$ 1,796	\$ 1,583	\$ 1,414	\$ 1,058	\$ 902
Transferred reserve	21	(21)	-	-	-
Charge offs:					
Commercial	59	37	31	42	35
Consumer: Residential	63	54	40	30	14
mortgages Credit card receivables	327	325	296	260	226
Other consumer loans	30	27	35	34	30
Total consumer loans	420	406	371	324	270
Total charge offs	479	443	402	366	305
Recoveries on loans charged off:					
Commercial	7	12	6	8	6
Consumer:					
Residential mortgages	-	-	1	-	-
Credit card receivables	50	52	56	55	44
Other consumer loans	6	7	10	8	9
Total consumer loans	56	59	67	63	53
Total recoveries	63	71	73	71	59
Total net charge offs	416	372	329	295	246
Provision charged to income	658	606	498	651	402
Allowance balance at end of quar	ter \$ 2,059	\$ 1,796	\$ 1,583	\$ 1,414	\$ 1,058

Annualized net charge offs to average loans (1): Commercial .54 % .27 % .29 % .40 % .37 % Consumer: Residential .90 .72 .49 .36 .17 mortgages Credit card 6.04 6.08 5.20 4.43 4.09 receivables Other consumer 4.41 3.59 4.31 4.95 3.92 loans Total consumer 3.01 2.76 2.30 1.95 1.62 Total loans 1.91 % 1.71 % 1.51 % 1.35 % 1.16 % Quarter-end allowance to: Quarter-end total 2.33 % 1.80 % 1.56 % 1.23 % 2.09 % loans (1) Quarter-end total 297.54 % 270.48 % 255.74 % 308.06 % 269.21 % nonaccruing loans (1)

⁽¹⁾ Net of loans held for sale.

Changes in the allowance for credit losses by general loan categories are summarized in the following tables.

	Comme			ential gage		redit CardCo		her mer	Total
Three months ended September 30									
2008									
Balance at beginning of period	\$	391	\$	236	\$	1,108	\$	61	\$ 1,796
Transferred reserve		-		-		21		-	21
Charge offs		59		63		327		30	479
Recoveries		7		-		50		6	63
Net charge offs		52		63		277		24	416
Provision charged to income		124		104		403		27	658
Balance at end of period	\$	463	\$	277	\$	1,255	\$	64	\$ 2,059
2007									
Balance at beginning of period	\$	223	\$	30	\$	600	\$	49	\$ 902
Charge offs	•	35	·	14	·	226	·	30	305
Recoveries		6		_		44		9	59
Net charge offs		29		14		182		21	246
Provision charged to income		57		24		296		25	402
Balance at end of period	\$	251	\$	40	\$	714	\$	53	\$ 1,058
Nine months ended September 30	Comme			ential gage		redit CardCo		her mer	Total
2008		ľ	Mort	gage		CardCo	nsui	mer	
2008 Balance at beginning of period	Comme								Total
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve		300	Mort	egage 88		963	nsui	63 -	\$ 1,414 -
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs		300 - 127	Mort	88 - 157		963 - 948	nsui	63 - 92	\$ 1,414 - 1,324
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs Recoveries		300 - 127 25	Mort	88 - 157		963 - 948 158	nsui	63 - 92 23	\$ 1,414 - 1,324 207
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs Recoveries Net charge offs		300 - 127 25 102	Mort	88 - 157 1 156	\$	963 - 948 158 790	nsui	63 - 92 23 69	\$ 1,414 - 1,324 207 1,117
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs Recoveries		300 - 127 25	Mort	88 - 157	\$	963 - 948 158	nsui	63 - 92 23	\$ 1,414 - 1,324 207
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs Recoveries Net charge offs Provision charged to income Balance at end of period	\$	300 - 127 25 102 265	Mort \$	88 - 157 1 156 345	\$	963 - 948 158 790 1,082	\$	63 - 92 23 69 70	\$ 1,414 - 1,324 207 1,117 1,762
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs Recoveries Net charge offs Provision charged to income Balance at end of period 2007	\$ \$	300 	Mort \$	88 - 157 1 156 345 277	\$	963 - 948 158 790 1,082 1,255	\$ \$	63 - 92 23 69 70 64	\$ 1,414 - 1,324 207 1,117 1,762 \$ 2,059
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs Recoveries Net charge offs Provision charged to income Balance at end of period 2007 Balance at beginning of period	\$	300 	Mort \$	88 - 157 1 156 345 277	\$	963 - 948 158 790 1,082 1,255	\$	63 92 23 69 70 64	\$ 1,414 - 1,324 207 1,117 1,762 \$ 2,059
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs Recoveries Net charge offs Provision charged to income Balance at end of period 2007 Balance at beginning of period Charge offs	\$ \$	300 	Mort \$	88 - 157 1 156 345 277	\$	963 - 948 158 790 1,082 1,255	\$ \$	63 - 92 23 69 70 64	\$ 1,414 - 1,324 207 1,117 1,762 \$ 2,059 \$ 897 903
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs Recoveries Net charge offs Provision charged to income Balance at end of period 2007 Balance at beginning of period Charge offs Recoveries	\$ \$	300 - 127 25 102 265 463 214 105 20	Mort \$	88 - 157 1 156 345 277	\$	963 - 948 158 790 1,082 1,255 598 667 142	\$ \$	63 92 23 69 70 64	\$ 1,414 - 1,324 207 1,117 1,762 \$ 2,059 \$ 897 903 193
2008 Balance at beginning of period Transferred reserve Charge offs Recoveries Net charge offs Provision charged to income Balance at end of period 2007 Balance at beginning of period Charge offs	\$ \$	300 	Mort \$	88 - 157 1 156 345 277	\$	963 - 948 158 790 1,082 1,255	\$ \$	63 - 92 23 69 70 64	\$ 1,414 - 1,324 207 1,117 1,762 \$ 2,059 \$ 897 903

Commercial Loan Credit Quality

Components of the commercial allowance for credit losses, as well as movements in comparison with prior periods, are summarized in the following table.

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

					Increas	e from		
	Septembe	er 30,	Dec	ember 31	, 2007	September 30, 2007		0, 2007
		2008	An	ount	%	Am	ount	%
(\$ in millions)								
On-balance sheet allowance:								
Specific	\$	42	\$	27	180	\$	24	133
Collective		381		116	44		162	74
		423		143	51		186	78
Unallocated		40		20	100		26	186
Total on-balance		463		163	54		212	84
sheet allowance								
Off-balance sheet allowance		145		42	41		52	56
Total commercial allowances	\$	608	\$	205	51	\$	264	77

Higher commercial loan allowance from December 31, 2007 to September 30, 2008 resulted mainly from higher criticized loan balances caused by downgrades in financial institution counterparties as well as real estate and middle market customers. The downgrades resulted in part from changes in financial conditions of specific customers within these portfolios. Total nonaccruing commercial loans remain low as a percentage of total commercial loans. Based upon evaluation of the repayment capacity of the obligors, including support from adequately margined collateral, performance on guarantees, and other mitigating factors, impairment is modestly higher at September 30, 2008 as compared with prior reporting periods, and is adequately reflected in the allowances for specific and collective impairment.

HUSI management continues to monitor the following factors that could affect portfolio risk:

- · recent growth initiatives which have resulted in growth in the size and complexity of the commercial loan portfolio;
- · HUSI's continued geographic expansion;
- borrower concentrations; and
- · continuing signs of stress within certain segments of the economy.

HUSI management continues to monitor and reduce exposures to those industries considered to be higher risk, including managing the net exposure within its corporate loan portfolios with a syndication capacity as well as use of credit default swaps to economically hedge and reduce certain exposures.

Any sudden and/or unexpected adverse economic events or trends could significantly affect credit quality and increase provisions for credit losses. For example, HUSI management is monitoring the U.S. housing market, interest rates, consumer spending, consumer confidence, high energy prices and other industry trends which could potentially lead to a further deceleration of U.S. economic activity.

Credit Card Receivable Credit Quality

Credit card receivables are primarily private label receivables acquired from HSBC Finance Corporation. Receivables included in the private label credit card portfolio are generally maintained in accruing status until being charged off six months after delinquency. Selected credit quality data for credit card receivables is summarized in the following table.

S	eptember 30, 2008	December 31, 2007	September 30, 2007
(\$ in millions)			
Two months and over contractual delinquencies:			
Total for the quarter ended	\$ 730	\$ 667	\$ 583
As a percent of total credit card receivables	3.99 %	3.47 %	3.26 %

Accruing balances contractually past due 90 days

or more:							
	Balance at end of quarter	\$ 480		\$ 432		\$ 357	
	As a percent of total credit card receivables	2.62	%	2.24	%	2.00	%
	or credit losses associated with						
credit card re	eceivables:						
	Balance at end of quarter	\$ 1,255		\$ 963		\$ 714	
	As a percent of total credit card receivables	6.85	%	5.00	%	3.99	%
Net charge o	offs of credit card receivables:						
	Total for the quarter ended	\$ 277		\$ 205		\$ 182	
	Annualized net charge offs as a percent of average	6.04	%	4.43	%	4.09	%
	credit card receivables						

The allowance for credit losses associated with credit card receivables increased \$147 million (13%) during the third quarter of 2008 and \$292 million (30%) during the first nine months of 2008. Net charge off and provision activity was higher during the first nine months of 2008 as compared to 2007 primarily due to higher delinquencies within these portfolios due in part to higher levels of personal bankruptcy filings, lower recoveries on previously charged off balances and the impact of a weakening U.S. economy, which have resulted in a higher collective allowance balance. Underwriting criteria is continually being reviewed and will be modified as necessary based on the current economic environment.

Residential Mortgage Loan Credit Quality

The allowance for credit losses associated with residential mortgage loans increased \$41 million (17%) during the third quarter of 2008 and \$189 million (215%) during the first nine months of 2008. The increase in the allowance for credit losses related to residential mortgage loans in both periods was related to increased delinquencies and charge offs in the portfolio of higher quality nonconforming residential mortgage loans which HUSI purchased from HSBC Finance Corporation and within the Home Equity Line of Credit (HELOC) and the Home Equity Loan portfolios which increased markedly in the third quarter of 2008 primarily due to deteriorating conditions in the housing markets. Also contributing to this increase to a lesser extent was HUSI's prime residential first mortgage loans which continued to worsen in the third quarter of 2008.

		September 30, 2008		December 31, 2007		September 30, 2007						
(\$ in millions)												
	over contractual delinquency: Total for the quarter ended As a percent of total residential mortgages	\$	696 2.40	%		\$	69 1.9		\$	73 2.0	38 01 %	ó
Nonaccruing:												
	Balance at end of quarter As a percent of total residential mortgages	\$	92 3.1		%		\$	640 1.81	%	\$	512 1.39	%
Allowance for cresidential morts	redit losses associated with gages:											
Ī	Balance at end of quarter	\$	27	77			\$	88		\$	40	
	As a percent of total residential mortgages		1.0)3	%			.27	%		.12	%
Net charge offs	of residential mortgages:											
	Total for the quarter ended Annualized net charge offs as a percent of average residential mortgages	\$		63 00	%		\$	30 .36	%	\$	14 .17	%

Additional disclosures regarding certain risk concentrations inherent within the residential mortgage loan portfolio are presented in the "Risk Management" section of this Form 10-Q under the caption "Concentrations of Risk Inherent in Loan Portfolios".

Reserve for Off-Balance Sheet Exposures

HUSI maintains a separate reserve for credit risk associated with certain off-balance sheet exposures including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees. This reserve, included in other liabilities, was \$152 million, \$105 million and \$93 million at September 30, 2008, December 31, 2007 and September 30, 2007, respectively. The related provision is recorded as a miscellaneous expense in the "Operating Expense" section of this Form 10-Q. Off-balance sheet exposures are summarized in the "Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements" section of this Form 10-Q.

Credit and Market Risks Associated with Derivative Contracts

Credit (or repayment) risk in derivative instruments arises from entering into transactions with counterparties such as financial institutions, government agencies, both foreign and domestic, corporations, funds (mutual funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companies and private clients, as well as other HSBC entities. These counterparties are subject to regular credit review by the Credit Risk Management Department. Most derivative contracts are governed by an International Swaps and Derivatives Association Master Agreement. Depending on the type of counterparty and the level of expected activity, bilateral collateral arrangements may also be required.

The total risk in a derivative contract is a function of a number of variables, such as:

- · volatility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract payments;
- · current market events or trends;
- maturity and liquidity of contracts;
- · credit worthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;
- the existence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and
- existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.

The table below presents total credit risk exposure measured using rules contained in the risk-based capital guidelines published by U.S. banking regulatory agencies. The risk exposure calculated in accordance with the risk-based capital guidelines potentially overstates actual credit exposure, because:

- the risk-based capital guidelines ignore collateral that may have been received from counterparties to secure exposures; and
- the risk-based capital guidelines compute exposures over the life of derivative contracts. However, many contracts contain provisions that allow a bank to close out the transaction if the counterparty fails to post required collateral. In addition, many contracts give HUSI the right to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity date. As a result, these contracts have potential future exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived from the risk-based capital guidelines.

The following table shows net credit exposure on derivative contracts. Risk-based capital guidelines recognize that bilateral netting agreements reduce credit risk and therefore allow for reductions of risk-weighted assets when netting requirements have been met. Therefore, risk-weighted amounts for regulatory capital purposes are a fraction of the original gross exposures.

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

	September 30, 2008	Dece	mber 31, 2007
(in millions)			
Risk associated with derivative contracts:			
Total credit risk exposure	\$ 115,316	\$	78,115
Less: collateral held against exposure	(3,932)		(5,148)
Net credit risk exposure	\$ 111,384	\$	72,967

HUSI entered into basis trades to monetize the basis difference between a bond and a credit default swap (CDS). In a basis trade, HUSI subscribes floating rate investment grade mortgage backed or asset backed securities and contemporaneously buys credit protection from monoline insurers for a premium. The sponsoring monoline provides financial protection to HUSI if there is a credit event. When the bond spread is higher than the CDS spread, the basis is "negative" and the trade is described as a negative basis trade. The monolines typically do not post collateral. As of September 30, 2008, HUSI had approximately \$2,058 million of exposure for CDS under the negative basis arrangements with monolines.

Due to downgrades in HUSI's internal credit ratings of monoline insurance companies (refer to Credit Risk Management beginning on page 77 of HUSI's 2007 Form 10-K for additional commentary relating to HUSI's credit rating system), fair value adjustments have been recorded against counterparty credit exposures. HUSI recorded fair value adjustments on these contracts of approximately \$155 million in the third quarter of 2008 and \$957 million in the first nine months of 2008, which reflects the decreased credit quality of these entities and concerns over their ability to perform at September 30, 2008.

Market risk is the adverse effect that a change in interest rates, currency, or implied volatility rates has on the value of a financial instrument. HUSI manages the market risk associated with interest rate and foreign exchange contracts by establishing and monitoring limits as to the types and degree of risk that may be undertaken. HUSI also manages the market risk associated with trading derivatives through hedging strategies that correlate the rates, price and spread movements. HUSI measures this risk daily by using Value at Risk (VAR) and other methodologies (refer to commentary regarding Value at Risk (VAR), beginning on page 98 of this Form 10-Q).

Notional values of derivative contracts are summarized in the following table.

		September 30, 2008	December 31, 2007
(in millions)			
Interest rate:			
	Futures and forwards	\$ 144,674	\$ 96,077
	Swaps	1,719,194	1,874,340
	Options written	122,877	97,198
	Options purchased	123,995	102,015
		2,110,740	2,169,630
Foreign exchange:			
	Swaps, futures and forwards	676,022	534,988
	Options written	55,276	87,730
	Options purchased	54,295	86,350
	Spot	76,457	39,963
	•	862,050	749,031
Commodities, equities	s and precious metals:		
-	Swaps, futures and forwards	46,660	49,080
	Options written	17,910	19,394
	Options purchased	17,136	18,730
		81,706	87,204
Credit derivatives		1,152,862	1,252,337
Total		\$ 4,207,358	\$ 4,258,202

The total notional amounts in the table above relate primarily to HUSI's trading activities. Notional amounts included in the table related to non-trading fair value, cash flow and economic hedging activities was \$17 billion and \$15 billion at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

HUSI's Asset and Liability Policy Committee is responsible for monitoring and defining the scope and nature of various strategies utilized to manage interest rate risk that are developed through its analysis of data from financial simulation models and other internal and industry sources. The resulting hedge strategies are then incorporated into

HUSI's overall interest rate risk management and trading strategies.

FAIR VALUE

On January 1, 2008, HUSI adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" (SFAS 157), and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities" (SFAS 159). As a result, HUSI recorded a total after-tax cumulative effect adjustment of \$113 million as an increase to the opening balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 2008. The transition adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings as of January 1, 2008 included (a) a \$36 million release of unamortized deferred profit upon adoption of SFAS 157 and (b) \$77 million from the application of the fair value option to certain own debt issuances under SFAS 159.

SFAS 157 requires HUSI to take into consideration its own credit risk in determining the fair value of financial liabilities. The incorporation of own credit risk accounted for a decrease of \$175 million and \$282 million in the fair value of financial liabilities for the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, respectively.

Net income volatility arising from changes in either interest rate or credit components of the mark-to-market on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives affects the comparability of reported results between periods. Accordingly, gain on debt designated at fair value and related derivatives for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 should not be considered indicative of the results for any future period.

Control Over Valuation Process and Procedures

HUSI has established a control framework designed to ensure that fair values are either determined or validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. To that end, the ultimate responsibility for the determination of fair values rests with Finance. Finance establishes policies and procedures to ensure appropriate valuations. For fair values determined by reference to external quotations on the identical or similar assets or liabilities, an independent price validation process is utilized. For price validation purposes, HUSI obtains at least two quotations from independent pricing sources for each financial instrument, where possible. HUSI considers the following factors in determining fair values:

- similarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received:
- · consistency among different pricing sources;
- the valuation approach and the methodologies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;
- · the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date; and
- the manner in which the fair value information is sourced.

Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from dealers who stand ready to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who originally structured such instruments, and market consensus pricing based on inputs from a large number of participants. Any significant discrepancies among the external quotations are reviewed by management and adjustments to fair values are recorded where appropriate.

For fair values determined by using internal valuation techniques, valuation models and inputs are developed by the business and are reviewed, validated and approved by the Derivative Model Review Group (DMRG) or other

independent valuation control teams within Finance. Any subsequent changes are reviewed and approved by the Valuation Committee which is comprised of representatives from the business and various control groups. Where available, HUSI also participates in pricing surveys administered by external pricing services to validate its valuation models and the model inputs. The fair values of the majority of financial assets and liabilities are determined using well developed valuation models based on observable market inputs. The fair value measurements of these assets and liabilities require little or no judgment. However, certain assets and liabilities are valued based on proprietary valuation models that use one or more significant unobservable inputs and management's judgment is required to determine the appropriate level of adjustments to the fair value to address model and input uncertainty. Any material adjustments to the fair values are reported to management.

Fair Value Hierarchy

SFAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy structure that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to determine the fair value of an asset or liability. SFAS 157 distinguishes between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants' assumptions. It emphasizes the use of valuation methodologies that maximize market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The majority of valuation techniques use market inputs that are either observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is valued based on valuation techniques that feature one or more significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). The determination of the level of fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement of an asset or a liability is classified often requires judgment. HUSI considers the following factors in developing the fair value hierarchy:

- whether the asset or liability is transacted in an active market with a quoted market price that is readily available:
- · the level of bid-ask spreads;
- a lack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, the complexity of the product structure and market liquidity;
- · whether only a few transactions are observed over a significant period of time;
- · whether the pricing quotations vary substantially among independent pricing services;
- · whether the inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and
- whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determine the fair value

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for the identical assets or liabilities. HUSI classifies a financial instrument as a Level 1 measurement if it is listed on an exchange or is an instrument actively traded in the over-the-counter (OTC) market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. HUSI regards financial instruments such as equity securities and derivative contracts listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be actively traded. Non-exchange-traded instruments classified as Level 1 assets include securities issued by the U.S. Treasury or by other foreign governments.

Level 2 inputs are inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify as Level 1 inputs. HUSI classifies certain OTC derivative contracts, asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities, corporate debt and preferred securities, leveraged loans and collateralized mortgage obligations, which are not traded in active markets, as Level 2 measurements. Where possible, HUSI will obtain at least two quotations from independent sources based on transactions involving comparable assets and liabilities to validate the fair value of these instruments. Where significant differences arise among the independent pricing quotes and the internally determined fair value, HUSI will investigate and reconcile the differences. If the investigation results in a significant adjustment (e.g., over 10%) to the

fair value, the instrument will be classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. In general, HUSI observed that there is a correlation between the credit standing and the market liquidity of a non-derivative instrument. Most of the Level 2 asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities have credit ratings of AA or above.

Level 2 derivative instruments are generally valued based on discounted future cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for the counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. The fair value of certain structured derivative products are determined using valuation techniques based on inputs derived from observable benchmark index tranches traded in the OTC market. HUSI has applied appropriate control processes and procedures to ensure that the derived inputs are applied to value only those instruments that share similar risks to the relevant benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors. In addition, HUSI has established validation processes, which include participation in peer group consensus pricing surveys, to ensure that valuation inputs incorporate market participants' risk expectations and risk premium.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable estimates that management expects market participants would use to determine the fair value of the asset or liability. That is, Level 3 inputs incorporate market participants' assumptions about risk and the risk premium required by market participants in order to bear that risk. HUSI develops Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the circumstances. As of September 30, 2008, HUSI had the following Level 3 instruments: collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) and collateralized loan obligations (CLOs) for which there is a lack of pricing transparency due to market illiquidity, certain structured credit and structured equity derivatives where significant inputs (e.g., volatility or default correlations) are not observable, credit default swaps with certain monoline insurers where the deterioration in the creditworthiness of the counterparty has resulted in significant adjustments to fair value, U.S. subprime mortgage whole loans, mortgage servicing rights, and total return swaps referenced to illiquid assets of less desirable credit quality.

Level 3 Measurements

The following table indicates that Level 3 assets were 6.1% of the total assets measured at fair value as of September 30, 2008. Level 3 liabilities as a percentage of the total liabilities measured at fair value were 1.9% as of September 30, 2008.

	September 30, 2008	
(\$ in millions) Level 3 assets (1), (2)	\$ 8,550	
Total assets measured at fair value (3) Level 3 liabilities	140,330 2,000	
Total liabilities measured at fair value (1)	106,794	
Level 3 assets as a percent of total assets measured at fair value Level 3 liabilities as a percent of total liabilities measured at fair value		% %

- (1) Presented without FIN 39, "Offsetting of Amounts Relating to Certain Contracts," netting.
- (2) Includes \$6,956 million of recurring Level 3 assets and \$1,594 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets.
- (3) Includes \$138,554 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and \$1,776 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis.

Material Changes in Fair Value for Level 3 Assets and Liabilities

Derivative Assets and Counterparty Credit Risk

HUSI entered into credit default swaps with monoline insurers to hedge its credit exposure in certain asset-backed securities and synthetic CDOs. The creditworthiness of the monoline insurers has deteriorated significantly since 2007. As a result, HUSI made a \$155 million and \$957 million negative credit risk adjustment to the fair value of the credit default swap contracts which is reflected in trading (losses) revenues for the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, respectively. This included the effect from the settlement of certain credit default swaps with one of the monoline insurers. As of September 30, 2008, these credit default swap contracts had a fair value of \$2,058 million and HUSI has recorded a cumulative credit adjustment reserve of \$985 million against its monoline exposure.

Loans

As of September 30, 2008, HUSI classified \$1,505 million of mortgage whole loans held for sale as a non-recurring Level 3 financial asset. These mortgage loans are accounted for on a lower of cost or fair value basis. Based on its assessment, HUSI recorded a loss of \$86 million and \$333 million for such mortgage loans in the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, respectively. The changes in fair value are recorded as other revenues in the Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income.

HUSI holds certain leveraged loans, revolvers and commercial loans for which it elected fair value accounting under SFAS 159. These leveraged loans, revolvers and commercial loans had a total fair value of \$1,257 million (\$1,445 million notional principal) as of September 30, 2008 of which \$268 million was classified as Level 3 assets. HUSI is also committed to fund \$102 million of leveraged loans as of September 30, 2008. During the three month and nine month periods ended September 30, 2008, HUSI recorded a loss of \$11 million and \$75 million, respectively, in relation to these loans classified as Level 3 assets due to the widening of credit spreads. The gains or losses are recorded as other revenues in the Consolidated Statement of (Loss) Income.

Material Transfers Into (Out of) Level 3 Measurements

For the Three Month Period Ended September 30, 2008

During the quarter, the Company terminated certain emerging market first-to-default derivative contracts and structured notes. As a result, the Level 3 measurement has declined by \$235 million in the third quarter of 2008. In addition, HUSI also terminated certain Level 3 credit derivative contracts and reduced its fair value exposure by \$147 million in the third quarter.

For the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 2008

HUSI transferred \$1,842 million of Leveraged Super Senior (LSS) credit derivatives from the Level 2 into the Level 3 category in the fair value hierarchy during the nine months ended September 30, 2008. The valuation of these credit derivatives is affected by the "gap risk" - the possibility that the collateral posted will not be sufficient to cover the replacement cost if the trade is unwound when the counterparty fails to meet its collateral call. HUSI uses an internal valuation technique to value the gap risk. The key unobservable inputs include correlations and the volatility of the credit spreads of the reference credits. As a risk management practice, HUSI hedges the credit risk in its credit derivative portfolio on a macro basis. The hedges have been classified as Level 2 measurements in the fair value hierarchy and as such, the gain from these Level 3 credit derivatives is presented without the offsetting effect from the hedges. HUSI terminated certain LSS credit derivatives in the third quarter and reduced its fair value exposure to \$1,559 million as of September 30, 2008.

HUSI owned senior classes of debt securities issued by certain CDO and CLO structures. HUSI purchased credit protection in the form of credit default swaps from monoline insurers to hedge the exposure in these financial assets (refer to the section "Credit and Market Risks Associated Derivative Contracts" on page _____ of this Form 10-Q). The CDO securities are ultimately collateralized by various asset classes such as residential and commercial mortgages and corporate debt. The CLO securities are primarily collateralized by corporate leveraged loans. Because of the protection purchased through credit default swaps with monoline insurers, HUSI is exposed to the credit risk of the monoline insurers in respect of these instruments. While these CDO and CLO securities were rated AAA by the rating agencies upon issuance as they were designed to be well protected by the subordinated positions in the structure, the fair value of the subordinated positions has declined during the recent credit crisis which has reduced the level of protection provided to the senior tranches. Due to the market illiquidity and the significant degree of subjectivity involved in determining the fair value, HUSI transferred the CDO and CLO securities held and those total return swaps referenced to similar CDO and CLO securities from Level 2 to Level 3 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2008. As of September 30, 2008, HUSI had \$786 million of CDO and CLO securities and \$610 million of total return swaps referenced to CDO and CLO securities classified as Level 3 assets in the fair value hierarchy.

HUSI transferred certain first-to-default derivatives and structured notes originated by its Emerging Market (EM) business from the Level 2 to Level 3 category during the nine month period ended September 30, 2008. A first-to-default credit derivative contains a basket of securities as referenced credits and the contract is terminated when any of the underlying securities is in default. The default correlations among the referenced securities are not observable and as such, the assets and liabilities are classified as Level 3 measurements. Level 3 EM structured credit assets and liabilities have decreased by \$107 million and \$128 million during the three month and nine month periods

ended September 30, 2008, respectively, as HUSI terminated certain derivative contracts and structured notes during the third quarter of 2008.

Valuation Techniques for Major Assets and Liabilities

Loans

HUSI measures certain leveraged loans and revolvers held for sale and certain EM commercial loans at fair value. Where available, market consensus pricing obtained from independent sources are used to estimate the fair value of the leveraged loans and revolvers. In determining the fair value, HUSI takes into consideration (a) the number of participants submitting pricing information, (b) the range of pricing information and distribution, (c) the methodology applied by the pricing services to cleanse the data, and (d) market liquidity. Where consensus pricing information is not available, fair value is estimated using observable market prices of similar instruments, including bonds, credit derivatives, and loans with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not available, fair value is determined based on contractual cash flows adjusted for management's estimates of defaults and recoveries, discounted at the rate that would be required by market participants under current market conditions. HUSI also considers the specific loan characteristics and inherent credit risk and risk mitigating factors such as collateral arrangements in determining fair value.

Residential Mortgage Whole Loans Held for Sale

Certain U.S. subprime whole loans are classified as held for sale and are accounted for at lower of cost or fair value. The fair value of these is below their amortized cost. The fair value of these mortgage loans is determined based on the valuations of mortgage-backed securities that would be observed in a hypothetical securitization. HUSI makes adjustments to the valuation for, among other things, the probability the securitization will not occur, dissimilarity in the underlying collateral, market and product liquidity and the direct transaction costs to convert mortgage loans into securities. During the recent market turmoil, pricing information on mortgage related assets became less available. In an inactive market where securitizations of mortgage whole loans may not regularly occur, HUSI will utilize alternative market information referenced to different exit markets to determine or validate the fair value of the mortgage whole loans. The determination of fair value for mortgage whole loans requires use of significant judgment and takes into account factors such as the location of the collateral, the loan-to-value ratio, the estimated rate and timing of delinquencies, the probability of foreclosure and loss severity if foreclosure does occur. Greater weight is given to information that is considered to be more relevant and reliable.

Debt and Equity Securities

Where available, debt and equity securities are valued based on quoted market prices. If a quoted market price for the identical security is not available, the security is valued based on quotes from similar securities, where possible.

The fair value measurements for mortgage-backed securities and other asset-backed securities are primarily determined or validated by inputs obtained from independent pricing sources taking into account differences in the characteristics and the performance of the underlying collateral. HUSI will determine whether adjustments to the observable input are necessary as a result of investigations and inquiries about the reasonableness of the inputs used and the methodologies employed by the independent pricing sources.

During the recent credit crisis, the valuation for certain mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities has become less transparent. For these securities, HUSI used internally developed valuation techniques to validate the pricing information obtained from independent pricing sources. The internal valuations use model inputs derived from observable market data as well as unobservable inputs including probability of default and loss severity based on the collateral types and the performance assumptions of the collateral. To ensure that the valuation presented is appropriate, HUSI also compares the valuation output to the hypothetical estimates based on the relevant market indices as inputs.

The following tables summarize the types and credit quality of the assets underlying HUSI's asset-backed securities as well as certain collateralized debt obligations and collateralized loan obligations held as of September 30, 2008:

Asset-backed securities backed by consumer finance

collateral:

Credit quality of collateral: Year of issuance:		Total	Pri Prior to	me 2006/	Alt-A	A 2006/	Sub-prime Prior to 2006/	
			2006	2007	2006	2007	2006	2007
(in millions) Rating of securities:	Collateral type:							
AAA	Home equity loans	\$ 908	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 136	\$ 356	\$ 416	\$ -
	Auto loans	122	-	-	68	51	3	-
	Student loans	26	-	-	26	-	-	-
	Consumer loans	1	-	-	-	-	1	-
	Residential mortgages	1,841	64	-	1,054	723	-	-
	Commercial mortgages	887	-	-	46	841	-	-
	Not specified	70	-	1	56	13	-	-
	Total AAA	3,855	64	1	1,386	1,984	420	-
AA	Home equity loans	372	-	-	66	302	4	-
	Consumer loans	2	-	-	2	-	-	-
	Residential	102	-	-	-	102	-	-
	mortgages Total AA	476	-	-	68	404	4	-
A	Total A	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
BBB	Home equity loans	26	1	-	6	19	-	-
	Auto loans	1	_	_	1	_	_	_
	Total BBB	27	1	-	7	19	-	-
ВВ	Home equity loans	69	-	-	69	-	-	-
	Residential mortgages	12	-	-	-	12	-	-
	Total BB	81	-	-	69	12	-	-
Unrated	Residential mortgages	4	-	-	4	-	-	-
		\$ 4,443	\$ 65	\$ 1	\$ 1,534	\$ 2,419	\$ 424	\$ -

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

Collateralized debt obligations (CDO) and collateralized loan obligations (CLO):

Credit quality of collateral:				A or Higher		BBB		BB/B		CCCUnrated			
Rating of securities: AAA	Collateral type:			8									
	Corporate loans	\$	377	\$	-	\$ 146	\$	231	\$	-	\$	-	
	Commercial mortgages		191		-	-		191		-		-	
	Trust preferred		159		-	136		23		-		-	
	Aircraft leasing		59		-	-		-		-		59	
			786	\$	-	\$ 282	\$	445	\$	-	\$	59	

Total asset-backed \$ 5,229 securities

Derivatives

Derivatives traded on an exchange are valued using quoted prices. OTC derivatives, which comprise a majority of derivative contract positions, are valued using valuation techniques. Valuation models calculate the present value of expected future cash flows based on "no arbitrage" principles. The fair value for the majority of HUSI's derivative instruments are determined based on internally developed models that utilize independently-sourced market parameters, including interest rate yield curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. For complex or long-dated derivative products where market data is not available, fair value may be affected by the choice of valuation model and the underlying assumptions about, among other things, the timing of cash flows and credit spreads. The fair value of certain structured credit and structured equity derivative products are sensitive to unobservable inputs such as default correlations and volatilities. These estimates are susceptible to significant change in future periods as market conditions change.

The company may adjust valuations derived using the methods described above in order to ensure that those values represent appropriate estimates of fair value. These adjustments, which are applied consistently over time, are generally required to reflect factors such as market liquidity and counterparty credit risk that can affect prices in arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Finally, other transaction specific factors such as the variety of valuation models available, the range of unobservable model inputs and other model assumptions can affect estimates of fair value. Imprecision in estimating these factors can impact the amount of revenue or loss recorded for a particular position.

HUSI considers counterparty credit risk in determining the fair value of a financial asset. SFAS 157 specifies that the fair value of a liability should reflect the entity's non-performance risk and accordingly, HUSI has factored the effect of its own credit risk (spread) into the determination of the fair value of its financial liabilities, including derivative instruments. In estimating the credit risk adjustment to the derivative assets and liabilities, HUSI takes into account the impact of netting and/or collateral arrangements that are designed to mitigate counterparty credit risk. Since HSBC is one of the sixteen contributor members setting the U.S. Dollar interbank borrowing rate, the US Dollar Libor, in general, reflects the creditworthiness of the contributing members, including HSBC. HUSI continuously monitors and reviews the relative credit risks of the contributing members to determine whether Libor appropriately reflects HUSI's credit risk and whether any adjustments to fair value of the derivative liability positions are warranted.

Where relevant, a liquidity adjustment is applied to determine the measurement of an asset or liability that is required to be reported at fair value. Assessing the appropriate level of liquidity adjustment requires use of significant management judgments which is often affected by, among other things, the product type, transaction-specific characteristics and the level of liquidity for the product or in the market.

Long-Term Debt and Structured Notes

Certain structured notes and long-term deposits were elected to be measured at fair value under SFAS 159. For valuation purposes, HUSI takes into account any derivative features embedded in the structured notes and structured deposits. Cash flows are discounted using the appropriate interest rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for the credit risk (spread) of HUSI. The credit spreads applied to these instruments are derived from the spreads at which HUSI would issue similar structured notes as of the measurement date. The observed market spreads for structured notes and the long-term deposits are generally lower than the credit spreads observed for plain vanilla debt or in the credit default swap market.

HUSI's own debt issuances for which the fair value option has been elected are traded in the OTC market. Where available, the fair value of HUSI's own debt issuances is determined based on observed prices for the specific instrument. The observed market price of these instruments reflects the effect of the appropriate credit spread of HUSI.

Valuation Adjustments

Due to judgment being more significant in determining the fair value of Level 3 instruments, HUSI considers additional factors for Level 3 instruments that may not be considered for Level 1 and Level 2 valuations and records additional valuation adjustments as a result of these considerations. Some of the valuation adjustments are:

- · Credit risk adjustment: an adjustment to reflect the creditworthiness of the counterparty for OTC products where the market parameters may not be indicative of the creditworthiness of the counterparty. For derivative instruments, the market price implies parties to the transaction have credit ratings equivalent to AA. Therefore, HUSI will make an appropriate credit risk adjustment to reflect the counterparty credit risk if different from an AA credit rating. For non-derivative instruments measured at fair value, the credit risk adjustment is calculated based on HUSI's internal rating-based credit assessment system taking into consideration relevant market based data.
- Market data/model uncertainty: an adjustment to reflect uncertainties in the fair value measurements determined based on unobservable market data inputs. Since one or more significant parameters may be unobservable and must be estimated, the resultant fair value estimates have inherent measurement risk. In addition, the values derived from valuation techniques are affected by the choice of valuation model. When different valuation techniques are available, the choice of valuation model can be subjective and in those cases, an additional valuation adjustment is applied to mitigate the potential risk of measurement error. In most cases, HUSI performs tests on key unobservable parameters to estimate the fair value adjustment amounts.
- Liquidity adjustment: a type of bid-offer adjustment to reflect the difference between the mark-to-market valuation of all open positions in the portfolio and the close out cost. The liquidity adjustment is a portfolio level adjustment and is a function of the liquidity and volatility of the underlying risk positions.

Effect of Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs

The fair value of certain financial instruments is measured using valuation techniques that incorporate pricing assumptions not supported by prices from observable market transactions of the same or similar instruments. The resultant fair value measurements are dependent on unobservable valuation input parameters which can be selected from a range of estimates and may be interdependent. Changes in one or more of the significant unobservable input parameters may change the fair value measurements of these financial instruments. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the final valuation inputs selected are based on management's best judgment that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing similar assets or liabilities.

The unobservable input parameters selected are subject to the internal valuation control processes and procedures. When HUSI performs a test of all the significant input parameters to the extreme values within the range at the same time, it could result in an increase of the overall fair value measurement of approximately \$400 million or a decrease of the overall fair value measurement of approximately \$600 million as of September 30, 2008. The effect of changes in significant unobservable input parameters are primarily driven by mortgage whole loans held for sale or

securitization, certain asset-backed securities including CDOs, and the uncertainty in determining the fair value of credit derivatives executed against monoline insurers.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As part of its normal operations, HUSI enters into various off-balance sheet arrangements with affiliates and third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with HUSI's lending and client intermediation activities and involve primarily extensions of credit and guarantees.

As a financial services provider, HUSI routinely extends credit through loan commitments and lines and letters of credit and provides financial guarantees, including derivative transactions that meet the definition of a guarantee under FIN 45. The contractual amounts of these financial instruments represent HUSI's maximum possible credit exposure in the event that a counterparty draws down the full commitment amount or HUSI is required to fulfill its maximum obligation under a guarantee.

The following table presents total contractual amounts and maturity information related to HUSI's off-balance sheet arrangements. Many of these commitments and guarantees expire unused or without default and as a result, HUSI believes that the contractual amount is not representative of the actual future credit exposure or funding requirements. Descriptions of the various arrangements follow the table.

The following table provides maturity information related to off-balance sheet arrangements. Descriptions of these arrangements are found on pages 70-74 of HUSI's 2007 Form 10-K.

	Balance at September 30, 2008									
	One		•	er One		Over Five				ance at aber 31,
		Year Less		rough Years		Years		Total	Decen	2007
(in millions)										
Standby letters of credit, net of participations (1)	\$	6,193	\$	2,671	\$	185	\$	9,049	\$	9,021
Commercial letters of credit		1,001		49		2		1,052		934
Credit derivatives considered guarantees (2)	29	9,711	4	401,655	1	61,771	5	593,137	(550,243
Other commitments to extend										
credit:										
Commercial	20	6,468		31,573		1,585		59,626		59,041
Consumer	9	9,549		-		-		9,549		10,053
Total	\$ 72	2,922	\$ 4	435,948	\$ 1	63,543	\$ 6	572,413	\$ 7	729,292

- (1) Includes \$766 million and \$598 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.
- (2) Includes \$116,697 million and \$98,250 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

Letters of Credit

HUSI may issue a letter of credit for the benefit of a customer, authorizing a third party to draw on the letter for specified amounts under certain terms and conditions. The issuance of a letter of credit is subject to HUSI's credit approval process and collateral requirements. HUSI issues two types of letters of credit, commercial and standby.

A commercial letter of credit is drawn down on the occurrence of an expected underlying transaction, such as the delivery of goods. Upon the occurrence of the transaction, the amount drawn under the commercial letter of credit is recorded as a receivable from the customer in other assets and as a liability to the vendor in other liabilities until settled.

A standby letter of credit is issued to third parties for the benefit of a customer and is essentially a guarantee that the customer will perform, or satisfy some obligation, under a contract. It irrevocably obligates HUSI to pay a third party beneficiary when a customer either: (1) in the case of a performance standby letter of credit, fails to perform some contractual non-financial obligation, or (2) in the case of a financial standby letter of credit, fails to repay an outstanding loan or debt instrument.

Fees are charged for issuing letters of credit commensurate with the customer's credit evaluation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other liabilities are deferred fees on standby letters of credit, representing the fair value of the "stand ready obligation to perform" under these guarantees, amounting to \$28 million and \$25 million at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. Fees are recognized ratably over the term of the standby letters of credit. Also included in other liabilities is an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby letters of credit of \$33 million and \$27 million at September 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

Credit Derivatives Considered Guarantees

HUSI enters into credit derivative contracts both for its own benefit and to satisfy the needs of its customers. Credit derivatives are arrangements that provide for one party (the "beneficiary") to transfer the credit risk of a "reference asset" to another party (the "guarantor"). Under this arrangement the guarantor assumes the credit risk associated with the reference asset without directly purchasing it. The beneficiary agrees to pay to the guarantor a specified fee. In return, the guarantor agrees to pay the beneficiary an agreed upon amount if there is a default during the term of the contract.

In accordance with its policy, HUSI offsets most of the market risk it assumes in selling credit guarantees through a credit derivative contract with another counterparty. Credit derivatives, although having characteristics of a guarantee, are accounted for as derivative instruments and are carried at fair value. The commitment amount included in the table on the preceding page is the maximum amount that HUSI could be required to pay, without consideration of the approximately equal amount receivable from third parties and any associated collateral.

Other Commitments to Extend Credit

Other commitments to extend credit include arrangements whereby HUSI is contractually obligated to extend credit in the form of loans, participations in loans, lease financing receivables, or similar transactions. Consumer commitments comprise unused credit card lines and commitments to extend credit secured by residential properties. HUSI has the right to change or terminate any terms or conditions of a customer's credit card or home equity line of credit account, for cause, upon notification to the customer. Commercial commitments comprise primarily those related to secured and unsecured loans and lines of credit and certain asset purchase commitments. In connection with its commercial lending activities, HUSI provides liquidity support to a number of multi-seller and single-seller asset backed commercial paper conduits (ABCP conduits) sponsored by affiliates and third parties. These ABCP conduits and HUSI's variable interests in them are more fully described in Note 13, "Variable Interest Entities" of the consolidated financial statements.

During the third quarter of 2008, HUSI amended the terms of a liquidity facility with respect to a \$441 million notional transaction funded through an HSBC sponsored multi-seller conduit. Due to the ratings downgrade of the monoline insurance company which provides credit insurance to this individual transaction, HUSI amended the terms of the agreement, changing it from a partially supporting liquidity facility to a fully supporting liquidity facility.

HUSI provides liquidity support to ABCP conduits in the form of liquidity loan agreements and liquidity asset purchase agreements. Liquidity facilities provided to multi-seller conduits support transactions associated with a specific seller of assets to the conduit and HUSI would only be expected to provide support in the event the multi-seller conduit is unable to issue or rollover maturing commercial paper because of a commercial paper market disruption or the supported transaction has breached certain triggers. Liquidity facilities provided to single-seller conduits are not identified with specific transactions or assets and HUSI would be required to provide support upon the occurrence of a commercial paper market disruption or the breach of certain triggers that affect the single-seller conduit's ability to issue or rollover maturing commercial paper. HUSI's obligations have generally the same terms as those of other institutions that also provide liquidity support to the same conduit or for the same transactions. HUSI does not provide any program-wide credit enhancements to ABCP conduits.

Under the terms of these liquidity agreements, the ABCP conduits may call upon HUSI to lend money or to purchase certain assets in the event the ABCP conduits are unable to issue or rollover maturing commercial paper because of a commercial paper market disruption or the supported transaction has breached certain triggers. These trigger events are generally limited to performance tests on the underlying portfolios of collateral securing the conduits' interests. With regard to a multi-seller liquidity facility, the maximum amount that HUSI could be required to advance upon the occurrence of a trigger event is generally limited to the lesser of the amount of outstanding commercial paper related to the supported transaction and the balance of the assets underlying that transaction adjusted by a funding formula that excludes defaulted and impaired assets. Under a single-seller liquidity facility, the maximum amount that HUSI and other liquidity providers could be required to advance is also generally limited to each provider's pro-rata share of the lesser of the amount of outstanding commercial paper and the balance of unimpaired performing assets held by the conduit. As a result, the maximum amount that HUSI would be required to fund may be significantly less than the maximum contractual amount specified by the liquidity agreement.

The tables below present information on HUSI's liquidity facilities with ABCP conduits at September 30, 2008 excluding facilities with certain multi-seller ABCP conduits that are subject to agreements affecting HUSI's obligations and which are separately discussed in the commentary following the tables. The maximum exposure to loss presented in the first table represents the maximum contractual amount of loans and asset purchases HUSI could be required to make under the liquidity agreements. This amount does not reflect the funding limits discussed above and also assumes that HUSI suffers a total loss on all amounts advanced and all assets purchased from the ABCP conduits. As such, HUSI believes that this measure significantly overstates its expected loss exposure.

September 30, 2008	Maximum Exposure to Loss	Conduit Assets Total Assets (N	Conduit Funding (1) Weighted Commercial Average Life (Days)			
(\$ in millions) HSBC affiliate sponsored (multi-seller)	\$ 11,536	\$ 6,053	32	\$	7,114	25
Third-party sponsored (single-seller) Total	932 \$ 12,468	23,962 \$ 30,015	41	\$	9,318 16,432	19

(1) For multi-seller conduits, the amounts presented represent only the specific assets and related funding supported by HUSI's liquidity facilities. For single-seller conduits, the amounts presented represent the total assets and funding of the conduit.

		Average Asset Mix	Average Credit Quality (1				
September 30, 2008 Multi-seller conduits Debt securities backed by: Auto loans and leases Credit card receivables Trade receivables Other securities Capital calls Auto dealer floor plan loans		Aaa	Aa	\mathbf{A}			
Multi-seller conduits							
Debt securit	ties backed by:						
	Auto loans and leases	37%	52%		48%		
	Credit card receivables	19	43		57		
	Trade receivables	16	25	22%	53		
	Other securities	11		31	69		
	Capital calls	7			100		
	Auto dealer floor plan loans	5	100				

)

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

	Collateralized debt obligations	3	100		
Total	Consumer loans	2 100%			100
Single-seller conduits					
Debt securitie	es backed by:				
	Auto loans and leases	89%	98%	2%	
Loans and tra	de receivables:				
	Auto loans and leases	11			100%
Total		100%			

⁽¹⁾ Credit quality is based on Standard and Poor's ratings at September 30, 2008 except for loans and trade receivables held by single-seller conduits, which are based on HUSI's internal ratings.

HUSI receives fees for providing these liquidity facilities. Credit risk on these obligations is managed by subjecting them to HUSI's normal underwriting and risk management processes.

During the second half of 2007, asset backed commercial paper markets experienced a decline in liquidity as concerns surrounding U.S. sub-prime residential mortgages spilled over into other credit markets. As a result, issuers of asset backed commercial paper found it increasingly difficult to refinance maturing commercial paper and many found it necessary to draw on liquidity facilities or obtain additional support in other forms. None of the ABCP conduits included in the tables above drew on the liquidity facilities provided by HUSI during 2007 or during the first nine months of 2008. In 2007, HUSI also provided support to several HSBC affiliate sponsored ABCP conduits by purchasing up to \$1.16 billion of A-1/P-1 rated commercial paper issued by them. During the third quarter of 2008, HUSI has continued to provide support to these conduits by purchasing ABCP. As of September 30, 2008, approximately \$1.7 billion ABCP was held.

As noted, the tables do not include information on liquidity facilities that HUSI has provided to certain multi-seller ABCP conduits that have been subject to agreements affecting HUSI's contractual obligations under the facilities. As a result of difficulties in the asset backed commercial paper markets, HUSI entered into various agreements during the second half of 2007 that modified its obligations with respect to these facilities. Under one of these agreements, known as the Montreal Accord, the adhering parties agreed not to trade, trigger default provisions, pursue liquidity or collateral calls, or exercise security rights over assets held by the covered conduits while they worked to restructure outstanding commercial paper into longer-term securities. A restructuring proposal was approved by ABCP noteholders during the second quarter of 2008 and endorsed by the Canadian justice system during the third quarter of 2008. It is anticipated that the restructuring plan will be formally executed during the fourth quarter of 2008. As part of the restructuring, HUSI intends to provide a Margin Funding Facility to a new Master Conduit Vehicle.

Separately, HUSI agreed to purchase and hold a specified amount of commercial paper issued by certain conduits covered by HUSI liquidity facilities, all of which was repaid in the first quarter of 2008. While the parties to these arrangements also agreed not to trigger defaults, make liquidity calls, or exercise security rights, the sponsors of these conduits agreed to meet certain collateral calls made by HUSI. These conduits' liabilities were formally restructured during the second quarter of 2008, with the outstanding ABCP converted into longer term securities. As part of the restructuring, HUSI agreed to hold \$282 million of the longer term securities and to provide a \$94 million Margin Funding Facility. As of September 30, 2008, approximately \$21 million of the Margin Funding Facility was drawn.

As of September 30, 2008, other than the \$94 million Margin Funding Facility referenced above, HUSI no longer has outstanding liquidity facilities to ABCP conduits subject to the Montreal Accord and other agreements referenced. There were \$10 million of drawings outstanding against an additional liquidity facility that expired on March 31, 2008, therefore no additional amounts can be drawn on this facility. Under the Montreal Accord restructuring plan, the \$10 million of drawings will be converted into longer term securities.

In addition to the facilities provided to ABCP conduits, HUSI also provides a \$50 million liquidity facility to a third-party sponsored multi-seller structured investment vehicle (SIV). This SIV and HUSI's involvement with it is more fully described in Note 13, "Variable Interest Entities" of the consolidated financial statements. At September 30, 2008, this facility was fully funded and is recorded in loans on HUSI's balance sheet. The funded amount related to this liquidity facility was considered in the determination of HUSI's allowance for loan losses and a specific reserve has been established against this facility in accordance with HUSI's credit policies.

Money Market Funds

HUSI has established and manages a number of constant net asset value (CNAV) money market funds that invest in shorter-dated highly-rated money market securities to provide investors with a highly liquid and secure investment. These funds price the assets in their portfolio on an amortized cost basis, which enables them to create and liquidate shares at a constant price. The funds, however, are not permitted to price their portfolios at amortized cost if that amount varies by more than 50 basis points from the portfolio's market value. In that case, the fund would be required to price its portfolio at market value and consequently would no longer be able to create or liquidate shares at a constant price.

At September 30, 2008, one of HUSI's sponsored CNAV funds, which had total net assets of \$8.1 billion, held \$228 million of investments issued by SIVs. As a result of recent market conditions and rating agency actions, these investments have experienced declines in market value. HUSI has no legal obligation, and currently has no plan, to offer financial support to this fund in the event that it is unable to maintain a constant net asset value as a result of becoming unable to value its assets at amortized cost. This fund did, however, receive support from an affiliate of HUSI, which in January 2008 provided a letter of limited indemnity in relation to certain of the fund's SIV investments.

HUSI does not consolidate the CNAV funds it sponsors as they are not VIEs and HUSI does not hold a majority voting interest.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

Some degree of risk is inherent in virtually all of HUSI's activities. For the principal activities undertaken by HUSI, the most important types of risks are considered to be credit, interest rate, market, liquidity, operational, fiduciary and reputational. Market risk broadly refers to price risk inherent in mark to market positions taken on trading and non-trading instruments. Operational risk technically includes legal and compliance risk. However, since compliance risk, including anti-money laundering (AML) risk, has such broad scope within HUSI's businesses, it is addressed as a separate functional discipline. During the third quarter of 2008, there have been no significant changes in policies or approach for managing various types of risk, although HUSI continues to monitor current market conditions and will adjust risk management policies and procedures if deemed necessary. HUSI's risk management process involves the use of various simulation models. HUSI believes that the assumptions used in these models are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what is assumed in the models. Consequently, model results may be considered reasonable estimates, with the understanding that actual results may vary significantly from model projections.

Liquidity Management

HUSI's approach to address liquidity risk is summarized on pages 79-81 of HUSI's 2007 Form 10-K. There have been no material changes in HUSI's approach toward liquidity risk management during the third quarter of 2008.

In general terms, the strains due to the credit crisis have been concentrated in the wholesale market as opposed to the retail market (the latter being the market from which HUSI sources core demand and time deposit accounts). Financial institutions with less reliance on wholesale markets were less affected by the recent conditions.

At September 30, 2008, HUSI and HBUS maintained the following debt ratings.

		Moody's	S&P	Fitch	DBRS *
HUSI:	Short-term borrowings	P-1	A-1+	F1+	R-1
	Long-term debt	Aa3	AA-	AA	AA
HBUS:					
	Short-term borrowings	P-1	A-1+	F1+	R-1
	Long-term debt	Aa2	AA	AA	AA

Numerous factors, internal and external, may impact HUSI's access to and costs associated with issuing debt in the global capital markets. These factors include HUSI's debt ratings, overall economic conditions, overall capital markets volatility and the effectiveness of HUSI's management of credit risks inherent in its customer base.

HUSI periodically issues capital instruments to fund balance sheet growth, to meet cash and capital needs, or to fund investments in subsidiaries. HUSI currently satisfies the eligibility requirements for designation as a "well-known seasoned issuer", and has an effective shelf registration statement with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission under which it may issue debt securities, preferred stock, either separately or represented by depositary shares, warrants, purchase contracts and units.

^{*} Dominion Bond Rating Service.

On October 3, 2008, the United States Congress enacted the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 (the "EESA") with the stated purposes of providing stability to and preventing disruption in the economy and financial system and protecting taxpayers. Pursuant to or in conjunction with the EESA, the U.S. Department of the Treasury (the "U.S. Treasury") and the federal banking and thrift regulatory agencies have announced a series of initiatives intended to strengthen market stability, improve the strength of financial institutions and enhance market liquidity. These initiatives can be broadly categorized as capital support initiatives and market support initiatives.

Although conceptually HUSI supports government initiatives to provide capital support, HUSI has no plans to participate in any capital support initiatives and, in any event, is not eligible to participate in the capital support initiatives announced to date. HUSI will continue to evaluate additional market support and other initiatives as the details of the various programs become available.

Concentrations of Risk Inherent in Loan Portfolios

Certain risk concentrations are inherent within the prime residential mortgage loan portfolio, as well as the subprime residential mortgage whole loans held for sale portfolio, including concentrations that result in credit risk. A concentration of risk is defined as a significant exposure with an individual or group engaged in similar activities or affected similarly by economic conditions. As is true for all loan portfolios, HUSI utilizes high underwriting standards and prices loans in a manner that is appropriate to compensate for the risk associated with any concentrations.

HUSI holds certain residential mortgage loans that were originated at high loan-to-value (LTV) ratios and no mortgage insurance, which could result in potential inability to recover the entire investment in loans involving foreclosed or damaged properties. High LTV loans were mainly loans on primary residences with LTV ratios equal to or exceeding 90% at the time of origination.

HUSI also offers interest-only residential mortgage loans. These interest-only loans allow customers to pay only the accruing interest for a period of time, which results in lower payments during the initial loan period. Depending on a customer's financial situation, the subsequent increase in the required payment attributable to loan principal could affect a customer's ability to repay the loan at some future date when the interest rate resets and/or principal payments are required.

Outstanding balances of high LTV and interest-only residential mortgage loans are summarized in the following table.

	Septem	nber 30, 2008	Decen	nber 31, 2007
(in millions) Residential mortgage loans with high LTV and no mortgage insurance	\$	1,965	\$	2,345
Interest-only residential mortgage loans Total	\$	4,495 6,460	\$	6,161 8,506

Concentrations of first and second liens within the residential mortgage loan portfolio are summarized in the following table. Amounts in the table exclude loans held for sale.

		September 30, 2008	December 31, 2007
(in millions)			
Closed end:			
	First lien	\$ 22,591	\$ 28,315
	Second lien	980	1,096
Revolving:			
	Second lien	3,307	3,082
Total		\$ 26,878	\$ 32,493

HUSI also offers adjustable rate residential mortgage loans which allow it to adjust pricing on the loan in line with market movements. As interest rates have risen over the last three years, many adjustable rate loans may require a significantly higher monthly payment following their first adjustment. A customer's financial situation at the time of the interest rate reset could affect their ability to repay the loan after the adjustment, or may cause the customer to prepay or refinance the loan. At September 30, 2008, HUSI had approximately \$11 billion in adjustable rate residential mortgage loans. For the remainder of 2008, approximately \$.9 billion of adjustable rate residential mortgage loans will experience their first interest rate reset.

Interest Rate Risk Management

Various techniques are utilized to quantify and monitor risks associated with the repricing characteristics of HUSI's assets, liabilities, and derivative contracts. The approach toward managing interest rate risk is summarized on pages 81-83 of HUSI's 2007 Form 10-K. During the first nine months of 2008, there were no significant changes in policies or approach for managing interest rate risk.

Present Value of a Basis Point (PVBP) Analysis

PVBP is the change in value of the balance sheet for a one basis point upward movement in all interest rates. HUSI's PVBP position is summarized in the following table.

September 30, 2008	Values
(in millions)	
Institutional PVBP movement limit	\$ 6.5
PVBP position at period end	1.4

Economic Value of Equity

Economic value of equity is the change in value of the assets and liabilities (excluding capital and goodwill) for either a 200 basis point gradual rate increase or decrease. HUSI's economic value of equity position is summarized in the following table.

Values	(%)
+/-	20
1	(7)
n	(9)

The loss in value for a 200 basis point increase or decrease in rates is a result of the negative convexity of the residential whole loan and mortgage backed securities portfolios. If rates decrease, the projected prepayments related to these portfolios will accelerate, causing less appreciation than a comparable term, non-convex instrument. If rates increase, projected prepayments will slow, which will cause the average lives of these positions to extend and result in a greater loss in market value.

Dynamic Simulation Modeling

Various modeling techniques are utilized to monitor a number of interest rate scenarios for their impact on net interest income. These techniques include both rate shock scenarios which assume immediate market rate movements by as much as 200 basis points, as well as scenarios in which rates rise or fall by as much as 200 basis points over a twelve month period. The following table reflects the impact on net interest income of the scenarios utilized by these modeling techniques.

	September 30 Values	, 2008
	Amount	%
(\$ in millions)		
Projected change in net interest income for scenarios subject to a formal		
institutional movement limit		
(reflects projected rate movements on October 1, 2008):		
Institutional base earnings movement limit		(10)
Change resulting from a gradual 200 basis point increase in the yield curve	\$ (230)	(5)
Change resulting from a gradual 200 basis point decrease in the yield curve	112	3
Change resulting from a gradual 100 basis point increase in the	(113)	(3)
yield curve		
Change resulting from a gradual 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve	94	2
Other significant scenarios monitored for internal purposes, not subject to a formal institutional		
movement limit (reflects projected rate movements on October 1, 2008):		
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve	(179)	(4)
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve	136	3
Change resulting from an immediate 200 basis point increase in the yield curve	(344)	(8)
Change resulting from an immediate 200 basis point decrease in the yield curve	22	1

The projections do not take into consideration possible complicating factors such as the effect of changes in interest rates on the credit quality, size and composition of the balance sheet. Therefore, although this provides a reasonable estimate of interest rate sensitivity, actual results will vary from these estimates, possibly by significant amounts.

Capital Risk/Sensitivity of Other Comprehensive Income

Large movements of interest rates could directly affect some reported capital and capital ratios. The mark to market valuation of available for sale securities is adjusted on a tax effective basis through other comprehensive income in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity. Although this valuation mark is excluded from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital ratios, it is included in two important accounting based capital ratios: the tangible common equity to

tangible assets and the tangible common equity to risk weighted assets. As of September 30, 2008, HUSI had an available for sale securities portfolio of approximately \$20 billion with a net negative mark to market of \$873 million included in tangible common equity of approximately \$8 billion. An increase of 25 basis points in interest rates of all maturities would lower the mark to market by approximately \$160 million to a net loss of \$1,033 million with the following results on the tangible capital ratios.

	Actual	Proforma – Reflecting 25 Basis Points Increase in Rates
September 30, 2008	Hettui	increase in Races
Tangible common equity to tangible assets	4.51%	4.39%
Tangible common equity to risk weighted assets	5.89	5.74

Market Risk Management

Value at Risk (VAR)

VAR analysis is used to estimate the potential losses that could occur on risk positions as a result of movements in market rates and prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence. VAR calculations are performed for all material trading activities and as a tool for managing interest rate risk inherent in non-trading activities. HUSI calculates VAR daily for a one-day holding period to a 99% confidence level. At a 99% confidence level for a two-year observation period, HUSI is setting as its limit the fifth worst loss performance in the last 500 business days.

VAR - Trading Activities

HUSI's management of market risk is based on restricting individual operations to trading within a list of permissible instruments, and enforcing rigorous approval procedures for new products. In particular, trading in the more complex derivative products is restricted to offices with appropriate levels of product expertise and robust control systems.

In addition, at both portfolio and position levels, market risk in trading portfolios is monitored and controlled using a complementary set of techniques, including VAR and various techniques for monitoring interest rate risk (beginning on page 94 of this Form 10-Q). These techniques quantify the impact on capital of defined market movements.

Trading portfolios reside primarily within the Markets unit of the Global Banking and Markets business segment, which include warehoused residential mortgage loans purchased for securitizations and within the mortgage banking subsidiary included within the PFS business segment. Portfolios include foreign exchange, derivatives, precious metals (gold, silver, platinum), equities, money market instruments and securities. Trading occurs as a result of customer facilitation, proprietary position taking, and economic hedging. In this context, economic hedging may include, for example, forward contracts to sell residential mortgages and derivative contracts which, while economically viable, may not satisfy the hedge requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" (SFAS 133).

The trading portfolios have defined limits pertaining to items such as permissible investments, risk exposures, loss review, balance sheet size and product concentrations. "Loss review" refers to the maximum amount of loss that may be incurred before senior management intervention is required.

Trading VAR for the third quarter of 2008 is summarized in the following table.

	September 30,			Nine months ended September 30, 2008					December 31,		
		2008	Minin	num	Maxin	num	Ave	rage	2	007	
(in millions)											
Total trading	\$	77	\$	12	\$	79	\$	33	\$	25	
Commodities		1		*		6		1		2	
Equities		1		*		2		*		*	
Foreign exchange		2		*		5		2		3	
Interest rate directional and credit spread		76		11		76		24		17	

* Less than \$500 thousand.

The frequency distribution of daily market risk-related revenues for trading activities during 2008 is summarized in the following table. Market risk-related trading revenues include realized and unrealized gains (losses) related to trading activities, but exclude the related net interest income. Analysis of the gain (loss) data for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2008 shows that the largest daily gain was \$122 million and \$122 million, respectively and the largest daily loss was \$49 million and \$63 million, respectively.

Ranges of daily Treasury trading revenue earned from market risk-related activities (in millions)	Below \$(10)	\$(10) to \$0	\$0 to \$10	Over \$10
Three months ended September 30,				
2008:				
Number of trading days market risk-related revenue was within	5	29	25	5
the stated range				
Nine months ended September 30,				
2008:				
Number of trading days market risk-related revenue was within	24	62	74	29
the stated range				

VAR - Non-trading Activities

The principal objective of market risk management of non-trading portfolios is to optimize net interest income. Market risk in non-trading portfolios arises principally from mismatches between the future yield on assets and their funding cost, as a result of interest rate changes. Analysis of this risk is complicated by having to make assumptions on optionality in certain product areas, for example, mortgage prepayments, and from behavioral assumptions regarding the economic duration of liabilities which are contractually repayable on demand. The prospective change in future net interest income from non-trading portfolios will be reflected in the current realizable value of these positions, should they be sold or closed prior to maturity. In order to manage this risk optimally, market risk in non-trading portfolios is transferred to global markets or to separate books managed under the supervision of ALCO. Once market risk has been consolidated in global markets or ALCO-managed books, the net exposure is typically managed through the use of interest rate swaps within agreed-upon limits.

Non-trading VAR for the third quarter of 2008, assuming a 99% confidence level for a two-year observation period and a one-day "holding period", is summarized in the following table.

	Septem	ber 30,	Nine n	Nine months ended September 30, 2008					December 31,		
<i>(</i> * • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		2008	Minim	num	Max	imum	Ave	rage		2	007
(in millions) Interest rate	\$	96	\$	46	\$	118	\$	75	S	\$	24

Trading Activities – HSBC Mortgage Corporation (USA)

HSBC Mortgage Corporation (USA) is HUSI's mortgage banking subsidiary. Trading occurs in mortgage banking operations as a result of an economic hedging program intended to offset changes in value of mortgage servicing rights and the salable loan pipeline. Economic hedging may include, for example, forward contracts to sell residential mortgages and derivative contracts used to protect the value of MSRs.

MSRs are assets that represent the present value of net servicing income (servicing fees, ancillary income, escrow and deposit float, net of servicing costs). MSRs are recognized upon the sale of the underlying loans or at the time that servicing rights are purchased. MSRs are subject to interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of a changing interest rate environment.

Interest rate risk is mitigated through an active hedging program that uses trading securities and derivative instruments to offset changes in value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involves trading activity, risk is quantified and managed using a number of risk assessment techniques.

Rate Shock Analysis

Modeling techniques are used to monitor certain interest rate scenarios for their impact on the economic value of net hedged MSRs, as reflected in the following table, which excludes commercial MSRs.

September 30, 2008	Values
(in millions)	
Projected change in net market value of hedged MSRs portfolio (reflects projected rate	
movements on October 1, 2008):	
Value of hedged MSRs portfolio	\$ 522
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield	
curve:	
Change limit (no worse than)	(16)
Calculated change in net market value	-
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point increase in the yield	
curve:	
Change limit (no worse than)	(8)
Calculated change in net market value	6
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield	
curve:	
Change limit (no worse than)	(12)
Calculated change in net market value	16

Economic Value of MSRs

The economic value of the net hedged MSRs portfolio is monitored on a daily basis for interest rate sensitivity. If the economic value declines by more than established limits for one day or one month, various levels of management review, intervention and/or corrective actions are required.

The frequency distribution of the weekly economic value of MSR assets during 2008 is summarized in the following table. This includes the change in the market value of the MSR asset net of changes in the market value of the underlying hedging positions used to hedge the asset. The changes in economic value are adjusted for changes in MSR valuation assumptions that were made during the course of the quarter, if applicable.

-	4	2 2	i
5	6	4 9)
		·	

HSBC USA Inc. CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

The following table shows the quarter to date average balances of the principal components of assets, liabilities and shareholders' equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid, presented on a taxable equivalent basis.

		Three months ended September 30, 2008 2007										
	R	alance		terest	Rate*			Balance		terest	Rate*	
(\$ in millions)	· ·	alance	1111	CI CSt	Rate			Daiance	1110	CI CSt	Rate	
Assets												
Interest bearing deposits	\$	6,168	\$	46	2.97	%	\$	6,508	\$	98	6.01	%
with banks		,	-					ŕ				
Federal funds sold and securities		9,604		54	2.22			10,772		143	5.26	
purchased under resale												
agreements Trading assets		0 655		139	<i>c</i> 40			11 712		167	5.66	
Trading assets Securities		8,655 24,311		320	6.40 5.24			11,712		167 324	5.32	
Loans:		24,311		320	3.24			24,151		324	3.32	
Commercial		40,368		510	5.03			31,606		527	6.62	
Consumer:		40,500		310	3.03			31,000		341	0.02	
Residential		30,012		393	5.20			36,848		497	5.35	
mortgages Credit cards		18,244		471	10.27			17,666		501	11.25	
Other consumer		2,209		49	8.82			2,600		61	9.38	
Other consumer		2,209		72	0.02			2,000		01	9.30	
Total consumer		50,465		913	7.19			57,114		1,059	7.36	
Total loans		90,833	-	1,423	6.23			88,720		1,586	7.09	
Other		9,334		54	2.29			3,938		60	5.98	
Total earning assets	1	48,905	\$ 2	2,036	5.44	%		145,801	\$:	2,378	6.47	%
Allowance for credit losses		(1,934)						(994)				
Cash and due from banks		3,341						3,065				
Other assets		25,982						24,992				
Total assets		76,294					\$	172,864				
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity Deposits in domestic offices:	·							,				
Savings deposits	\$	49,138	\$	265	2.14	%	\$	44,592	\$	379	3.38	%
Other time deposits		21,691	Ψ	185	3.40	, 0	Ψ	20,561	Ψ	297	5.75	70
Deposits in foreign offices: Foreign banks deposits		11,212		47	1.68			9,940		124	4.95	
Other interest bearing deposits		15,832		78	1.95			16,387		193	4.68	

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

Total interest bearing deposits	97,873	575	2.34	91,480	993	4.31
Short-term borrowings	9,574	60	2.49	9,698	90	3.66
Long-term debt	24,020	225	3.71	28,920	365	5.01
Total interest bearing	131,467	860	2.60	130,098	1,448	4.41
liabilities	101,107	000	2.00	150,070	1,110	1.11
Net interest		\$ 1,176	2.84 %		\$ 930	2.06 %
income/Interest rate		+ -,			7 / 2 2	_,,,
spread						
Noninterest bearing	14,899			13,914		
deposits	,			•		
Other liabilities	18,030			16,762		
Total shareholders' equity	11,898			12,090		
Total liabilities and	\$ 176,294			\$ 172,864		
shareholders'						
equity						
Net interest margin on			3.14 %			2.53 %
average						
earning assets						
Net interest margin on			2.66 %			2.14 %
average total						
assets						

^{*} Rates are calculated on unrounded numbers.

Total weighted average rate earned on earning assets is interest and fee earnings divided by daily average amounts of total interest earning assets, including the daily average amount on nonperforming loans. Loan interest for the three months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 included fees of \$9 million at both periods.

HSBC USA Inc. CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

The following table shows the year to date average balances of the principal components of assets, liabilities and shareholders' equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid, presented on a taxable equivalent basis.

	Nine months ended September 30,											
	_	_	2008						007	.		
(4.4	Ba	alance	In	terest	Rate*			Balance	Int	erest	Rate*	
(\$ in millions)												
Assets	ф	1	ф	100	2.06	6 7	ф	5 410	ф	226	5.00	01
Interest bearing deposits	\$	5,771	\$	132	3.06	%	\$	5,412	\$	236	5.83	%
with banks		0.422		101	2.50			11.006		400	5 40	
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale		9,432		191	2.70			11,896		483	5.42	
agreements												
Trading assets		10,241		435	5.67			11,689		476	5.44	
Securities	2	24,888		965	5.18			22,866		891	5.21	
Loans:								• • • • •				
Commercial	3	38,531		1,453	5.04			29,947		1,483	6.62	
Consumer:												
Residential mortgages	3	32,603		1,269	5.20			38,270		1,554	5.43	
Credit cards	1	18,292		1,393	10.17			17,532		1,283	9.79	
Other consumer		2,297		155	9.07			2,683		185	9.24	
Total consumer	5	53,192		2,817	7.07			58,485	2	3,022	6.91	
Total loans		91,723		4,270	6.22			88,432		4,505	6.81	
Other		9,327		198	2.84			3,088		144	6.22	
Total earning assets	15	51,382	\$	6,191	5.46	%		143,383	\$ (5,735	6.28	%
Allowance for credit losses		(1,712)	•	-,				(950)		,,,,,,		
Cash and due from banks		3,144						3,015				
Other assets	2	28,786						22,708				
Total assets		31,600					\$	168,156				
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity Deposits in domestic offices:								40.000				
Savings deposits Other time deposits		17,470 23,265	\$	784 684	2.21 3.93	%	\$	43,023 21,882	\$ 1	1,080 884	3.35 5.40	%
Deposits in foreign offices: Foreign banks deposits	1	12,272		210	2.28			9,310		365	5.24	
Other interest bearing deposits	1	15,390		278	2.42			15,065		512	4.54	

Edgar Filing: HSBC HOLDINGS PLC - Form 6-K

Total interest bearing deposits	98,397	1,956	2.65		89,280	2,841	4.25	
Short-term borrowings	11,440	227	2.65		9,121	266	3.90	
Long-term debt	25,674	766	3.98		28,971	1,087	5.02	
Total interest bearing	135,511	2,949	2.91		127,372	4,194	4.40	
liabilities	100,011	- ,> .>	2.71		127,372	1,171	0	
Net interest income/Interest		\$ 3,242	2.55	%		\$ 2,541	1.88	%
rate		, -,				, ,-		
spread								
Noninterest bearing	14,415				13,664			
deposits	ŕ							
Other liabilities	19,979				14,947			
Total shareholders' equity	11,695				12,173			
Total liabilities and	\$ 181,600				\$ 168,156			
shareholders'	φ 101,000				\$ 100,130			
equity								
Net interest margin on			2.86	%			2.37	%
average								
earning assets								
Net interest margin on			2.39	%			2.02	%
average total								
assets								

^{*} Rates are calculated on unrounded numbers.

Total weighted average rate earned on earning assets is interest and fee earnings divided by daily average amounts of total interest earning assets, including the daily average amount on nonperforming loans. Loan interest for the nine months ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 included fees of \$25 million and \$32 million, respectively.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Refer to Item 2, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, under the captions "Interest Rate Risk Management" and "Trading Activities", beginning on page 40 of this Form 10-Q.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

HUSI maintains a system of internal and disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the Exchange Act), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis. HUSI's Board of Directors, operating through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent outside directors, provides oversight to the financial reporting process.

An evaluation was conducted, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of HUSI's disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that HUSI's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report so as to alert them in a timely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports filed under the Exchange Act.

There has been no significant change in HUSI's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended September 30, 2008 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, HUSI's internal control over financial reporting.

1. Part II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

General

HUSI is a party to various legal proceedings resulting from ordinary business activities relating to its current and/or former operations. Due to uncertainties in litigation and other factors, management cannot be certain that HUSI will ultimately prevail in each instance. Management believes that HUSI's defenses to these actions have merit and any adverse decision should not materially affect HUSI's consolidated financial condition. However, losses may be material to HUSI's results of operations for any particular future period depending on HUSI's income level for that period.

Credit Card Litigation

Since June 2005, HBUS, HSBC Finance Corporation, HSBC North America and HSBC, as well as other banks and Visa Inc. and MasterCard Incorporated, were named as defendants in four class actions filed in Connecticut and the Eastern District of New York; *Photos Etc. Corp. et al. v. Visa U.S.A., Inc., et al.* (D. Conn. No. 3:05-CV-01007

(WWE)): National Association of Convenience Stores, et al. v. Visa U.S.A., Inc., et al. (E.D.N.Y. No. 05-CV 4520 (JG)); Jethro Holdings, Inc., et al. v. Visa U.S.A., Inc. et al. (E.D.N.Y. No. 05-CV-4521 (JG)); and American Booksellers Ass'n v. Visa U.S.A., Inc. et al. (E.D.N.Y. No. 05-CV-5391 (JG)). Numerous other complaints containing similar allegations (in which no HSBC entity is named) were filed across the country against Visa Inc., MasterCard Incorporated and other banks. These actions principally allege that the imposition of a no-surcharge rule by the associations and/or the establishment of the interchange fee charged for credit card transactions causes the merchant discount fee paid by retailers to be set at supracompetitive levels in violation of the Federal antitrust laws. In response to motions of the plaintiffs on October 19, 2005, the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation (the "MDL Panel") issued an order consolidating these suits and transferred all of the cases to the Eastern District of New York. The consolidated case is: In re Payment Card Interchange Fee and Merchant Discount Antitrust Litigation, MDL 1720, E.D.N.Y. A consolidated, amended complaint was filed by the plaintiffs on April 24, 2006. The parties are engaged in discovery and motion practice.

In October 2007, Visa Inc. announced that it had completed restructuring transactions in preparation for its initial public offering in March 2008. As a result of the indemnification agreement established as part of the restructuring, entities with a membership interest prior to the initial public offering, including HBUS, have obligations to share in certain losses under various agreements with Visa Inc. in connection with this and other litigation.

In October 2008, Visa Inc. announced that it had agreed to settle the federal antitrust lawsuit captioned *Discover Financial Services, Inc. v. Visa USA Inc., MasterCard Inc. et al.* for \$1,888 million. The settlement is subject to approval by Visa Inc.'s former U.S. member financial institutions. If approved, the settlement will be paid primarily from the escrow account established and funded with a portion of the net proceeds of Visa Inc.'s initial public offering in March 2008. The portion of the settlement amount to be paid by HBUS pursuant to the indemnification agreement referred to above has been fully reserved.

DataTreasury Litigation

HBUS and HNAH are among the more than 50 defendants named in an action filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas: DataTreasury Corporation v. Wells Fargo, et al. This suit alleges that the named entities infringed certain DataTreasury Corporation patents, including patents covering image capture, centralized processing and electronic storage of document and check information. DataTreasury Corporation seeks unspecified damages and injunctive relief in both cases. HUSI is unable to quantify the potential impact from this action, if any.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

For a discussion of certain risk factors affecting HUSI, see Part 1, Item 1A of the 2007 Form 10-K and Part II, Item 1A of the Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2008.

Item 6. Exhibits

- 12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.
- 31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

HSBC USA Inc. (Registrant)

November 10, 2008

/s/ Joseph R. Simpson Joseph R. Simpson Executive Vice President and Controller (On behalf of Registrant)

Exhibit 12

HSBC USA Inc.
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and

Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends (in millions, except ratios)

Nine months ended September 30 Ratios excluding interest on deposits:		2008		2007
Net (loss) income Income tax (benefit) expense Less: Undistributed equity earnings Fixed charges: Interest on:	\$	(588) (334) 23	\$	585 237 5
Borrowed funds		227		266
Long-term debt		766		1,087
One third of rents, net of income from subleases		18		21
Total fixed charges, excluding interest on deposits		1,011		1,374
Earnings before taxes and fixed charges, net of undistributed equity earnings	\$	66	\$	2,191
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges		0.07		1.59
Total preferred stock dividend factor (1) Fixed charges, including the preferred stock dividend factor	\$ \$	92 1,103	\$ \$	105 1,479
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends		0.06		1.48
Ratios including interest on deposits:				
Total fixed charges, excluding interest on deposits Add: Interest on deposits	\$	1,011 1,956	\$	1,374 2,841
Total fixed charges, including interest on deposits	\$	2,967	\$	4,215
Earnings before taxes and fixed charges, net of undistributed equity earnings	\$	66	\$	2,191
Add: Interest on deposits Total	\$	1,956 2,022	\$	2,841 5,032
	Ψ	,	Ψ	
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges		0.68		1.19
Fixed charges, including the preferred stock dividend factor	\$	1,103	\$	1,479
Add: Interest on deposits		1,956		2,841

Fixed charges, including the preferred stock dividend factor and interest on deposits	\$ 3,059	\$ 4,320
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends	0.66	1.16

(1) Preferred stock dividends grossed up to their pretax equivalents.

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 Certification of Chief Executive Officer

- I, Paul J. Lawrence, President and Chief Executive Officer of HSBC USA Inc., certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:
- a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

November 10, 2008 /s/ Paul J. Lawrence Paul J. Lawrence

President and Chief Executive Officer

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

- I, Gerard Mattia, Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of HSBC USA Inc., certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:
- a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

November 10, 2008

/s/ Gerard Mattia
Gerard Mattia
Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report") for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

- I, Paul J. Lawrence, President and Chief Executive Officer of HSBC USA Inc., certify that:
- 1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and
- 2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of HSBC USA Inc.

November 10, 2008 /s/ Paul J. Lawrence Paul J. Lawrence

President and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Signed originals of these written statements required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 have been provided to HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report") for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

- I, Gerard Mattia, Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of HSBC USA Inc., certify that:
- 1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and
- 2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of HSBC USA Inc.

November 10, 2008

/s/ Gerard Mattia Gerard Mattia Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Signed originals of these written statements required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 have been provided to HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

HSBC Holdings plc

¹ MasterCard is a registered trademark of MasterCard, Incorporated.

² Visa is a registered trademark of Visa USA, Inc.

By:

Name: P A Stafford

Title: Assistant Group

Secretary

Date: November 10, 2008